I:I:I ;KE China Foods Limited

TR RBERQT
COFCO

BRZIR SBIRA

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(RERETME L BRAT)

Stock Code &3 55 : 506

2024

FE®S

ANNUAL REPORT

oz
9 gy T N

/[
~€Ncy, Innovation, SVStem_' .



CORPORATE PROFILE
NEIY Y

China Foods Limited (“China Foods” or the “Company” and together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), a subsidiary of COFCO Corporation (“COFCO”) and the
only focused beverage platform of COFCO, is listed on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 506).

The Company mainly manufactures, distributes, markets and sells the Coca-
Cola series products at nineteen provincial-level administrative regions in the PRC
through COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited (“COFCO Coca-Cola”), a 65%-owned
joint-venture with The Coca-Cola Company. COFCO Coca-Cola offers twenty-five
brands of products in ten major types of beverages which include sparkling drink,
juice, water, milk drink, energy drink, tea, coffee, functional nutrition drink, sports
drink and plant-based protein drink.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBERE

REVENUE
LS LN

(RMB million)( AR HET)

|
2023 | 0.2% 2024
21,446 | PR 21,492

ADJUSTED EBITDA
#EFAEEBITDA

(RMB million)( AR EH&ET)

2023 ‘ 44% ‘ 2024
2,607 A 2,722

EARNINGS PER SHARE
BREF

(RMB cents/share) (AR D /%)
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TOTAL ASSETS

(RMB million)( AR H&ET)

8.5%

Current

e

® Non-Current

FERE

LIABILITY TO ASSET RATIO
EESFBLR

2023 ‘ 18 ppt‘ 2024
40.3% A 42.1%

NET ASSETS PER SHARE (Owners of the Parents)
BRFEE s2am80)

(RMB/share) (AR# /&h%)




MAJOR EVENTS IN 2024
2024 FRERL

Groundbreaking Ceremony of Shaanxi New Plant
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Groundbreaking Cs

g Ceremony of COFCO Coca-Cola Shaanxi New Plant
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On 30 January 2024, the construction of the new plant of COFCO Coca-Cola in Shaanxi was officially
commenced. Chairman of COFCO Corporation, Lu Jun, Chief Accountant, Su Jian, Chairman and CEO of
The Coca-Cola Company, James Quincey, and leaders from the Xi’an municipal government and relevant
departments attended and laid the foundation for the new plant.
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MAJOR EVENTS IN 2024 2024 4 A F 77

Chairman of COFCO Corporation, Lu Jun Conducted a Research on China Foods’ Business
FREBREEERAMTERRER

On 30 January 2024, Chairman of COFCO Corporation, Lu Jun conducted a market survey of COFCO Coca-
Cola, acknowledging the market execution and fully affirming the expansion of new businesses such as smart
retail.
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MAJOR EVENTS IN 2024 2024 4 A F 7]

Core Management Team of The Coca-Cola Company Conducted Multiple Research Visits to market of
China Foods
ANAERARAKROERBEKSRAMTERR TS

James Quincey, Global Chairman and CEO of Coca-Cola, John Murphy, Global President and CFO of Coca-
Cola, Henrique Braun, Global Executive Vice President and CEO of Coca-Cola, Nancy Quan, Global Senior
Vice President and Chief Technical Innovation Officer of Coca-Cola, Karina Espinel, Global President of
R&D Innovation of Coca-Cola, and other senior executives visited China to research COFCO Coca-Cola, fully
recognizing the potential of the Chinese market and the business development of COFCO Coca-Cola.
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MAJOR EVENTS IN 2024 2024 4 A F 77

Clean Drinking Water in 24 Hours
k24N B

In 2024, COFCO Coca-Cola activated the “Clean Drinking Water in 24 Hours” emergency drinking water
rescue mechanism 30 times, delivering 924,496 bottles of drinking water to regions such as Guizhou, Hunan,
Sichuan and Shandong, effectively alleviating the water needs of disaster-stricken areas. With the motto “Water
Delivered, Care Delivered”, we fulfilled the promise of “Clean Drinking Water in 24 Hours” through concrete
actions, providing timely assistance to every region in need.

20244F » 18R] O A] £E SR R30X B B [ K24/ B | B SR A K RUR M - &M ~ 8~ W)l - IR S
[ % %924, 496 B IOk - HREM T KB AARR K - TRE] OB RAUA EBR AT BRAT [VF K24/ N85 | iy
A AE-EFREZENOHE RERERE -

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Launch Meeting of Specialized Pilot Operation for Production and Sales in the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei
Region
REHEHBEEX AN BELEEDS

9 &

On 25 December 2024, COFCO Coca-Cola's specialized operation for production and sales in the Beijing-
Tianjin-Hebei region was officially commenced. This aimed to "meet customer business needs, enhance
efficiency, and improve profitability", by innovating business models and operational mechanisms, seeking new
opportunities for quality improvement and efficiency enhancement for China Foods.

2024 12A25H  FIEAOAI R REHERELLARY ZREBNRREELPEHH R - #AKRE -
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Work in 2024 Was Highly Recognized by External Parties
2024F REIRZENIASERT
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In 2024, various operating units of China Foods received the "National and Provincial-Level" honorary awards
63 times. All plants were awarded the annual "Lucid Waters and Lush Mountains Cup (4%7K & LLU#K) " title for
excellent water and energy saving enterprises by the Beverage Industry Association. Currently, eight plants are
recognized as national-level green plants, seven as provincial-level green plants, and two as provincial-level
green supply chain enterprises.
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STATEMENT FROM CHAIRMAN 3 & 15 1

Dear Shareholders,

In 2024, under the leadership and support of the Board and
through the efforts of the management team, China Foods once
again delivered encouraging performance growth, maintaining
steady business expansion and achieving record-high profits.
The revenue approached approximately RMB21.492 billion,
while total operating profits reached RMB1.866 billion.
The Company’s innovative business has experienced rapid
development, with the number of smart retail business
machines ranking first in the industry, and the online business
scale of Yuexiang Club has reached RMB1.16 billion.

In 2024, despite facing increased external pressures and
growing internal challenges in a complex and severe situation,
China’s economy operated with overall stability and progress.
By intensifying the implementation of existing policies and
a package of new policies, the economy experienced a
significant rebound, providing a solid foundation for the
steady development of China Foods. Facing the volatile
market environment, the China Foods team accurately seized
opportunities and focused on overcoming challenges. By
adhering to innovation, reshaping systems and expanding
markets, they achieved steady business growth throughout the
year, optimized and upgraded systems and teams, delivered
favorable returns and benefits to the Company and its
shareholders, and made positive contributions to COFCO Group.

In 2025, the Chinese government has clearly defined the
policy direction to vigorously promote domestic consumption,
placing “vigorously boosting consumption and investment
returns and stimulating domestic demand across the board”
as the top priority for the key tasks in 2025. The report on
the work of the government of the National People’s Congress
also places “vigorously boosting consumption and investment
returns and stimulating domestic demand across the board”
as the first task of government work. It is foreseeable that with
economic growth and the simultaneous increase in personal
income, the consumption structure of residents will continue to
optimize, with service consumption, quality consumption and
personalized consumption expected to become mainstream.
The new retail model will be further deepened, with accelerated
integration of online and offline channels, promoting the
upgrading of consumption quality.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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China Foods is currently developing a new concept of RTCC
(Road to Customer & Consumer) marketing network, which will
accelerate adaptation to the changing market environment,
meet diverse demands and categories, innovate diversified
consumption scenarios, and the in-depth development of smart
retail and new retail platform businesses will also serve the
market more efficiently.

COFCO Group is confident in the development of China Foods
and expressed its full support for the Company’s growth. China
Foods will focus on building its own brand, accelerating the
expansion of platform business, and continuously exploring
and practicing emerging businesses. This will help China
Foods further enhance its market competitiveness, actively
build international operational capabilities, improve system
construction and risk management, so as to achieve sustainable
high-quality development for China Foods.

STATEMENT FROM CHAIRMAN = J& 1% 14
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Dear Shareholders,

— UPHOLDING INTEGRITY AND INNOVATION
TO REACH NEW HEIGHTS, STRIVING
FORWARD TO OPEN A NEW CHAPTER

The year 2024 marked an extraordinary chapter in the course
of the economic development of China. Faced with a complex
situation of intensifying external pressures and increasing
internal challenges, China’s economy maintained overall
stability while making steady progress. The household incomes
saw a steady increase, and consumer confidence gradually
rebounded, laying the groundwork for the expansion of domestic
demand. Ultimately, consumption expenditure contributed
44.5% to economic growth.

In 2024, China Foods actively responded to changes in the
external market. Facing challenges such as the expansion
of category structure in the beverage industry, intensified
competition and significant adjustments among channel
customers, China Foods adhered to the strategic mindset
of “recognizing changes, seeking changes and adapting to
changes”, actively conducted reform and innovation, managed
change with change, realized potential, reshaped and solidified
its foundation, and drove growth through innovation, once again
reaching new heights in performance.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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STATEMENT FROM MANAGING DIRECTOR Z 5 48 45 12 1 14+

2024: FORGING NEW HEIGHTS WITH
RESHAPING

In 2024, in the face of a complex and volatile economic
environment and industry competition, China Foods proactively
embarked on a journey of transformation, comprehensively
covering the entire business process including product
categories, marketing networks, value chains and supply
platforms.

In terms of product category reshaping, the Company
focused on two core categories: sparkling drinks and juices,
consolidating its market-leading position while accelerating the
expansion of two emerging categories: ready-to-drink tea and
ready-to-drink coffee. Among them, sparkling drinks maintained
an absolute advantage in market share in the category through
the “dual drives of sugared and sugar-free options”; while juices
focused on ready-to-drink packaging, expanding consumption,
and continued to lead in the low-concentration juice market.
The distribution rate of the Sunshine brand ready-to-drink tea
increased 15%; while ready-to-drink coffee concentrated on
key areas to continuously strengthen brand influence through
COSTA co-branding and the new Velvet series; energy drinks
launched the new Predator product, using innovative digital
consumer marketing to expand the market.

In terms of reshaping the marketing network, we strove to
achieve precise reach through efficient execution. The Company
focused on channel deepening, with the proportion of direct
customers increasing to 46%, revenue from the catering
channel growing by 132% year-on-year, and the coverage rate
of township markets expanding to 280 cities. At the same time,
the Company focused on terminal optimization to ensure point-
of-sale execution and resource investment returns. The market
distribution rate increased by 20%, and the growth of frozen
terminals in key areas increased by 35%, effectively driving the
penetration of consumption scenarios.

In terms of value chain reshaping, the Company has
reorganized the market to achieve optimization of the channel
pricing system. Through retail price management, we gradually
increased the selling prices of the main packaging while
ensuring the stability of channel customers. In 2024, the
Company’s overall revenue per unit increased by RMB1.59,
and the price per unit of the main packaging rose by RMB1.27,
driving an increase in the overall gross profit margin by 2.6
percentage points.
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STATEMENT FROM MANAGING DIRECTOR Z % 48 45 72 17y 1

In terms of supply chain reshaping, the Company focused on
supply chain collaboration, further strengthened the central
planning center to coordinate the demand and capacity across
the entire market, thereby enhancing supply efficiency and
asset utilization efficiency. It deepened win-win cooperation with
upstream suppliers to enhance overall system efficiency through
information, data and inventory sharing. After the central
planning system went online, cross-regional mold sharing
reduced 13% of production costs, and inventory turnover
efficiency improved 25%.

The aforementioned reshaping efforts have already shown initial
results in 2024, providing assurance for the Company’s current
development and future sustainable growth.

In 2024, China Foods’ innovative business reached a scale
of 2.5 billion. The number of smart retail business machines
of COFCO Zhishang Company has risen to the top of the
industry, with monthly revenue exceeding RMB100 million for
four consecutive months, and the direct operating gross profit
margin reaching 46%. The scale of COFCO Yuexiang Club’s
omni-channel marketing business has exceeded RMB1 billion,
DTC channel revenue increased by 88%, covering 56 million
fans. COFCO Lohas’s health drinks further enriched the product
line, and after the launch of natural soda water, the overall
brand sales revenue increased by 21%.

2025: DRAWING A BLUEPRINT FOR HIGH-
QUALITY GROWTH

In 2025, the Chinese government introduced a series of policies
to stimulate domestic consumption, which will enable China’s
economy to continue maintaining stable growth, achieving
synchronized growth in household income and economic
growth. The contribution of domestic consumption to the
economy is expected to further increase.

For China Foods, the advantage of China’s ultra-large-scale
market and enormous domestic demand potential are the
fundamental guarantees of the Company’s performance; the
policy dividends from the nation’s efforts to boost consumption
and expand domestic demand present an opportunity for the
Company’s accelerated growth. Faced with the demands of
new consumption scenarios, the differences in new segmented
channels and the emergence of new categories and products,
China Foods will consolidate its traditional advantages and seize
emerging tracks.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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STATEMENT FROM MANAGING DIRECTOR Z 5 48 45 12 1 14+

In 2025, the Company will continue the dual-track strategy of
“reshaping + innovation”. For traditional business, it will further
deepen and refine the Dingsheng Programme with Coca-
Cola, optimizing product mix and pricing strategies to achieve
comprehensive improvements in sales volume, revenue, profit,
market execution and market share with products more suited
to the Chinese market, more advanced scientific management,
and more precise and excellent execution, thereby achieving
simultaneous growth in scale and profitability.

The Company will continue to make every effort to promote
the innovation ecosystem. COFCO Lohas will continuously
roll out new highquality, high-functionality products, expand
marketing network coverage and achieve rapid growth; COFCO
Yuexiang Club will continue to enhance the operation of the
global consumer marketing platform, truly achieving consumer
marketing services of “omni-channel, all-process, full-scenario
and fullecology”. While COFCO Zhishang is advancing the layout
and sales of existing channels, it is further developing new
business scenarios, tapping into the value of data assets, and
evolving from the largest in the industry to the strongest and
most optimal.

We firmly believe that through the reshaping and transformation
in 2024, and the refinement and promotion in 2025, the
Company will achieve more agile responses and more efficient
operations, deeply cultivating the increasingly segmented new
consumer scenarios, serving consumers who continuously
pursue high quality, and truly achieving sustainable and high-
quality development to create long-term value and better
investment returns for shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board and the management team, |
thank our shareholders for their trust and support in China
Foods. We shall not cease in our efforts to better reward their
trust.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWN

CURRENT STATUS

China Foods exclusive franchise to manufacture, market and
distribute products under the Coca-Cola series encompasses 19
provincial-level administrative regions. The Company provides
consumers with 10 major types of beverages namely sparkling
drinks, juices, water, milk drinks, energy drinks, tea, coffee,
functional nutrition drinks, sports drinks and plant-based
protein drinks under 25 brands.

The Company has approximately 10,000 salespersons, with the
controllable business, being customer orders served directly
by our sales representatives, accounting for nearly 90% of the
overall business.

Apart from operating the Coca-Cola bottling business, the smart
retail business also achieved satisfactory results during the
year, with revenue maintaining rapid growth and the number
of equipment units ranking among the best in the industry.
Another innovative business, COFCO Yuexiang Club (#1181
Z &), also saw a year-on-year increase in revenue during the
year, with the average product price continuing to improve.
In the future, our vision is to become a world-class food and
beverage group.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 22 /Eam T

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

In 2024, China Foods focused on “restructuring” as its key
task, aiming to achieve better customer experience, superior
operational efficiency, and higher profitability through the
restructuring of product brands, marketing networks, value
chains, supply systems, organisational structures, and execution
culture, thereby ensuring sustainable high-quality development
for the Company. We will remain focused on the business
concept of “Improving quality, Enhancing efficiency, Innovation,
System, Openness and Green”, continue to implement the
strategic layout of developing a full-service beverage business
while promoting innovative business and give full commitment
to the entrepreneurial spirit of “Work! Work hard! Win!”, and
promote the realisation of the development goals of “High
Quality and Sustainability”. The details of operation concepts
are set out below:

o Improving quality: Actively promote the sales of key
products, new products and products with high
prices and high gross profit. Focus on optimising the
channel structure, strengthening the development
and establishment of new retail, catering and tourism
channels. Continuously refine the supply chain layout to
enhance overall supply chain management efficiency.

o Enhancing efficiency: Further advance the
comprehensive integration of the supply chain
across the region. Perform thorough analysis of raw
material price trends, broaden the scope and scale of
centralised procurement, and enhance the accuracy and
effectiveness of resource allocation to maximise returns.

° Innovation: Foster improvements across all areas of
technology. Continuously enhance digital marketing,
digital supply chain and governance capabilities in digital
initiatives, and persistently drive results through the
effective utilisation of data to empower decision-making
and innovation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E 7T

° System: Adhere to corporate governance standards as
mandated by law, and focus on continuously improving
compliance across all operational aspects. Persistently
optimising the organisational structure and salary
incentive mechanism based on the contributor-oriented
principle to ensure a solid foundation for the rapid,
healthy and sustainable development of the business.

o Openness: Strive to foster the development of the
ecosystem by actively sharing information, inventory, and
spare parts resources with upstream suppliers, so as to
collectively lower costs and enhance efficiency. On the
downstream side, leverage digitalised marketing tools to
streamline the B2B2C chain. By partnering closely with
customers, we can work together to serve consumers
more effectively and efficiently.

o Green: Adhere to sustainable high-quality development
by prioritising the reduction of unit energy consumption
and emissions to strive for “zero deaths, zero serious
injuries, zero exceedances, zero pollution” throughout
the year.

INDUSTRY ENVIRONMENT

In 2024, China’s economy demonstrated steady performance
with notable advancements amid a stable environment,
achieving new developments in high-quality growth. Notably,
the government introduced a package of incremental policies,
effectively boosting social confidence and significantly reviving
the economy. Gross domestic product was RMB134.90 trillion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 5.0% when adjusted
for constant prices. The secondary industry contributed
RMB49.20 trillion, marking an increase of 5.3%. Furthermore,
after accounting for price changes, the national per capita
consumption expenditure grew by 5.1% year-on-year, which
played a crucial role in sustaining overall sales in the non-
alcoholic ready-to-drink sector.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 22 /Eam T

REVIEW OF RESULTS

Below is a summary comparison of 2024 and 2023 results:

FAEMDRE

2024 F RAFHP023F REMULBEWMT ¢

For the year

For the year

ended ended

31 December 31 December
2024 2023 Change

BZE2024F B E2023F

12H31H 12A31H
IEFE IEFE i) P

(AE# (AR#

BEor) F&Er)
Revenue WA 21,491.8 21,446.4 +0.2%
Sales volume SHE 9.7%
Gross profit margin EH = +2.6ppt
+2.68 7

In 2024, the overall sales volume of China Foods recorded a
year-on-year decrease, due to the transformation and upgrading
process of water category leading to a decline in sales volume.
However, under the Company’s strategy of actively raising
prices and improving product structure, the significant increase
in average product prices effectively offset the impact of
reduced sales volume, resulting in revenue remaining largely
unchanged year-on-year. During the year, except for the
procurement price of white sugar which increased due to
reduced production, the procurement prices of other major raw
materials decreased year-on-year, resulting in a year-on-year
increase in the Company’s gross profit margin. Additionally, the
Company maintained a strong emphasis on managing capital
expenditure and operating cash flow to mitigate risks effectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E 7T

Steadily optimizing product structure
Sparkling drinks

In the context of a decline in overall market sales revenue for
the category, the increase in product distribution led to a sales
revenue growth rate that outperformed the market, maintaining
the first place in the industry in terms of market share. During
the year, a new 248 ml pocket bottle packaging was introduced
for the sparkling drink category, offering consumers a refreshing
experience with a “grab-and-go” convenience. The Coca-Cola
Dragon Year theme and Sprite Sofa Film Festival packaging
were launched, which were well received by consumers. Fanta
used the theme of “High Scores Must Achieve” to convey
encouragement and positive energy to students and parents.

During the year, “Coca-Cola Creations” (“4 &l # "), the
global creative platform of Coca-Cola, engaged in a cross-
industry collaboration with the Oreo brand to launch a limited-
edition sparkling beverage. The product combines Coca-Cola’s
refreshing bubbles with the rich chocolate flavor of classic
Oreo, offering a dual enjoyment in every sip and delivering an
unprecedented taste experience. The bottle design integrates
the classic black and white color scheme of Oreo with the
Coca-Cola logo, exuding a stylish and exquisite personality that
continues to attract Generation Z youth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 22 /Eam T

Juices

In 2024, the juice category focused on profit packaging
development, striving to enhance the profitability of juice, with
improvement in the average price, gross profit margin and profit
margin of the category.

During the year, the “Minute Maid” brand was reshaped,
introducing a unified brand strategy, visual identity, and
consumer activities to strengthen connections with consumers.
It re-engages Chinese consumers with a refreshed brand image
and updated product packaging.

The recent update to the “Minute Maid” brand label has
resulted in a more streamlined and refreshed appearance.
This redesign preserves the brand’s original quality while
emphasising its youth and vitality.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E 7T

Water

In 2024, we introduced the “Chun Yue pH9.0+ White Peach
Flavoured Soda Water”, characterised by its elevated pH level
and clear alkalinity. This beverage offers a rich white peach
flavour and a smooth, refreshing taste. Notably, it is sugar-free,
sparkling-free and fat-free. During the year our self-owned water
brand “LOHAS” launched “LOHAS Natural Soda Water”. The
product is sourced from a natural ecological reserve, boasting
a superior geographical location, naturally pristine, pure and
pollution-free. The water is naturally weakly alkaline and has a
clear and smooth taste, with no additives.

In the future, we will continue to focus on the water category,
adhering to high-quality development, actively exploring high-
end water products, leveraging the health advantages of soda
water to expand the category structure of soda water, and
improving the profitability of the water category by altering the
category structure to drive overall profit.
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Ready-to-drink coffee

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 22 /Eam T

B0 £k ok

During the year, two new flavoured products, Vanilla FAN - HASHRIVEHEEZEER
Cheesecake Latte and Hazelnut White Chocolate Latte under BERAMGERREEMKNZTEES
the Velvet Latte series, were introduced. They were developed BERRATEEMAETOKRER @ &
from two consumers’ favourite flavours — vanilla and hazelnut. BB AR PR R 3 O R & [0t 5 | P9 JE B 3K
They use milk imported from New Zealand and the same coffee MBS - mEEEE Y S oS BRI BE )
beans as those in “Costa Coffee” stores to meet consumers’ Bk BT RIHEERPRE  KES
demand for high-quality ready-to-drink coffee. The sales of the NP

new Velvet Latte products lead in the China region, delivering

satisfactory results.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E 7T

Functional drink

During the year, the newly launched energy drink brand
“Predator (J2 &)~ is packaged in plastic bottles and is non-
carbonated, catering effectively to the preferences of its
target customers. Meanwhile, the “Monster (& JU) ” brand
has launched a new product featuring a passion fruit guava
flavour, which artfully blends premium passion fruit with guava
to deliver a delightful sweet and tangy experience. The striking
pink can is designed to captivate both the taste buds and visual
senses of consumers. 2024 was the year when the “Monster
(EEJ\)” brand achieved its highest revenue and sales since its
launch, with all key channel revenues recording double-digit
growth, a remarkable achievement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 22 /Eam T

Promoting the expansion of channel resources

The Company continuously optimised its client structure,
reshaped its marketing network, and has achieved significant
growth in the number of direct service clients, with the
proportion of controllable business revenue remaining at
approximately 90% of the overall business.

Modern channel: Optimised product category and packaging
structure, increased the sales share of other categories,
enhanced in-store visibility, vigorously developed multi-
packaging, and gradually improved the gross profit margin and
profitability of categories by adjusting promotional efforts;

Traditional channel: With the promotion of the “Coke GO”
platform, customer self-activity has increased, the amount of
self-directed orders continued to reach new highs, and overall
sales efficiency has improved;

School channel: Launched the Next Singer TMEX Sprite Campus
Music Competition, utilizing the theme of “High Scores Must
Achieve”; conducted sample tasting on campus; engaged in in-
depth interactive marketing activities on campus before exams,
to cultivate stable consumption habits among Generation Z
consumer groups.

Eating and drinking channel: In line with the development
trends of catering and fast food, continuously developed high-
quality catering clients and leading chain catering clients,
targeting chain fast food clients.

New Retail Business — COFCO Yuexiang Club (F & 14 = =)

COFCO Yuexiang Club (R #& 1 = &) engages in the online
channel sales of beverage and food products, with its business
covering all provinces, municipalities and autonomous
regions nationwide. During the year, the number of members,
purchasing users, repurchase rate and order volume of the “Joy
Club (h4£4=)” app all increased.

The Company continued to enhance the digitalisation and
intelligence level of its online business by establishing a
membership database through the “Joy Club (tR£4€ )" app
and D2C channel platforms. This enabled precise marketing
to members, strengthened the supply of popular products,
reinforced non-price marketing strategies, optimised the
structure of online products, and reshaped the value chain,
effectively improving conversion rates and boosting sales
revenue, achieving double-digit growth year-on-year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E 7T

Smart Retail Business

During the year, the scale of the smart retail business (number
of devices) saw further growth, with the number of devices
firmly establishing itself as a leader in the industry. The
network achieved nationwide coverage across 31 provinces and
extended its reach to over 280 cities. Additionally, year-on-year
revenue continued to experience rapid growth.

The advantages of vending machines are that they are not
restricted by time or location, allowing them to fill the sales
vacant areas not covered by retail stores, where they can
continue to provide services to consumers even after shops
have closed for the day. Thus, the vending machine business
has great development potential. In the future, we aim to not
only expand our business scale but also to enhance the diversity
of our product offerings, so as to provide consumers with a
wider array of high-quality choices. Leveraging our existing
scale advantages, we will continue to developing profitability
strategies, that deliver improved returns to our shareholders.

Outlook

It is expected that the adverse impact brought by changes in
the external environment in 2025 may deepen, but China’s
economic fundamentals are stable, with many advantages,
strong resilience, and great potential. The supporting conditions
and basic trend of long-term positive development have not
changed, nor has the general trend of high-quality economic
development. Favorable conditions outweigh unfavorable
factors. China is a mega-sized economy with a large economic
scale and market capacity, a comprehensive industrial system,
strong supporting capabilities, and both supply and demand
that can sustain the domestic economic cycle. The policies
proposed by the government will effectively stimulate the
potential of domestic demand, boost consumer spending,
and provide stronger demand momentum for stable economic
operation and positive development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 22 /Eam T

It is expected that the cost of aluminum will rise in 2025 due
to a reduction in raw material supply, leading to an increase
in the price of aluminum cans, while the prices of other major
raw materials will remain stable. Management will continue
to actively promote key strategies such as product structure
upgrade and business portfolio optimisation to improve the
gross profit margin. It is believed that through restructuring
efforts, the Company can establish a competitive advantage in
the new consumption model, develop the capability to adapt to
the future’s volatile and complex market environment, enhance
profitability that meets the requirements of sustainable high-
quality development, and further improve the overall profit
margin.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

REVENUE

In 2024, the overall sales volume recorded a year-on-year
decrease, but revenue remaining largely unchanged year-on-
year due to the increase in average product prices.

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

During the year, except for the procurement price of white sugar
which increased due to reduced production, the procurement
prices of other major raw materials decreased year-on-year,
resulting in a year-on-year increase in the Company’s gross
profit margin.

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

Other income, gains and losses, net decreased by 51% year-
on-year from RMB328.4 million in 2023 to RMB161.9 million
in 2024, which is mainly due to one-off gain on disposal of
investments in associates RMB91.6 million recorded in last year
and decrease in government grants of RMB85.1 million in 2024
as compared to 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E 7T

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES
RATIO/ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES RATIO

During the year, more marketing expenses was incurred due
to keen competition. As a result, the distribution and selling
expenses ratio increased, while there was no significant change
in the administrative expenses ratio compared with that of the
previous year.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs dropped by 4.5% from RMB 5.0 million to
RMB4.7 million. There was no significant change in finance
costs.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax expense amounted to RMB444 million, representing
a decrease of 3% as compared to 2023. There was no
significant change in income tax expense.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Company’s treasury function operates as a centralised
service for:

o Reallocating financial resources within the Group;
° Procuring cost-efficient funding for the Group;

o Managing financial risks, including interest rate and
foreign exchange rate risks; and

° Targeting yield enhancement opportunities.

The treasury function regularly and closely monitors its overall
cash and debt positions, reviews its funding costs and maturity
profiles to facilitate timely refinancing. Cash pooling is applied
in Mainland China for the more efficient utilisation of cash. Also,
the treasury function formulated financial risk management
procedures, which are subject to periodic review by the senior
management of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 22 /Eam T

In the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, the Group’s unpledged cash and cash
equivalents totaled approximately RMB4,014 million (31
December 2023: approximately RMB2,293 million). Net current
asset were approximately RMB236 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB16 million).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024, the total
number of issued shares of the Company remained unchanged
at 2,797,223,396. In the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, the Group had no interest-
bearing bank borrowings (31 December 2023: Nil).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no other borrowings
(31 December 2023: Nil). As of 31 December 2024, net
assets attributable to owners of the parent were approximately
RMB6,462 million (31 December 2023: approximately
RMB6,015 million), and net cash position of the Group
(unpledged cash and cash equivalents less interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings) was approximately RMB4,014
million and the gearing ratio (ratio of borrowing position of the
Group to equity attributable to owners of the parent) was nil
(31 December 2023: approximately RMB2,293 million and the
gearing ratio of nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND ASSETS
PLEDGED

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has no significant
contingent liabilities nor assets pledged (other than certain
bills payable) (31 December 2023: Nil (other than certain bills
payable)).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE MANAGEMENT

Majority of monetary assets, monetary liabilities and transactions
of the Group were principally denominated in Renminbi and
recorded in the books of subsidiaries operating in Mainland
China (functional currency as Renminbi).

Although the Group has not used any financial instruments for
hedging purposes, the treasury function of the Group actively
and closely monitors foreign exchange rate exposure. The
foreign exchange risk exposure at the operational level is not
significant.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E 7T

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed 17,533 staff in
Mainland China and Hong Kong (31 December 2023: 18,889).
Employees are paid according to their positions, performance,
experience and prevailing market practices, and are provided
with management and professional training.

Employees in Hong Kong are provided with retirement benefits,
either under a Mandatory Provident Fund exempted ORSO
scheme or under the Mandatory Provident Fund scheme, as
well as life insurance and medical insurance. Employees in
Mainland China are provided with pension insurance, medical
insurance, work injury insurance, unemployment insurance,
maternity insurance and housing fund contributions in
compliance with the requirements of the laws of China.

The Group firmly believe that talent is the most valuable asset
and the basis for its sustainable development of a corporation.
The Group has established comprehensive policies and systems
for employee recruitment, labour contracts, remuneration and
benefits, attendance management, training and development,
performance appraisal, disciplinary policies, protection of
employee interests, etc, in order to protect the basic interests
of employees, eliminate discrimination by nationality, age and
gender, etc, and prohibit the employment of child labour and
any form of forced labour.

The Group emphasizes a “contributor-oriented” talent
development concept and provides employees with a robust
career development platform and a comprehensive training
system. The Group continuously enhance the personnel training
mechanism and training course system to ensure the knowledge
and skills of employees are enhanced, leading to the mutual
development of the Group and its employees.

The Company and its subsidiaries have no share option
scheme.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEREREEEGEN

\ CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Ay ESEIERFUTES y

\ w./ MR. QING LIJUN BXE%X4% /
MR. QING LIJUN

Mr. Qing, 55, was appointed the chairman of the board of the Company in September 2022 and has been as an
executive director and the managing director of the Company since January 2020. On 6 January 2025, Mr. Qing has
tendered his resignation as the managing director and ceased to act as the chairman of the executive committee of
the board, and he has been re-designated from an executive director to a non-executive director of the Company.
Mr. Qing is currently the deputy general manager of COFCO Corporation, a non-executive director and the chairman
of the board of directors of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (stock code: 2319), the chairman of board of
directors of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, a 65%-owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Qing joined COFCO
Corporation and/or its subsidiaries in July 1993 and has held various positions including the chief executive officer
of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, the director of strategy department of COFCO Corporation during the period
from July 2016 to March 2019. Mr. Qing was the deputy general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited
during the period from December 2007 to June 2016. Mr. Qing has concurrently served as the strategy planning
director of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited during the period April 2004 to March 2014. During the period
from April 2004 to June 2016, Mr. Qing has also concurrently served various positions including the director of the
public relations department and the director of the finance department of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, the
general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Shandong) Limited and the general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola
Beverages (Beijing) Limited. Mr. Qing has served as the deputy general manager of Jilin COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
Limited during the period from June 2002 to March 2004 and a sales operation manager of COFCO Coca-Cola
Beverages Limited during the period from April 2000 to May 2002.

Mr. Qing graduated from Renmin University of China and Guanghua School of Business Management of Peking University
with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics and a Master’s degree in Business Administration, respectively. Mr. Qing has extensive
experience in beverage production, marketing, strategy planning, finance, public relations and general management.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

BITESRESARE
MR. ZHAN ZAIZHONG EEHE4E /

MR. ZHAN ZAIZHONG

Mr. Zhan, 53, joined the Group in 2004 and is currently the chief executive officer of COFCO Coca-Cola
Beverages Limited, a 65%-owned subsidiary of the Company and a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Zhan has held various positions in the Group including the deputy general manager of COFCO
Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, the general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Beijing) Limited, the
general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Xinjiang) Limited and the general manager of COFCO Coca-
Cola Beverages (Inner Mongolia) Limited. Mr. Zhan has extensive experience in operations and management.

Mr. Zhan graduated from Wuhan Institute of Technology with a Bachelor’s degree in Resources Engineering.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
HITES /
MR. SHEN XINWEN 3L $7 3 %4 /

MR. SHEN XINWEN

Mr. Shen, 53, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in September 2022. Mr. Shen is
currently a deputy general manager and the deputy chief financial officer of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
Limited, a 65%-owned subsidiary of the Company and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Before
joining COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, Mr. Shen served as the executive deputy general manager of
COFCO Technology & Industry Co., Ltd. (formerly known as COFCO Engineering & Technology Co., Ltd.), a
company listed in Shenzhen, from August 2020 to September 2022. From 1995 to August 2020, he has served
various positions in certain subsidiaries of COFCO Corporation, including the head of COFCO International
(Beijing) Co., Ltd., the senior financial manager of CTA Makro Commercial Co., Ltd., the general manager
of finance department of COFCO Commercial Property Investment Co., Ltd., the deputy general manager of
finance department of COFCO Land Limited, the deputy general manager of COFCO Land Limited, Beijing
Branch, the general manager of Xidan Joy City Co., Ltd, the general manager of Grandjoy Holdings Group Co.,
Ltd., (Northwestern Region), and the general manager of Xi’an Qinhantang International Plaza Management
Limited. Currently, Mr. Shen was a director of COFCO Technology & Industry Co., Ltd., a company listed in
Shenzhen until October 2022.

Mr. Shen holds a Bachelor's degree in economics and a Master’s degree in EMBA from the University of
International Business and Economics. Mr. Shen is an intermediate accountant, and has over 20 years of
experience in finance and accounting. He also has extensive experience in corporate administration.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
FHTES >
MR. CAO GAOFENG EFi%4% yd

MR. CAO GAOFENG

Mr. Cao, age 51, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in April 2024, is currently the
director of the quality and safety management department of COFCO Corporation. Mr. Cao is currently also a
director of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited which is a 65%-owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Cao
joined COFCO Corporation in 2009 and has held various positions, including the assistant general manager of
the quality and safety department, the deputy general manager (in charge of work) of the quality and safety
department, the general manager of the quality and safety department, the deputy director of the quality and
safety management department.

Mr. Cao graduated from Henan University of Technology (formerly known as Zhengzhou Foods College)
with a major in food science and engineering, with a Bachelor of Engineering degree. Mr. Cao has extensive
experience in quality and safety management.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
FUTES 7
MR. CHEN GANG Rl % & yd

MR. CHEN GANG

Mr. Chen, 53, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in August 2021. Mr. Chen is
currently a director of each of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited and COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (China)
Investment Limited, both of which are 65%-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chen joined COFCO
Corporation in 1994 and is currently the director of the Cooperation and Development Department and the
general manager of the Supply Assurance Department of COFCO Corporation and a director of each of COFCO
Oils & Fats Company Limited and COFCO Wine & Spirit (Investment) Limited (both subsidiaries of COFCO
Corporation). Mr. Chen has been the executive deputy general manager of COFCO Yellowsea Grain and Oil
Industries (Shandong) Co., Ltd., and the general manager of COFCO Northsea Grain and Qil Industries (Tianjin)
Co., Ltd.. Mr. Chen has also held various management positions of the Group during the period from 2008 to
2016, including a deputy general manager, an assistant general manager, the chief legal counsel, the general
manager of each of the confectionery business unit, kitchen food business unit and procurement department
of the Company. From October 2016 to April 2019, he served as the deputy general manager of China Agri-
Industries Holdings Limited, once a company listed in Hong Kong, and a director of the preparatory office of
the COFCO Yingkou Lingang Grain, Oil and Food Industrial Park.

Mr. Chen has extensive experience in the research and practices of operating management of national policies,
industrial development, international trade, production and processing, brand marketing and technological
innovation in the field of grain, oil and food. Mr. Chen serves as a member of the National Cereals and Oils
Standardisation Technical Committee.

Mr. Chen graduated from Peking University with a Bachelor of Arts degree in law, and from Tsinghua University
with a degree of Executive Master of Business Administration. Mr. Chen also held a PhD degree in Economics
from Institute of Population and Labour Economics, Chinese Academy of Social Sciences.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

BYFHTES
MR. LI HUNG KWAN, ALFRED Z3E#%k4E /

MR. LI HUNG KWAN, ALFRED

Mr. Li, 72, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in November 2008. Mr.
Li was a member of each of the Takeovers and Mergers Panel of the Securities and Futures Commission and
the Listing Committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and an expert member of the Finance
Committee of Kowloon Canton Railway Corporation and an executive director and the chief finance officer of
Hang Lung Group Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. Li holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree in economics and sociology from The University of Hong
Kong, and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland. Mr. Li has more than 40 years of experience in finance and
accounting.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
BYFHITES 7
MR. MOK WAI BUN, BEN E#3R% 4 /

MR. MOK WAI BUN, BEN

Mr. Mok, 76, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in August 2017. Mr.
Mok was an independent non-executive director of Yashili International Holdings Ltd., until the company
withdrew its listing in the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong on 5 July 2023. Mr. Mok served as a senior consultant
for COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, a 65%-owned subsidiary of the Company in 2012 and also served as
the general manager of Beijing Coca-Cola Beverage Co., Ltd. from 2002 to 2011. From 1993 to 2001, Mr. Mok
was the general manager of Hangzhou BC Foods Company Limited and Nanjing BC Foods Company Limited
and also served as the general manager of Swire Beverages Limited responsible for overseeing bottling plants
of Swire Beverages Limited in China.

Mr. Mok was awarded a Bachelor’s degree of economics from McGill University, Canada in 1975. Mr. Mok has
extensive experience in beverage production, marketing and general management.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
BYEHTES <
MS. LEUNG KA LAI, ADA, sBs RFREBLZ LT BEMES) /

MS. LEUNG KA LAI, ADA, sBs

Ms. Leung, age 64, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in June 2022.
Ms. Leung is currently a member of Standing Commission on Civil Service Salaries and Conditions of Service
of the HKSAR Government. She joined the HKSAR Government in September 1983 and has served in the
civil service for 35 years until her retirement in 2019. Ms. Leung joined the Intellectual Property Department
(IPD) of the HKSAR Government as a senior solicitor in 1995 and was the director of Intellectual Property
and Registrar of Trade Marks, Patents and Designs since May 2014 until her retirement in March 2019.
Prior to joining IPD, Ms. Leung was a senior crown counsel with the then Attorney General’s Chambers (now
Department of Justice). She had worked with both the Litigation Unit and the Advisory Unit in the Civil Division.
Ms. Leung was also a part-time Lecturer, Faculty of Law, of University of Hong Kong during the period from
October 2020 to August 2021.

Ms. Leung was appointed as an Official Justice of Peace by the HKSAR Government since 2012 and until
February 2020. She was awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star (SBS) by the HKSAR Government in 2018.

Ms. Leung has over 20 years professional experience in IP law practice as well as financial and staff
management, management of outsourcing contracts as well as planning and implementing promotion and
public education programmes in the public sector. She also has extensive experience in formulation of policy,
law and practice in different areas of intellectual property as well as building and maintaining network with
local and international stakeholders, including the legal profession, intellectual property practitioners, trade
and business organisations, overseas and Mainland counterparts and inter-governmental organisations. She
has also represented Hong Kong, China in different international conferences and meetings in formulating
|P policies at the international level. She also has experience in civil advisory, civil litigation and criminal
prosecution with the then Attorney General’s Chambers (now Department of Justice).

Ms. Leung holds a Bachelor Degree in Science from the University of Hong Kong. She then obtained a
Government Legal Training Scholarship and studied law in the University of Buckingham in England. She was
called to the Bar in England and in Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ERERE P

MR. HU JIANZHI #HES %% y

MR. HU JIANZHI

Mr. Hu, 53, joined COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, a 65%-owned subsidiary of the Company, in May
2011 and is currently the deputy general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited and a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Hu joined COFCO Corporation in 1993 and has held various positions
in the group of COFCO Corporation, including deputy general manager of the risk management division of the
strategic department and assistant general manager of the oil and fats department of COFCO Corporation,
and the general manager of Top Glory (London) Ltd.. Mr. Hu has extensive experience in operations and
management. Mr. Hu graduated from the University of International Business and Economics with a Bachelor’s
degree in Economics.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EREER 7
MS. LI REN Z8 & + yd

MS. LI REN

Ms. Li, 49, joined the Group in 2002 and is currently a deputy general manager as well as the director of
the office of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, a 65%-owned subsidiary of the Company and a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Li has held various positions in the group of COFCO Coca-Cola
Beverages Limited, including the general manager of the data center and the general manager of the customer
services center of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited. Ms. Li has extensive experience in operations and
management. Ms. Li graduated from Jilin University with a Master’s degree in Business Administration.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

China Foods Limited (the “Company” and together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed to achieving and
maintaining high standards of corporate governance to
safeguarding the interests of our shareholders, investors,
customers and staff, and enhance its corporate value and
accountability. Directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”)
recognize the importance of incorporating elements of good
corporate governance in the management structure, internal
control and risk management procedures of the Group so as to
achieve effective accountability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

The Company has applied the principles of the CG Code and
complied with all the applicable Code Provisions throughout the
year ended 31 December 2024 (the “year”), save and except for
Code Provision C.2.1 which stipulated that the role of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. During the year, the roles of
chairman and chief executive were assumed by Mr. Qing Lijun.
Please refer to the section headed “Chairman and Managing
Director” for details. Effective from 6 January 2025, Mr. Zhan
Zaizhong was appointed by the board of Directors (the “Board”)
as the executive director and the managing director of the
Company (“Managing Director”, being the chief executive of the
Company). Following the appointment of Mr. Zhan Zaizhong,
the Company has re-complied with code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of
the Company for the purpose of complying with the CG Code
and maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
practices of the Company.
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CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group is dedicated to providing trendy soft drinks and
creating lasting value for customers, shareholders, and
employees as its mission. It upholds core values centered on
consumers, customers, contribution, innovation, and benefit.
Guided by the Directors and driven by the entrepreneurial
spirit of “Work | Work hard ! Win!”, the group promotes
sustainable enterprise development and ongoing performance
growth through the operation concepts focused on quality
improvement, efficiency enhancement, innovation, system,
openness, and green. With the vision of becoming a world-
class beverage group, we foster a culture of sincerity, unity,
openness, and enterprise among employees. The Company
utilizes its internal platform to communicate its corporate
culture to all employees and provide timely training and
presentations, with a focus on new employees.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code
of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. The
Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors regarding
any non-compliance with the Model Code during the year, all
Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year.

The Company has also adopted a code for securities
transactions by relevant employees (the “Employees Trading
Code”) based on the Model Code concerning dealings by
relevant employees in the securities of the Company. Relevant
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Group are required to comply with
the Employees Trading Code in respect of their dealings in the
securities of the Company. The terms of the Employees Trading
Code are no less exacting than the required standards set out in
the Model Code. During the year, the Company has not received
any non-compliance report from any of such employees.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board, led by the chairman, is responsible for the
leadership and control of the Company, and be collectively
responsible for formulating the Company’s overall strategies
and policies, reviewing and monitoring financial and operating
performance, reviewing the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems, supervising and managing
management’s performance of the Company, and approval of
matters or transactions of a material nature or those requiring
disclosure under the Listing Rules. The Board takes decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management, administration
and operation of the Company and implementation of the
strategies and policies set by the Board to the management under
the leadership of the Managing Director.

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the role
of chairman and chief executive should not be performed by
the same individual. Mr. Qing Lijun, the Managing Director
is also performed the role of the Chairman throughout the
year. Effective from 6 January 2025, Mr. Zhan Zaizhong was
appointed by the Board as the executive director and the
Managing Director. Following the appointment of Mr. Zhan
Zaizhong, the Company has re-complied with code provision
C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code.

The Board believes that it is in the interest of the Company
and its shareholders for Mr. Qing Lijun to assume the
responsibilities of such positions, given that Mr. Qing Lijun
has extensive experience and management of the Group as an
executive Director and Managing Director, and it will facilitate
the execution of the Group’s business and boost effectiveness
of its operations.

The Board also considers that such arrangement will not impair
the balance of power and authority between the Board and
the management as, during the year, the Board comprises six
other experienced individuals including one executive director,
two non-executive directors and three independent non-
executive directors. In addition, for major transactions of the
Group, the Company will consult Board committees and senior
management as and when appropriate.
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Composition of the Board

The Board has in its composition a balance of skills and
experience necessary for independent decision making and
fulfilling its business needs.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight
Directors, namely, Mr. Qing Lijun as a non-executive Director
and the chairman of the Board. Mr. Zhan Zaizhong as an
executive Director and the Managing Director, Mr. Shen Xinwen
as an executive Director, Mr. Cao Gaofeng and Mr. Chen Gang
as non-executive Directors, and Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred,
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben and Ms. Leung Ka Lai, Ada, SBS as
independent non-executive Directors.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or
other material or relevant relationships with each other. The
composition of the Board has satisfied the requirements
under Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules
for the Board to have at least three independent non-
executive directors which represents more than one-third
of the Board, and at least one of them has appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation
of his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board
has assessed their independence and considered that all
independent non-executive directors are independent based on
the independent criteria in accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules set out in the confirmation letter, the non-
involvement of independent non-executive directors in the daily
operation and management of the Group and the absence of
any relationship which would interfere with the exercise of their
independent judgement.

Board Independence

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board, and
the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms will
be reviewed annually. The mechanisms include the following:—

- at least one-third of the Board members being
independence non-executive directors;

- all independent non-executive directors will be appointed

to other Board committees as far as practicable to ensure
independent views are available;
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the nomination committee must strictly adhere to the
nomination policy of the Company and the independence
assessment criteria as set out in the Listing Rules with
regard to the nomination and appointment of independent
non-executive directors, and the nomination committee
is mandated to assess annually the independence of all
independence non-executive directors by reference to
the independence criteria as set out in the Listing Rule
to ensure that they can continually exercise independent
judgement;

all Directors are entitled to seek further information and
documentation from the management on the matters
to be discussed at board meetings. They can also seek
assistance from the company’s company secretary and,
where necessary, independent advice from external
professional advisers at the Company’s expenses;

all Directors (including independent non-executive
directors) shall not vote or be counted in the quorum
on any board resolution approving any contract or
arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her close
associates has a material interest;

the Chairman of the Board shall meet with the
independent non-executive Directors at least annually
without the presence of other Directors; and

no equity-based remuneration with performance, related
elements will be granted to independent non-executive
directors
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (available on the
Company’s website (www.chinafoodsltd.com) (the “Company
Website”) in August 2013 setting out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board. The Board believes that a diversity
of perspectives can be achieved through consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, work and professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
appointment of the members of the Board will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
of the Board. The ultimate decision will be based on merits of
the candidates and the contribution they will bring to the Board.
The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. The
nomination committee has primary responsibility for identifying
and nominating, for approval by the Board, suitably qualified
candidates to become members of the Board and, in carrying
out this responsibility, will give adequate consideration to the
board diversity policy.

The Board currently comprises eight members, of which seven
are male and one is female. The educational background
of the Board members cover finance, accounting, business
management, economics, chemistry, sociology, law and physics.
They also have different professional knowledge and work
experience. The valuable experience and expertise they bring
to our business are critical to the long-term development of the
Group.

The biographies of the Board members are set out in “Directors
and Senior Management Profile” on pages 31 to 40 of this
annual report. To the best knowledge of the Board, none of
the Directors are involved in any relationship as defined in
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules. The Company has also
maintained on the Company Website and the website of Hong
Kong Exchange and Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) (the
“HKEX Website”) an updated list of its Directors identifying their
roles and functions. Composition of the Board, by category of
directors, is explicitly identified in all the Company’s corporate
communications.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

EEgRESTLBEE
EEEN2013F8AXMEESGRKE
Z b R (A] £ A& 2 7 8 3k (www.
chinafoodsltd.com) (R R R #Bus]) £&
) EdEFEREFTeL b -
EEERABBLZEAFEMNZERER
Z bmMEE - B1E (BTRRM) MR -
FR -NIERBEEE TIERBERE
B R MEEBRETH FEESS
REMNZEHUAB AL BRA - WEE
BAERREREEEEYHEZEREES
THREZ LR - RERBIEARHT
B REAAEETeERRHENER M IE
RE - ARAPAL R EEETENESTT
EHREAXRBNKRBELEERTR S - 17
HLEECRBYVEBRRERABEBEER
AEFEEERENMAREESTSIE
MEBHE TEBITHBER 1o
EEEZTEHEZ LLERE -

EE2 RN AAK EFBH7IAR
THIAN - EFZERENHEESI RS
BogH IFER KE L2 4HE
ME EBRMES - AT AEETRD
HEANBLRTENTIELR - MH/EE
BEBEREENERNER  HAEE
MEEHREMEE -

EEeREBEZERESERAFTREINESR
BABZ [ZEEZERREEBEN] AN -
REESHANE ZEZEWMESR LT
#R M 8ED2FT R E M E M — B - &
RAMERARBI PR BEEL S M
AT AR A\ 2 8 5h (www.hkexnews.hk)
([BEBXSBUM]) LB 2EHTE
BUHNEACKEE - ARAME QR
BT ANEABEEEEHEIBEREES
SRR -



At present, the Board considers the diversity of the Board to be
sufficient.

The Company also places emphasis on diversity (including
gender diversity) across all levels of the Group. Among the
senior managers, one is male and one is female. Details on the
gender ratio of the Group can be found in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report which will be available on the
Company Website and the HKEX Website in the due course.

The Board will from time to time review the board diversity
policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Nomination, Appointment and Election/Re-Election of
Directors

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (available on
the Company Website) in November 2018 which provides
a framework and sets standards to assist the nomination
committee in identifying and nominating suitable candidates
for the Board’s consideration and to ensure that the Board
members has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business.

Pursuant to bye-law 111 of the Bye-laws, each director
(including those appointed for specific terms) shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and the
retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election. Director who
is appointed either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
director to the Board shall hold office until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment
and be subject to election at such meeting pursuant to bye-
law 94 of the Bye-laws. Pursuant to the CG Code, if an
independent non-executive director has served the Company
for more than nine years, such director’s further appointment
should be subject to separate resolution to be approved by the
shareholders. Information of Director who shall retire from office
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company is
set out on page 76 of this report.

All Directors (including non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) were appointed for
specific terms of three years and all existing Directors have
signed formal appointment letters with the Company with
respect to their directorship with the Company.
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Board Meeting and General Meeting

The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings a
year at approximately quarterly intervals with additional Board
meetings as and when required.

Notices for regular Board meetings or Board committee
meetings are sent to Directors or Board committee members
at least fourteen (14) days prior to such meetings, Directors or
Board committee members were invited to include any matters
which they thought appropriate in the agenda. For ad hoc
meetings, shorter notice may be given.

The company secretary assists the chairman of the Board or
other committees of the Board in preparing the agenda for
meetings and ensures that all relevant rules and regulations for
meeting proceedings are followed. Board papers were sent to
the Directors at least three (3) days before the intended dates of
Board meetings or Board committee meetings (or other agreed
period).

It is the practice of the Company to record in sufficient detail
of matters considered and decisions reached, including
concerns raised or dissenting views expressed, by the Board
and Board committees. Draft and final versions of minutes of
Board meetings and/or Board committee meetings are sent
to Directors or committee members (as the case may be) for
their comment and records respectively, in both cases within a
reasonable time after the meetings. The decision of the Board
can be made by written resolutions.

All minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings
are kept by the company secretary and are available to all
Directors for inspection. Every Board member has unrestricted
access to the advice and services of the company secretary to
enable them to discharge their duties effectively, and has the
liberty to seek external professional advice if so required. The
cost of procuring these professional services will be borne by
the Company.
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In case a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict
of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which
the Board has determined to be material, such matter will be
discussed through an actual meeting and will not be dealt with
by written resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with
no conflict of interest will be present at such meetings.

Directors play active role in the Company’s meetings through
contribution of their opinions and active participating in
discussion. During the year, other than resolutions passed by
all the Directors in writing, a total of seven Board meetings, an
annual general meeting at which the external auditor attended
and two special general meetings were held, and the attendance
of such meetings by each Director is set out below. In the
following table, the figures in brackets means the total number
of meetings held during each Director’s tenure throughout the
year:
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Annual Special
General General
Board Meeting Meeting
Meetings (Note 4) (Note 5)
BRAFAE BREIXE
Name of Director EEHR EEEEE (Wt it4) (Ht#£5)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Zhan Zaizohng (Note 1) REP KL (HiT1) N/ATER NATER NATEA
Mr. Shen Xinwen LET kA 7/(7) /(1) 1/(2)
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Qing Lijun (Chairman) BUERE(EE) 7/(7) 0/(1) 1/(2)
Mr. Cao Gaofeng (Note 2) BERE A (Kiz2) 4/(6) 0/(1) 1/(2)
Mr. Chen Gang BeR Bl 52 A= 7/(7) /(1) 1/(2)
Mr. Chen Zhigang (Note 3) PR AW 55 A& (M1 73) 0/(1) 1/(1)  N/A T@EF
Independent Non-executive BIUFHITES
Directors
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred EPk e 7/(7) /(1) 2/(2)
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben SEREE TI7) 1/(1) 1/(2)
Ms. Leung Ka Lai, Ada, sBs RRXBEUL L BEEHAES) 7/(7) 1/(1) 2/(2)
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Notes:

1. Mr. Zhan Zaizhong was appointed as an executive Director and
Managing Director with effect from 6 January 2025.

2. Mr. Cao Gaofeng was appointed as a non-executive Director with
effect from 26 April 2024.

3. Mr. Chen Zhigang resigned as a non-executive Director with
effect from 26 April 2024.

4. The annual general meeting of the Company was held on 11 June
2024, and more details are set out in the circular of the Company
dated 9 May 2024 and the poll results announcement of the
Company dated 11 June 2024.

. The special general meetings of the Company were held on 22
July 2024 and 6 December 2024, and more details are set out in
the circular of the Company dated 5 July 2024 and 18 November
2024 and the poll results announcement of the Company dated
22 July 2024 and 6 December 2024.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development
Mr. Cao Gaofeng and Mr. Zhan Zaizhong, being directors of
the Company appointed on 26 April 2024 and 6 January 2025
respectively, had obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules on 26 Aril 2024 and 6 January 2025
respectively, and each of them has confirmed he understood
his obligations as a director of the Company.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors, should keep abreast of
their collective responsibilities as directors and of the business
and activities of the Group. Each newly appointed Director
would receive from the chairman of the Company or executive
Directors’ briefings on the operations and business of the
Group and an induction package to ensure that he has a proper
understanding on his responsibilities under the relevant statues,
laws, rules and regulations.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. From time to time, the company secretary
disseminates information on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements
to the Directors to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices. The
Company will organise seminars on specific topics of
significance or interest for Directors and management staff and
sponsors Directors to attend professional development seminars
or other programmes where necessary.
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According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary
of training received by the Directors during the year is set out

below:
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REFRRUNTE  EFRAFERME
REIZBEHIIOT

Attending briefings,
seminars, conference and/or
reading materials relevant
to the director’s duties

and responsibilities

SHEEHRE - FIE -

AEEHER HBEHR

Name of Director EEHE EERERBEEENER
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Zhan Zaizhong (was appointed on R ¥ 4E 4 (R 202541 A6H

6 January 2025) BEET) N/AT 38
Mr. Shen Xinwen TRET A v
Non-executive Directors EHITES
Mr. Qing Lijun (Chairman) BNE xR (FE) 4
Mr. Cao Gaofeng (was appointed on & & 1§ 5t 4 (FR2024F4 526 H

26 April 2024) EERE) 4
Mr. Chen Zhigang (resigned on PR B 5 A (7202454 A 261

26 April 2024) BHE) 4
Mr. Chen Gang BeR Bl 45 A= v
Independent Non-executive Directors WY FEHITES
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred F/ELE v
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben EREp s v
Ms. Leung Ka Lai, Ada, sBs RREXT (Ruengs) v/

Directors’ Insurance

During the year, the Company arranged appropriate insurance
for Directors and officers of the Group.

EENRE

REERN > ARAREREAEEEZNRSR

BEABRETEENRR

TERBRERAT T 2024

o



o7

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1 3 &8 # &

Corporate Governance Function

As regards the functions of corporate governance, the Board
is responsible for developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance, reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, and the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report
contained in the annual report of the Company.

During the year, the Board has performed the corporate
functions by reviewing the Company’s corporate governance
practices.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established five committees, namely, the
executive committee, the audit committee, the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the environmental,
social and governance committee, to oversee corresponding
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All committees of Board have
defined terms of reference.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Currently, the executive committee consists of two executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Zhan Zaizhong who was the chairman of
the executive committee, and Mr. Shen Xinwen.

The terms of reference of the executive committee are available
on the Company Website. The primary responsibility of the
executive committee is to deal with and supervise the day-to-
day business operations, management and administration of
the Group. There are no minimum meeting requirements and
the executive committee shall meet as and when necessary for
proper discharge of its duties.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

EEERBEE

TEEERBEIE  EFSRANERR
AARRERERZBREER B K
EREERaRERBNEIIRHESR
FUR - ARAZHBR R ERIANGIER
REEMRTE  URARBETERERT
AlZBERRERARBDFRANCEE
AWME LR -

AEERN EZGREBRIARAND
XEBERRANBITEEE ABE -

EEZEE

EXeRUTHEZRES  DHARITE
g BHZZES FHZEE REEZ
EelkBRE HeRkEARZEEUEENR
REIEBOERARIE - TAEEEECERE
SUEHETHEBBERES -

’

0

HITEES

BRI MITRES@MMBANTESEMN
BRERERELE (RATZESIR) R
IREN SR

HWITZBEEMBRLEZCNERNAR
AW TR EEZEREEREER
EEASBAEXBNEE BERT
B-ATREEUERERIEHRE
HRBERRTERNEERETHRE -



REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Currently, the remuneration committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Mok Wai
Bun, Ben who is the chairman of this committee, Mr. Li Hung
Kwan, Alfred and Ms. Leung Ka Lai, SBS.

The terms of reference of the remuneration committee are
available on the Company Website and the HKEX Website.
The duties of the remuneration committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration
policy and structure for all Directors and senior management
and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and the
remuneration packages of individual non-executive Directors.

During the year, one meeting of the remuneration committee
was held and the attendance of the meeting by each committee
member is set out below. In the following table, the figures in
brackets means the total number of meetings held during each
member’s tenure throughout the year:
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FMWEES

BRl M Z8eh =28 IFRTE
FHEK BREEAELE(AZZES T
B)  ERBEERRREBER LT Bxne

) o

FHZEenBREREZC TIHNA,
AU L BEERGIE - HFNEE S
ITEZREARARFAEENSAERE
ZHHBRERBRAEZTGRHTERRZ
& RAE - TREBUNTEERSMER
ENBAFHGE BREIFSENT R
ReRMkBEEsR (BREMEERRS
RIEBBRRENRE)  UEERIE
HWOTESHFMEERESSRLER -

NS

REER  FHEZESRTT —RgH
BUZBEERBZHFEBREINNT - 5
TEME  BRABFERAFEAEK
BERETHEETHNERAH

Attendance/

Number of Meetings

Name of Committee Member ZESRENSA HE g3 K
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben (Chairman) REMEE (FE) 1/(1)
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred kb 1/(1)
Ms. Leung Ka Lai, Ada, sBS BREUT (BxHas) 1/(1)

The following is a summary of the work performed by the
remuneration committee during the year:

° reviewed the performance evaluation of all executive
Directors and senior management and made
recommendations to the Board on the performance bonus
for the year 2023 and 2024;

° reviewed the remuneration packages of all Directors and
senior management in 2024 and made a recommendation
to the Board on the adjustment of the remuneration of
independent non-executive Directors; and

FNEZEERAFEANTIEHEMT
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o reviewed letters of appointment of a non-executive
Director who re-appointed and made recommendations to
the Board on his remuneration packages.

o reviewed letters of appointment of a new non-executive
Director and made recommendations to the Board on his
remuneration packages.

Details of the remuneration of the Company’s directors for the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the note 11 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

Details of the emoluments (including basic salary and
performance bonus paid to the senior management (excluding
executive Directors of the Company) in year 2024 by band is as
follows:

s EHEHMMEWHN —RIFERITEEH
ZEE AURBENFTFHFERNES
SRNEZ -

s EHN - BHAANTESFHNZELE
YA FMFBRESRRLES -

KRB EEHE2024F12A318 EFE
MM EFBEINAFROPBRRH T
11-

R2024F X FTEMEBEAR (TEEXR
RAPNTER)NFHFM(BEEARATER
BAMREE) - MERFINWOT

HHER

Emolument Band

Number of Individuals'°e

A ;ﬁiﬁs}‘f

RMB2,000,001 to RMB2,500,000

A K #2,000,001% A E#2,500,000 3

Note

Include Mr. Zhan Zaizhong, who was appointed as an executive director
and managing director of the Company on 6 January 2025. Prior to the
appointment, he was the deputy general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola
Beverages Limited and is currently the chief executive officer of COFCO
Coca-Cola Beverages Limited.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the nomination committee consists
of three members, including a non-executive Director and
the chairman of the Board, namely Mr. Qing Lijun, who is the
chairman of the nomination committee and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred and
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben.

The terms of reference of the nomination committee are
available on the Company Website and the HKEX Website.
The duties of the nomination committee are mainly to review
the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and length of service) of the Board
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;
identify suitable candidates for appointment as directors;
make recommendations to the Board on appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors;
and assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and review whether non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) are spending enough time
to fulfill their duties annually.
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In reviewing the Board composition, the nomination committee
would take into account various aspects set out in the board
diversity policy.

In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board,
the nomination committee would consider candidates on merit
against objective criteria and with regards to the benefits of
the diversity of the Board and made reference to the nominate
policy of the Company.

During the year, one meeting of the nomination committee were
held and the attendance by each committee member is set out
below. In the following table, the figures in brackets means the
total number of meetings held during each member’s tenure
throughout the year:
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ERNEFSENE  REZBEEEEE
LT EBRRAEIINF ERE -

EHEBREANAZE=ZSR RAZEQ
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RBME -

AEER  REZBGEITT —REF
BUZEEREBZHFEERHINWNT - 5L
TRME > BRABRFERAFERESK
EEEHRASRITHNERA

Attendance/

Number of Meetings

Name of Committee Member ZEERENS HE @ XE
Mr. Qing Lijun (Chairman) BNERA (FE) 1/(1)
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred et 1/(1)
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben SEA A 1/(1)

The following is a summary of the work performed by the
nomination committee during the year:

° reviewed the structure, size and composition (including
the gender, age, cultural and education background, work
or professional experience, skills and knowledge, and
length of service) of the Board;

° reviewed the time required from non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) and
assessed whether they are spending enough time to fulfill
their duties;

° assessed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;
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o made recommendations to the Board on the election of
a non-executive Director as well as re-election of a non-
executive Director and an independent non-executive
Directors at the 2024 annual general meeting;

o made recommendations to the Board on the appointment
of a non-executive Director; and

° made recommendations to the Board on the re-
appointment of a non-executive Director.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the environmental, social and
governance committee consists of three members, including
an executive Director, namely Mr. Shen Xinwen, who is
the chairman of the environmental, social and governance
committee, a non-executive Director, namely Mr. Cao Gaofeng
and an independent non-executive Director, namely Mr. Mok
Wai Bun, Ben.

The primary duties of the environmental, social and governance
committee are comprehensively formulate and review the
administrative policies, strategies and structures of the Group’s
environmental, social and governance, review environmental,
social and governance related policies, regulations and trends,
and to provide decision-making advice to the Board of Directors
regarding the Group’s environmental, social and governance
strategies and operations, to ensure the company to comply
with requirements of applicable laws and regulations; monitor
and supervise the formulation and implementation of the
Group’s environmental, social and governance objectives;
identify external environmental, social and governance trends,
risks and opportunities, etc. The terms of reference of the
environmental, social and governance committee are available
on the Company Website.
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During the year, two meetings of the environmental, social and
governance committee were held and the attendance of the
meeting by each committee member is set out below. In the
following table, the figures in brackets means the total number
of meetings held during each member’s tenure throughout the
year:
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AREER RBE HEhERLEESETT
TWMAEgH BUZEGKEZHFERBR
HAMT - IEME - BHEABTIER
AEERSKEETHMBTHNS A

Attendance/

Number of Meetings

Name of Committee Member ZEEREHR HE @ XE

Mr. Shen Xinwen (Chairman) RET S () 2/(2)
Mr. Cao Gaofeng (appointed on B ER2024F4R26 B ERT)

26 April 2024) 0/(1)
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben SEA A 2/(2)
Mr. Chen Zhigang (resigned on BRI 55 A4 (R 20244E4 A 26 B L F)

26 April 2024) 0/(1)

The following is a summary of the work performed by the RE HeRkERZEEENAFEANT
environmental, social and governance committee during the EBEZ T ¢

year:

° reviewed the environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) report for the year of 2023;

° reviewed the staffing of the ESG reporting working group;

° reviewed various objectives and plans for enhancing the
quality of ESG reporting and the preparation of the report;
and

° reviewed the ESG indicators related to environment, safety
and quality along with the corresponding measures.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the audit committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Hung
Kwan, Alfred, who is the chairman of the audit committee, Mr.
Mok Wai Bun, Ben and Ms. Leung Ka Lai, Ada, sBS.
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The terms of reference of the audit committee are available on
the Company Website and the HKEX Website. The duties of
the audit committee are mainly to assist the Board to ensure
objectivity and credibility of financial reporting, to review
financial controls, internal controls and risk management
systems and to consider any findings of major investigations
on risk management and internal control matters and response
from the management. The audit committee’s responsibilities
also include making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its
resignation or dismissal * and to develop and implement policy
on engaging an external auditor to supply non-audit services.
The audit committee is further authorised by the Board to
investigate any activity within its terms of reference, and may
make recommendations to the Board to take appropriate actions
emanating from such investigations.

During the year, besides having discussed with the external
auditor on the nature and scope of the auditing and accounting
matters and reporting obligations before the commencement of
the audit for the year, the audit committee held five meetings
during the year. The attendance of the meetings by each
committee member is set out below. In the following table, the
figures in brackets means the total number of meetings held
during each member’s tenure throughout the year:

ERZEENMEBEESTANAL
B RERZ BHEY - BREREH
BETERBYEERRRYBEE
EBUERASMY B AR A E
2 MBERRAREERRNE AR
ZEMRAREBRNHEREBNE
KB BRI S 5 B 1) I -
S PEI VLS S DTN DT
MBI ENEERELAEERIRMERE
S~ i I A2 BB 0 5 B T B B A4
7R 5 1 17 7 99 8% 1 B 0 L 0 B AR A
B0 £ R R I B4 T 5N A BB 92 4%
e BUAIR S HOTE + 3 FIABT - B
ZRRE-SREFRERAS WA
BEANEMNED YREAWHASHE
ERIBLEEOTHRE -

AN JE R B 5 B AR T (F R B 4A A B Ah
BREMIREAMETNEENMEE
EHEUNREBEBERETI EREZES
AERBITTHAREH BUREEKE
ZHEGZBEAEINWT - HTEME -
BRABFERAFEARAZKEETH
RANEITH SR :

Attendance/

Number of Meetings

Name of Committee Member ZEEREHSR HE @ XH
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred (Chairman) FEBEEE (FE) 5/(5)
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben AR EE 5/(5)
Ms. Leung Ka Lai, Ada, sBs DPRBUL T (BEHE 5/(5)
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The following is a summary of the work performed by the audit
committee during the year:

° Considered and approved the adoption of the “The Non-
Assurance Services Concurrence Policy”;

° reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
approval of the 2023 annual results announcement and
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023;

° reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on
the approval of the 2024 interim results announcement,
and the unaudited interim financial statements for the six
months ended 30 June 2024;

o reviewed matters relating to the Company’s financial and
accounting policies and practices;

o reviewed continuing connected transactions of the Group
for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 and for
the six months ended 30 June 2024;

° reviewed and assessed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes;

o reviewed the internal audit results for the year ended 31
December 2023 and the six months ended 30 June 2024
and the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems, and considered whether any
major control deficiency had been identified;

° reviewed and approved the internal audit plan for the year
2024,

° made recommendation to the Board on the appointment
of Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as external auditor of the
Company for the year 2024.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, the fees paid or to be payable to the
Company’s external auditor are set out below:

BB BN &

RERR - MARAINEZEEN D
HEZNNEREIIMT

Fees paid/payable

Services rendered Fr i B9 AR 3% BN EANER
RMB’000

ARETIT

Annual audit services FREEBARS 2,800
Other assurance services* Hubh B RS 1,050
Total &t 3,850

*

Such services included, among others, interim review, results
announcement review, compliance review relating to continuing
connected transactions.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors, who are responsible for overseeing the
preparation of the Company’s accounts, receive monthly
management accounts and updates on the Group’s
performance and financial position and prospects prepared by
management of the Company on a regular basis. Management
of the Company was required to provide a detailed report(s)
and explanation to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other information put forward
for its approval. In preparing the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Board adopted appropriate
accounting policies consistently, made prudent and reasonable
judgements and estimates. The Board was not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the
consolidated financial statements of the Company on a going-
concern basis.

The Board is committed to present a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Group’s affairs to its
shareholders and the public in a timely manner. The interim
and annual results of the Company are published in accordance
with the disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.
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The reporting responsibilities of the Directors and the external
auditor are further set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”
of this annual report. For other financial disclosures required
under the Listing Rules are disclosed pursuant to statutory
requirements.

The Company is committed to ensuring compliance with
regulatory requirements under the Listing Rules, applicable
laws and regulations in handling connected transactions.
Accordingly, the Company implemented various internal control
mechanisms to capture and monitor connected transactions to
ensure that connected transactions are conducted under normal
commercial terms or on terms that are fair and reasonable
and properly disclosed and (if necessary) approved by the
independent shareholders of the Company in accordance with
the Listing Rules. Connected persons will be required to abstain
from voting in general meetings which considering the relevant
connected transactions. Details of the connected transactions
of the Company during the year are set out in the “Report of the
Directors” of this annual report.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems, and for reviewing the effectiveness of these systems
through the audit committee of the Board.

Sound risk management and internal control systems are based
on the Company’s good business ethics and culture, the quality
and capabilities of its employees, the direction of the Board,
and also the efficiency and capabilities of management.

Management of the Company, under the Board supervision, is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has established a sound and comprehensive risk
management and internal control system, formed a systematic
and effective system on segregation of duty and three lines of
defense in risk management, with each of the business units as
the first line of defense; the business supervision and inspection
departments at all levels as the second line of defense; and
internal audit department and disciplinary inspection office as
the third line of defense.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1 % & % #f &

B ROMNE B 2 B W E RN A F R
2B ZBEHRE] AE—Z R -5
ETHRAETHRE CEMBYBRES
TR RBOAGI R EFHKEE

ARRBOERBEXISINEBENA L
MR BREMRAPIET ZEER
EoR ARAHEITZRANALEIEH
Bl AEERERBEERS  BREAER
R —BEFIGERNERFAE 2GR
ET Y ZARER (WHE)REEL
MRBEARRRIB BRI E - BEAL
HEREREMBAEXSNBRRAE L
MERE - ARARRAFERETZE
REFRERAFRIEFTERE]IAN -

[ B I K R ER EE 42

EEemREEEREA RARNER
EIRAMAMEEHEREEE WRBE
EEERLZEERTELRARNERIE -

ReaRREENABEZRBEIZER
ARRREFOBEEERE  BTHER
BHEN BEFTENTRAAREEEON

Sz ER gL ) o
ARRMEREEEERNERT  AK
M IR AR EE RGN R - B
B

AEHEERRTETEN D MEEREE
MAMEZEERR  ERTHEAMNBE
DITEE BYTEBREE=EMR A
EXBHMPARE—BHR  EMEHFEER
ENFIRFE_BHR  ABBNLERHRA
EREZBHR -

TERBRERAT T 2024

O



o7

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1 3 &8 # &

The Group has established its risk management and internal
control systems based on the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring
Organisation of the Treadway Commission) risk management
framework.

The Group’s risk management covers the Company’s
headquarters and its subsidiaries, covering various risks
faced in operation and management, and focusing on and
continuously monitor the key risks.

According to the risk management strategy, the Group
conducts a comprehensive risk assessment every two years in
combination with the Group’s strategic and business objectives
and changes in the market environment. |dentify major risks
that adversely affect the achievement of strategic objectives and
prioritise the identified risks based on a set of standard criteria
and formulate a risk mitigation plan to monitor the risks to an
acceptable level.

The Group conducted a comprehensive risk assessment by the
end of 2024. The internal audit department summarised and
sorted the assessment results, and selected the top five risks
with the highest scores as the main risks faced by the Group
in 2024 and 2025, and formulated corresponding monitoring
measures. These risks mainly cover market competition, safe
production, cost pressure and China-United States relations.

The Group has consistently dealt with and monitored the
major risks that were assessed and identified the responsible
departments and accountable persons, the management
process and the corresponding reporting mechanism.

All bottling plants and departments had implemented risk
management measures in a serious and proactive manner, and
relevant major risks have been effectively controlled. There has
been no material risk event occurred within the Group in 2024.
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The Group’s monitoring work usually consists of:

Analysis and review: through conducting annual budget and
strategic plan reviews and other forms to set the Company’s
development goals, and determine business plans and
development strategies. Senior management holds general
manager office meetings and operation analysis meetings
to discuss major strategies, policy and overall issues of the
Company. Each affiliated company holds regular internal
management meetings to analyze budget execution, sales
management, production management and risk control matters.

Work management: reports of work are reviewed by
management personnel who are responsible for the relevant
functions.

Physical monitoring: ensuring the safety of equipment, inventory
and other assets, and conducting regular inspections.

Analysis of operational indicators: conducting analysis of
operational and financial data on regular basis to ensure early
identification of existing problems, so that any necessary
rectification works can be done in a timely manner.

Separation of duties: responsibilities of employees are divided
according to the principle of separation of duties, so that the
checks and balances are strengthened and the probability and
risk of errors are reduced.

The Group has established effective systems and procedures
to ensure that employees are able to identify, document and
report on operational, financial and compliance information
while performing their duties.

The Group has established an independent internal audit
department and a disciplinary inspection office which report
directly to the senior management and the audit committee of
the Company.
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In 2024, the internal audit department completed the annual
audit plan and audit requirements approved by the management
and the audit committee. Based on risk assessments and
the needs of the management, the internal audit department
conducted internal control audits and special audits in the
important risk areas of the Group. It has focused on the
rectification of problems found during the audit, and have
effectively promoted management improvements and reduced
operating risks.

The internal audit department assists the audit committee to
assess the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and attends meetings of the audit
committee at least twice a year, and reports on the work it has
undertaken and its principal audit findings.

The Group has also designed and formulated appropriate
policies and control measures to safeguard its assets against
unauthorized use and disposition, and to ensure compliance
with applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Company
maintains reliable accounting records, and financial information
in accordance with the relevant accounting standards and
reporting requirements, and properly identifies and manages
risks that may affect the performance of the Company.

Such systems and internal controls are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives. They can only provide reasonable, and not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

In respect of 2024, the Board has reviewed, through the
audit committee, the work of the internal audit department,
and its audit findings in relation to the risk management and
internal control systems (including financial, operational and
compliance controls), and considers the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group are effective and
adequate, and that the Company had complied with the
Code Provision on risk management and internal control.
The qualifications and experience of the staff of the Group’s
accounting, financial reporting and internal audit functions, and
the training programmes, budgets and the resources available
to these functions have been reviewed and are considered to be
adequate.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has formulated the “Inside Information Disclosure
Policies and Guidelines of China Foods Limited”, which has
set out clearly the procedures for the identification, report and
disclosure of inside information to ensure that the Company is
able to disclose inside information properly on a timely, fair and
lawful manner, and keep confidential before such information
is approved appropriately, so as to enhance the market
transparency and provide better protection for shareholders and
investors.

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted a whistle-blowing policy (available
on the Company Website) and the policy is intended to
encourage and assist its employees and other stakeholders (e.g.
customers, contractors, suppliers, creditors, and debtors, etc.)
who deal with the Group to report any misconduct, malpractice,
or irregularity within the Group through a confidential reporting
channel (to the extent possible). The Group will handle the
reports with care and treat the whistleblowers’ concerns fairly
and properly. Employees of the Group are also assured of
protection against unfair dismissal, victimization, or unwarranted
disciplinary action. When reports are received by the chairman
of the audit committee and/or the general manager of the
internal audit department, the audit committee/the internal audit
department will then evaluate the validity and relevance of the
concerns raised, and decide if a full investigation is necessary.
If an investigation is warranted, an investigation team will be
appointed by the audit committee/the internal audit department
to look into the reported matter, and the investigation report will
be reported to the audit committee.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY POLICY

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy (available
on the Company Website) and the policy sets out the guidelines
and responsibilities of directors, employees, those acting in an
agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group and third
parties. The Group is committed to upholding and maintaining
the highest standards of integrity, honesty, fairness, impartiality
and transparency in conducting its business and operation.
The Group will investigate the reported matter according to the
procedures set out in the anti-corruption policy.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Liu Kit Yee, Linda had been the company secretary of
the Company since 2004 and retired on 31 December 2024.
During the year, Ms. Liu undertook not less than 15 hours
of the relevant professional training to update her skills and
knowledge.

Mr. Law Wing Hee has been appointed to succeed Ms. Liu Kit
Yee as the company secretary with effect from 1 January 2025.

All Directors may seek the advice and assistance of the
company secretary in respect of their duties and the effective
operation of the Board and Board committees. The company
secretary is also responsible for facilitating good information
flow among the Directors.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Special General Meetings on Requisition
by Shareholders

Pursuant to bye-law 67 of the Bye-Law and section 74 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, shareholders shall have a
right to request the Board to convene a special general meeting
of the Company (“SGM”). Shareholders holding in aggregate
of not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid up capital of the
Company may send a written requisition to the Board to request
for convening a SGM.

The written requisition, duly signed by the requisitionists, may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one
or more requisitionists, must state the purposes of the meeting
and must be deposited at the registered office of the Company.
The Company would take appropriate actions and make
necessary arrangements.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one (21) days from the
date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
SGM, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than
one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM, but any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three (3) months from the said date.

The SGM convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in

the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which SGMs
are to be convened by Directors.
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Procedures for Making Proposals at General Meetings
by Shareholders

The following shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal
(which may properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at
a general meeting of the Company:

(a) any member(s) representing not less than one-twentieth
(5%) of the total voting rights of all the members of the
Company; or

(b) not less than 100 members holding shares in the
Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal desired to be put forward
at the general meeting, duly signed by the requisitionists, may
consist of several documents in like from each signed by one or
more requisitionists, must be deposited at the registered office
of the Company, together with a sum reasonably sufficient
to meet the Company’s expenses in giving effect thereto, not
less than six weeks before the general meeting (in case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution) or not less than
one week before the general meeting (in case of any other
requisition). The Company would take appropriate actions
and make necessary arrangement once a valid requisition is
received.

Procedures for Director’s Nomination and Election by
Shareholders

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a
retiring director for election as a director at a general meeting,
the shareholder should lodge at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong at 33/F., COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, (a) a written notice signed
by such shareholder (other than the proposed person) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting of his/her intention
to propose such person for election; and (b) a written notice by
the proposed person indicating his/her willingness to be elected
together with the personal information of the proposed person
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and consent
of publication of his/her personal information.
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The period during which the aforesaid notice may be given
shall be seven days (or such other period as determined and
announced by the Board). Such period will commence on the
day after the dispatch of the notice of general meeting and
end no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting. The Company would take appropriate actions and
make necessary arrangements, once valid notice is received.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company attaches great importance to communicate
with shareholders, both individual and institutional, and a
shareholders communication policy has been adopted by the
Company to ensure the shareholders and potential investors
are provided with the Company’s information in a timely and
effective manner.

The means to communicate with the shareholders and the
investment community used by the Company including the
following:

i corporate communications such as annual reports, interim
reports and circulars are made available to shareholders
in both printed form and electronic means through the
Company Website and the HKEX Website;

ii. corporate announcements are published on the Company
Website and the HKEX Website;

iii. corporate information is made available on the Company
Website;

iv. annual and special general meetings provide a forum for
the shareholders to make comments and exchange views
with the Directors and management executives; and

V. Tricor Investor Services Limited, the branch share registrar
and transfer office of the Company in Hong Kong serves
the shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend
payment and related matters.
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Shareholders may at any time send their written enquiries
and concerns to the Company, either by post or facsimiles,
together with his/her contact details, such as postal address,
email address or fax number, via the company secretary whose
contact details are as follows:

The Company Secretary
China Foods Limited

33/F., COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2833 0388
Fax: (852) 2833 0380

Having considered the multiple channels of communication and
engagement in place, the Board is satisfied that shareholder
communication policy has been properly in place during the
year and is effective.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company’s memorandum of
association and bye-laws during the year. A copy of the latest
consolidated version of the memorandum of association and
bye-laws is available on the Company website and the HKEx
Website.

A copy of the latest consolidated version of the memorandum of
association and bye-laws is available on the Company website
and the HKEx Website.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

We have always believed that maintaining a high standard,
effective and multi-channel communication system and
ensuring the transparency and timeliness of information
disclosure enables investors to accurately understand the latest
developments of the Group. It also helps to enhance investors’
confidence and shareholders’ value.

Our strategic objectives of investor relations function have been
clearly defined as follows:

1)  to raise the profile of the Company as a leading participant
in the industry, that is in line with our strategic positioning
within the group of COFCO Corporation;

2)  to build a long-term and trusting shareholder base;

3) to enhance the knowledge of our investors about the
Company; and

4) to understand the key concerns of the investment
community and provide timely feedback to our
management, and to make constant improvement based
on the constructive feedback.

Interactions between the Company and the investor community:

We believe effective communication and fair information
disclosure builds investor confidence, and also facilitates
constructive feedbacks for continuous improvement.

In 2024, apart from disclosing transparent and fair financial
and operational information in annual and interim reports and
having direct communicate with shareholders at annual and
special general meetings, we have also effectively bridging the
Company and the investment community through:

° Interactive communications between our management
and investors/analysts directly at post-results briefings,
investor annual conferences/seminar and regular investor
meetings; and

° Collection of market feedback, such as research reports
and market views, for the review of our management.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased
to present its report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024
(the “year”), which were approved by the Board on 25 March
2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Currently, the Company through its subsidiaries operates
beverage business. There were no changes in the nature of the
Group’s principle activities during the year under review.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group and a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s business performance of the year, a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group,
particulars of important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the financial year, as well as the
Group’s future business outlook can be found in the sections
headed “Statement from Chairman”, “Statement from Managing
Director”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Notes to
Financial Statements” in this report. Such review and discussion
form parts of this report of the Directors.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s main operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
while the Company itself is incorporated in Bermuda with its
shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The Group’s operations are regulated by the applicable laws
and regulations of Bermuda, Hong Kong and PRC. For the year
ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, the
Board was not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Company.

Please refer to the discussions in this report, the “Corporate
Governance Report” and the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” for further details of the Group’s
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In view of the Board, the Company has applied the principles
and complied with all the applicable code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) throughout
the year, save and except for code provision C.2.1 which
stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should
not be performed by the same individual. During the year, the
roles of chairman and chief executive were assumed by Mr.
Qing Lijun. Effective from 6 January 2025, Mr. Zhan Zaizhong
was appointed by the Board as the executive director and the
managing director of the Company (“Managing Director”, being
the chief executive of the Company). Following the appointment
of Mr. Zhan Zaizhong, the Company has complied with code
provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code. Details of
the Company’s work in corporate governance during the year
are disclosed in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages
41 to 70 of this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance is contained in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” which will be available on the websites
of the Company (www.chinafoodsltd.com) and Hong Kong
Exchange and Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) in due
course.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as of that
date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 97 to 207.

There was no interim dividend declared for the six months
ended 30 June 2024 (30 June 2023: NIL).
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The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.153 (31 December 2023: RMB0.148) per ordinary share
for the year ended 31 December 2024, subject to the approval
at the annual general meeting to be held on Wednesday, 11
June 2025. The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2024 will be distributed on or around Wednesday,
9 July 2025 to shareholders of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Friday,
20 June 2025. As disclosed in the Company’s announcement
made on 9 June 2013, the Company received the approvals
of State Administration of Taxation of the People’s Republic
of China which confirmed that (i) the Company is regarded
as a Chinese resident enterprise; and (ii) relevant enterprise
income tax policies shall be applicable to the Company starting
from 1 January 2013. Thus, the Company will withhold 10%
enterprise income tax when it distributes the final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 to non-resident enterprise
shareholders of the Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote
at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 5 June
2025 to Wednesday, 11 June 2025, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order
to qualify for attending and voting at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, all transfer documents, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 4 June 2025.

For determining the shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed
final dividend, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Thursday, 19 June 2025 to Friday, 20 June 2025,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. The ex-dividend date will be Tuesday, 17
June 2025. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend,
all transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 18 June 2025.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial
statements, is set out on page 208 of this report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy in November 2018.
Pursuant to the dividend policy, the Company may declare and
distribute dividends to shareholders of the Company to allow
them to share the Company’s profits and for the Company to
retain adequate reserves for future growth.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject
to the absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of
final dividend will be subject to the approval of the shareholders
of the Company. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board
shall also take into account, inter alia, the Group’s financial
results, the overall financial position of the Group, the relevant
financial covenants of the Group, liquidity position and capital
requirement of the Group, surplus received from the Company’s
subsidiaries and any other factors that the Board deem
appropriate. The Company’s ability to pay dividends is also
subject to the requirements of the Listing Rules and all relevant
applicable laws, rules and regulations in the Bermuda, Hong
Kong and the Company’s memorandum and association and
bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”).

The Board will continually review the dividend policy and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update,
amend and/or modify the dividend policy at any time, and the
dividend policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company that dividends will be paid in any
particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the Company’s authorised or
issued share capital during the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company and its subsidiaries have no share option
scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 38 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted to approximately
RMB2,770,744,000, of which approximately RMB427,975,000
has been proposed as a final dividend for the year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movement in the property, plant and equipment of
the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note
15 to the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, less than 6% of the Group’s total sales were
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers. Approximately
59% of the Group’s total purchases were attributable to
the Group’s five largest suppliers, with the largest supplier
accounting for approximately 44%.

Apart from the Company’s ultimate controlling shareholder,
COFCO Corporation (“COFCO”), which is one of the Group’s
five largest suppliers, none of the directors of the Company
(“Director(s)”) or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the other four largest suppliers or the
five largest customers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Current Board Members

Executive Directors:
Mr. Zhan Zaizhong
Mr. Shen Xinwen

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Qing Lijun (Chairman)
Mr. Cao Gaofeng

Mr. Chen Gang

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred

Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben

Ms. Leung Ka Lai Ada, SBS

Former-Director:
Mr. Chen Zhigang (resigned on 26 April 2024)

All Directors including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors are appointed with specific terms.

According to bye-law 94 of the Bye-laws, any director appointed
by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
director to the Board shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject
to election at such meeting. In this regard, Mr. Zhan Zaizhong
will retire and, being eligible, offer himself for election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of
independence has been received from each of them.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGMENT
PROFILE

Biographical details of the Company’s Directors and Senior
Management are set out in the “Directors and Senior
Management Profile” on pages 31 to 40 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transactions, arrangements and contract of significance
to the Group’s business to which the Company, or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board is authorised by the shareholders to fix the directors’
remuneration at general meetings. The Directors’ emoluments
are determined by the Board based on the recommendation
by the remuneration committee of the Board with reference
to their job complexity, workload and responsibilities, and
the Company’s remuneration policy. Details of the Directors’
emoluments for the year are set out in note 11 to the financial
statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified by the Company out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or
incur or about the execution and discharge of his/her duties
or in relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and officers of the Company during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.
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CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS,
OPTIONS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

There is no conversion or subscription rights under any
convertible securities, warrants or options or similar rights
issued or granted by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
during the year or subsisted at the end of the year. In addition,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company,
or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or chief
executive of the Company has any interest or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which will have to be notified
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which any
Director is deemed or taken to be under such provisions of the
SFO), or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register to be kept by the Company
or which are required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies contained in the
Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND FTERRREMALRRS R
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT MERO2EBER AR

POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

M2024F12A318  REEFHF R PEK
BIEXVEBE 2R E3D WMME A AT+ 8
RIKE 5 M H B & 0] 336K B AR
BB ZERERMA - TERRAAK
NERGRAABRO ZEERABRIT

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
substantial shareholders in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company as notified to the Company under Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the register of
interests of the Company required to be kept under Section 336
of the SFO, were as follows:

Number of shares held

kB8 E
Directly Through Approximate
beneficially controlled percentage of
Name of substantial shareholder owned corporations Total issued shares
HERTROMN
TERRER HEBRES EBTELE wny BHABEI
Note(4) Ht &t (4)
China Foods (Holdings) Limited 2,072,688,331(L) - 2,072,688,331(L) 74.10%
PR Rm(FER)BRAF
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited - 2,072,688,331(L)  2,072,688,331(L) 74.10%
HREE(EB)ARAR Note (1) Ftat(1)
COFCO - 2,072,688,331(L)  2,072,688,331(L) 74.10%
thig Note(2) Hfiz(2)
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. 166,578,700(L) 166,578,700(P) 5.96%
FIL Limited 165,384,000(L) - 165,384,000(L) 591%
Pandanus Partners L.P. 165,384,000(L) 165,384,000(L) 591%
Note(3) &£ (3)
Pandanus Associates Inc. 165,384,000(L) 165,384,000(L) 5.91%
Note(3) Tt (3)
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Notes:

(1)

(L)
(P)

Save

COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (“COFCO (HK)”) was deemed to
be interested in 2,072,688,331 shares held by China Foods
(Holdings) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO (HK).

COFCO was deemed to be interested in 2,072,688,331 shares
held by China Foods (Holdings) Limited and COFCO (HK), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO.

Based on the disclosure of interest filed by Pandanus Associates
Inc., FIL Limited is a controlled corporation of Pandanus Partners
L.P., which in turn is a controlled corporation of Pandanus
Associates Inc..

The percentages were calculated based on the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2024, i.e.

2,797,223,396 shares.

Indicates a long position
Indicates a lending pool

as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2024, the

Directors were not aware of any other persons who had interests

or sh

ort positions in the shares or underlying shares of the

Company.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Group
conducted the following transactions with certain connected
persons of the Company including COFCO, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “COFCO Group”) and COFCO’s associates.
These transactions constituted continuing continued
transactions and are subject to reporting requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

1. FINANCIAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

On 2 November 2021, the Company, COFCO Coca-Cola
Supply Chain (Tianjin) Limited (0 & A] O 7] £ i fE §2
(K3E) AR AT (“Supply Chain (Tianjin)”), an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and
COFCO Finance Corporation Limited (“COFCO Finance”,
a connected person of the Company, entered into a
financial services agreement for a term of three years from
14 December 2021 to 13 December 2024 (the “Financial
Services Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Financial Services Agreement, COFCO
Finance shall provide Supply Chain (Tianjin) and the
Group depository services, fund transfer services,
entrustment loan services and the other financial services.
Details of the Financial Services Agreement were disclosed
in an announcement of the Company dated 2 November
2021 and a circular of the Company dated 23 November
2021.

During the period from 1 January 2024 to 13 December
2024, the maximum daily deposit amount (including the
corresponding interest accrued thereon) placed by the
Group with COFCO Finance was approximately RMB790
million.
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NEW FINANCIAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

On 28 October 2024, the Company, Supply Chain
(Tianjin), and COFCO Finance entered into a financial
services agreement for a term of three years from 14
December 2024 to 13 December 2027 (the “New
Financial Services Agreement”).

Pursuant to the New Financial Services Agreement,
COFCO Finance shall provide, among others, Supply
Chain (Tianjin) and the Group deposit services, fund
settlement services and the other financial services
(including entrustment loan services). The maximum daily
deposit balance amount (including the corresponding
interest accrued thereon) placed by the Group with
COFCO Finance for the period from 14 December 2024 to
13 December 2025, 14 December 2025 to 13 December
2026 and 14 December 2026 to 13 December 2027
are RMB800 million, RMB800 million and RMB800
million, respectively. Details of the New Financial Services
Agreement were disclosed in an announcement of the
Company dated 28 October 2024 and a circular of the
Company dated 15 November 2024.

During the period from 14 December 2024 to 31
December 2024, the maximum daily deposit balance
amount (including the corresponding interest accrued
thereon) placed by the Group with COFCO Finance was
approximately RMB790 million.
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CULIANGWANG PRODUCTS FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT

On 14 December 2022, COFCO Coca-Cola Beverage
Limited (“COFCO Coca-Cola”), an indirectly 65%-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and 1 B 5 & @ & &
(EF) AR A Bl(Zhibaishuo Company Beverage
Technology (Xiamen) Co., Ltd.) (“Zhibaishuo Company”)
(formerly known as EffHEIH BB ER A F
Xiamen Culiangwang Beverage Technology Co., Ltd.),
a connected person of the Company, entered into the
sales and distribution cooperation framework agreement
(“New Framework Agreement”) for a term of two years
commencing from 1 January 2023 and expiring on 31
December 2024. Pursuant to New Framework Agreement,
members of COFCO Coca-Cola group shall purchase from
members of the group of Zhibaishuo Company and its
associates, certain plant-based protein beverage products
under the trademarks of “fEE " « "R - “JRHBE "
“BZ Yt B ER” as set out in the New Framework Agreement.
Details of the New Framework Agreement were disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 14 December
2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total amount
paid/payable by members of COFCO Coca-Cola group to
members of the group of Zhibaishuo Company and its
associate for the purchase of Culiangwang products was
approximately RMB8.09 million.
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2023 COFCO MUTUAL PROVISION AGREEMENT

On 7 November 2023, the Company and COFCO
entered into a mutual provision of products and services
agreement for a term of three years commencing from 1
January 2024 and expiring on 31 December 2026 (the
“2023 COFCO Mutual Provision Agreement”). Pursuant to
the 2023 COFCO Mutual Provision Agreement, the COFCO
Group and COFCQ’s associates shall supply certain raw
materials, packaging materials, products and provide
certain services to the Group while the Group shall supply
certain consumer products and provide certain services
to the COFCO Group and COFCO’s associates. The
annual caps in respect of (a) the purchase of products
and services by the Group from the COFCO Group and
COFCO’s associates for the years ending 31 December
2024, 2025 and 2026 will be RMB2,891 million,
RMB3,348 million and RMB3,852 million, respectively;
and (b) the provision of products and services by the
Group to the COFCO Group and COFCO’s associates for
the years ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026
will be RMB4.0 million, RMB4.5 million and RMB5.0
million, respectively. Details of the 2023 COFCO Mutual
Provision Agreement were disclosed in an announcement
of the Company dated 7 November 2023 (the “2023
Announcement”) and a circular of the Company dated 27
November 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, (a) the total
amount paid/payable by the Group to the COFCO Group
and COFCOQ’s associates for the purchase of products, raw
materials, packaging materials, services and others was
approximately RMB1,788 million; and (b) the total amount
paid/payable by COFCO Group and COFCO’s associates to
the Group for the supply of certain products, services and
others was approximately RMB1.19 million.
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2023 CONCENTRATE PURCHASE AGREEMENT

On 7 November 2023, the Company and Coca-
Cola (Shanghai) entered into a concentrate purchase
agreement for a term of three years commencing from 1
January 2024 and expiring on 31 December 2026 (the
“2023 Concentrate Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to
the 2023 Concentrate Purchase Agreement, members
of the Group with prior written approval from Coca-
Cola (Shanghai) shall purchase concentrates from Coca
Cola (Shanghai) at prices determined by Coca-Cola
(Shanghai). The annual caps in respect of the purchase
of the concentrates by the Group for the years ending
31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026 will be RMB6,000
million, RMB7,200 million and RMB8,700 million,
respectively. Details of the 2023 Concentrate Purchase
Agreement were disclosed in the 2023 Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total amount
paid/payable by the Group to the Coca-Cola (Shanghai)
for the purchase of concentrates was approximately
RMB4,658million.

2023 PACKAGING MATERIALS AND SERVICES
PROVISION AGREEMENT

On 7 November 2023, Tianjin Bottler and Zijiang entered
into a provision of packaging materials and services
agreement for a term of three years commencing from
1 January 2024 and expiring on 31 December 2026
(the “2023 Packaging Materials and Services Provision
Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2023 Packaging Materials
and Services Provision Agreement, Zijiang together with its
subsidiaries and associates (collectively “Zijiang Group”)
shall supply packaging materials and provide conversion
services and other services to Tianjin Bottler. The annual
caps in respect of the packaging materials and related
services supplied by Zijiang Group for the years ending 31
December 2024, 2025 and 2026 will be RMB99 million,
RMB110 million and RMB130 million, respectively. Details
of the 2023 Packaging Materials and Services Provision
Agreement were disclosed in the 2023 Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total amount
paid/payable by the Zijiang Group to the Tianjin Bottler for
the supply of packaging materials and provide conversion
services and other services was approximately RMB10.88
million.
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ANNUAL REVIEW OF CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s auditor, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited,
was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
numbered 1 to 6 disclosed above by the Group in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions numbered 1 to 6
for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the report from
the Company’s auditor, and confirmed that these continuing
connected transactions were:

1. entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Company;

2. either on normal commercial terms or, on terms no less
favourable to the Company than terms available to or from
(as appropriate) independent third parties; and

3. in accordance with the terms of respective agreements
governing the transactions and are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and its shareholders
as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, no Directors are considered to have interests
in any business which is likely to compete directly or indirectly
with that of the Group.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

KERERZ2FEEMN

ARRRBMABELSAMELMA
RARCHEEFREZEGIMASMR
i 1 2 78 25 B B BB AR 7% 2 1 2300055 (&
AT RR) &Y Fﬁiﬂﬂ‘%ﬁﬂ%ﬁi%ﬁﬁ%ﬁl\
MEREE] &2 REBHBFE7405
[EREE J:m%EHIJFﬁL#’thEﬁL 2 5 Y
ZBED K AR BN EBER S F
HER - RBBE BT EEMARRA A
B R ™ A7 Bl S5 14A 561K ) B & (R 2

ERRMT  mFHAEH LAAEECKE
MEIECEFEREXFNERMALE -

BYRITESCEMN L £20245F
12A31IB I E 2 126N FERE
RGRANRZBMORE  THERZS
SEREBER ST

1. RARBRABEERBBETET

2. WM MBEEKICET ETEBER
BFARAISKKE GRIERME) B
NEZFZIERET &

3. $E%F%’J§EEA%§%Z$HFET5%§%1%?A’
HET RFABANEARRRA
PR H) BB 2R -

EERNBRFERB2ER

AEERN BEEEWESNAIRERS
REREAKREXBBREF 2EMNED
A



PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as
at the date of this report.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately RMB9,500,000.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

As of the date of this report, no significant subsequent events
happened.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in normal
course of business are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements. In relation to those related party
transactions that constituted connected transactions under
the Listing Rules, they have complied with the applicable
requirements in accordance with the Listing Rules.

REVIEW BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has reviewed with the auditor of the
Company the audited financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 and has also discussed auditing, internal
control and financial reporting matters, including the review of
the accounting practices and principles adopted by the Group.
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AUDITORS

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited was appointed as auditor of the
Company at the special general of the Company held on 22 July
2024.

PricewaterhouseCoopers retired at the annual general of the
Company held on 11 June 2024.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong
Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offers themselves
for reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditor of the Company
and authorizing the Directors to fix their remuneration will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

QING Lijun
Chairman

Hong Kong
25 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

@ ? bakertilly
K B (28] PR

To the shareholders of China Foods Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Foods Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 89 to 207, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matter

BREBEITER

FAREFTSER

RETFRERERFNFTEHE R
RERNPEAVBERERNETRREER
MEH FLEREERMBAEEBRS
MBEBRNREARREETREN o Ff
THELEHEHREBNER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNBFFNAEERARESSH

Impairment assessment of goodwill and indefinite-lived franchise rights

BEREASSTRENBHCERNBRENG

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s goodwill and indefinite-
lived franchise rights amounted to RMB1,846,799,000 and
RMB1,659,475,000 respectively (collectively the “Intangible
Assets under Assessment”) and no provision for impairment
has been recognised on these assets.

2024512 A31H - ESEMEEB REA S0 T ETE T
KEFED BB ANREE1,846,799,000 T F1 A R#1,659,475,000
T(HEAIHETINERLEE]) UARHZZEERRARE
A f o

The Company’s management (“management”) has performed
impairment assessment on these Intangible Assets under
Assessment on an annual basis. For the purpose of the
impairment assessment, management has allocated the
Intangible Assets under Assessment to a group of cash-
generating units under the same operating segment (the
“Beverage CGUs”) and determined the recoverable amounts
of the Beverage CGUs based on value-in-use calculations.
These value-in-use calculations require management to
forecast the future cash flows of the Beverage CGUs based
on the approved financial budgets. The key assumptions as
adopted by management in the value-in-use calculations
primarily include revenue growth rate, gross profit margins,
long-term revenue growth rate and pre-tax discount rate.
ERANERE([ERE]) BFHMULSAETNETLEE
EITRER S - WRENEMS @  BERED KA EP R
EEIRGRA—RESHBTH—EHRELSML ([RABERE
ELEEM])  WRECAEEAERERHRSELSEMN
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill and indefinite-lived
franchise rights included:
HRMERERERSG T EENISFLERE
BREMNEEENEFEE

Understanding and evaluating the
management’s internal controls in
relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill and the indefinite-lived
franchise rights;
THRIFHEEEEREREASH
HETE B K5 AT AR & M RO RUE RT i 7 EAE R
B A BB 2 )

Assessing the reliability of management’s
cash flow forecast by comparing the
historical cash flow forecasts with the
actual results of the Beverage CGUs;
BRAIEELRSREIMKLRSE
EEMNERERRIEEREER SR
TEORIEY AT S 14

Evaluating the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the valuation expert
engaged by management to perform the
impairment assessment;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

REETER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT J&1/ (2 2l #i &

FAEFTSIE (F)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMWEFOMNEEFERENSZE

Impairment assessment of goodwill and indefinite-lived franchise rights (continued)

BEREASS TRENSFEERNRENMG (B

We have identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
and indefinite-lived franchise rights as a key audit matter due
to the significance of the related balances and the significant
management judgement and estimations involved in the
impairment assessment.
HAREAMRENEZN U RREN GRS RN EREE 6
Mikct > ZMEKEE REASH T HEENFFEEEAR
B fEEERS—EEENESFE -

Details of key management judgement and estimation are
disclosed in note 4 and note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FEEBHB RAFTHOFBERGES B RERM 4R EL7
R o

With the assistance of our internal
valuation expert, evaluating the
appropriateness of the discount cash
flow model and pre-tax discount rates as
used by management in determining the
value-in-use of the Beverage CGUs;
EAREEERBE T  FEERER
BESRHRELEUNEREERFR
EANFTRESRRE L AR EN
EE M

Testing the mathematical accuracy of
the value-in-use calculations prepared
by the management;
AREEERRENERAEEFENHE
RN

Evaluating the management’s future
cash flow forecast of the Beverage
CGUs including the reasonableness of
the forecast in the context of historical
results of the Group’s businesses and
production capacity, and comparing
the parameters used (including revenue
growth rates and gross profit margins)
with the market data and information as
obtained from our independent research;
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ReREN BREEESEEBNEE
EINRESEEE S THEANS RN
WHERNL2E(BERABREERR
EMR)EZMBUARESHMIEE
B EREITH R

TERBRERAT T 2024

o)



97

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT &1/ (2 2( A7 &

Key audit matter

BRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMWESFOMNEEERENER

Impairment assessment of goodwill and indefinite-lived franchise rights (continued)

BEREASS TRENSFSERNBENMG ()
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Challenging the appropriateness of the
discount rates and long-term revenue
growth rates used by management by
reference to those discount rates as
adopted by comparable companies,
market data and information as obtained
from our independent research;
2BALRAFRAOITRE - WI5E8E
MBMBIHRESHNES  HEEE
KAMNFTRENRAWAEREZREE
MR AR

Evaluating management’s sensitivity
analysis to ascertain the impact of
reasonably possible changes of key
assumptions and performing re-
calculation independently for the
downside changes in management’s
sensitivity analysis, focusing on the most
sensitive assumptions, including revenue
growth rates, gross profit margins and
discount rate; and
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Assessing the sufficiency of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of impairment
assessment of goodwill and the indefinite
lives intangible assets with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 19
March 2024.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chau Fong, Lily.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 March 2025

Chau Fong, Lily

Practising Certificate Number PO8090
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mAEE@mBR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #; % 20244 12 A31 HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAREFIR)

2024 2023
2024 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M =E ARET T ARET T
Revenue A 5 21,491,811 21,446,436
Cost of sales $HE R A (13,370,967) (13,902,630)
Gross profit E R 8,120,844 7,543,806
Distribution and selling DR EE ST
expenses (5,871,192) (5,469,877)
Administrative expenses FTBE (537,598) (530,444)
Net impairment losses on TREERERETRE
financial assets (8,070) (22,938)
Other income, gains and HMWA - a R EE
losses, net R 7 161,915 328,414
Operating profit SRR 1,865,899 1,848,961
Finance costs & R A 8 (4,747) (4,971)
Share of results of associates  JE(LEEZ AR ¥4 18 5,252 =
Profit before tax B A0 % A 1,866,404 1,843,990
Income tax expense T8 ®i sz 9 (443,827) (458,428)
Profit for the year FREFR 10 1,422,577 1,385,562
Profit for the year is AEERMEER
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company - VNEIE RPN 860,535 832,577
— Non-controlling interests — e R R 562,042 552,985
1,422,577 1,385,562
Earnings per share BRER
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) EAXREE(ARES) 14 30.76 29.76

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these BEM BB R A LR & IS R AR -
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mETHEWERK

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # & 20244 12 A31 B IFF[E
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAREEZI/R)

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFT
Profit and other comprehensive REE R R H A
income for the year 2HEKE 1,422,577 1,385,562
Total comprehensive income EEFREZEKE
for the year attributable to: AR
— Owners of the Company - VNGIEZ =N 860,535 832,577
— Non-controlling interests — IR i = 562,042 552,985
1,422,577 1,385,562
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these BEMT BB sE R AR A I IS SRR M AR EB D ©

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBI &

As at 31 December 2024 722024 12 A 31 H
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AARHEFIR)

2024 2023
202445 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M =E ARET T ARET T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment #1% - B KRR 15 5,450,960 5,592,815
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 653,044 568,581
Intangible assets EEE 17 3,544,591 3,543,729
Interests in associates A& N B R R = 18 194,623 252 371
Prepayments and other assets FEfT B R HE & E 23,731 14,991
Deferred tax assets RETIEE E 19 458,192 277,940
10,325,141 10,250,427
Current assets REEE
Inventories ey 20 1,443,480 1,736,729
Trade receivables JEWE 5 FIE 21 339,410 369,973
Prepayments, deposits and TERRIE e REM
other receivables & W SR IE 22 1,096,624 1,073,175
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFTAEMER
through other comprehensive Wz 2z & @& &
income 23 6,581 8,314
Amounts due from related L NEIDNE
parties 34(c) 354,166 427,065
Tax recoverable ] [2] Uy 7 18 14,428 55,634
Pledged bank deposits IR 1T 24 4,133 11,275
Cash and cash equivalents BeMRELZFEIER 24 4,014,404 2,293,015
7,273,226 5,975,180
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and bills payables B ZEREERE 25 804,247 774,354
Other payables and accruals H A FE A BROR K FE AT
=R 26 4,827,521 3,528,879
Lease liabilities HEBE 27 39,339 39,768
Contract liabilities AHaRE 28 865,961 1,284,413
Amounts due to related parties /R @B 7 I8 34(c) 331,614 222 252
Income tax payable e ET1B /L 168,278 109,915
7,036,960 5,959,581
Net current assets REEEHATE 236,266 15,599
Total assets less current HEERRBARE
liabilities 10,561,407 10,266,026
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION #47&B17t 22
As at 31 December 2024 722024 12 A31 H
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 7 ARET T ARBT T
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 27 46,246 39,609
Deferred tax liabilities REFRIEA & 19 97,937 127,074
Deferred income PRIE U A 219,008 412,387
363,191 579,070
Net assets EEFE 10,198,216 9,686,956
Capital and reserves BAR#E
Share capital fi&% A< 29 293,201 293,201
Share premium and reserves B8 19 5 (B M ok 1 6,168,777 5,722,231
Equity attributable to owners A QX RIFH AELERS
of the Company 6,461,978 6,015,432
Non-controlling interests JEE R = 3,736,238 3,671,524
Total equity ERAE 10,198,216 9,686,956

The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 207 were ~ W2025F3A25H AN A& =& #L A K
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of ~ XEZEITESIR EH207H AR & M 7% 3,
the Company on 25 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf R OWAHNUATATREESE

by:

Zhan Zaizhong Shen Xinwen
RES Mo E X
Director Director

EF EZE

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these BEMT HO P 5T R A SRS I S R AR EE D o
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEaBEEBR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 12 A 31 B IFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAREFIR)

Attributable to owners of the Company

AEERBARL
Asset Non-
Issued Share Capital  Reserve revaluation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve funds reserve profits Total interests equity
BRf BEE( F2R
kx  BRHEE E4RE  E4ARE fifF  REER ) BE BRAE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARBTT ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1R 293,201 3080 736877 24,622 3204 4431492 5520216 33419% 8862212
Profit and total comprehensive income £ REFIR 2 EUZAE
for the year - - - - - 8RBT 8RLIT 552985 1,385,562
Dividends recognised as distributions ~ 2EZAAENKE (Ki13)
(note 13) = = = - - (337361) (337,361) - (337,361)
Dividends paid to non-controlling EATHERERNRE
interests - - - - - - - (223457)  (223457)
At 31 December 2023 R2023512A318 &
and 1 January 2024 2024£151A 293,201 30,820 736,877 24,622 3,204 4,926,708 6,015,432 3,671,524 9,686,956
Profit and total comprehensive EMEFIREENELE
income for the year - - - - - 860,535 860,535 562,042 1,422,577
Dividends recognised as distributions ~ EEZAARAKE (H13)
(note 13) - - = = - (413,989) (413,989) - (413,989)
Dividends paid to non-controlling ERTHEREENRE
interests - - - - - - - (497,328) (497,328)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12A31A 293,201 30,820 736,877 24,622 3,204 5,373,254 6,461,978 3,736,238 10,198,216
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these  BEMIHIMIEERALRA MBHREMMERIH o

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &{Z 20244 12 A31 HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AAREEFIR)

2024 2023
2024% 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 7 ARET T ARBT T
Operating activities RESEE
Profit before tax: B AE F 1,866,404 1,843,990
Adjustments for: BIATHEB EXAE
Depreciation of property, ME - BENMKRETE
plant and equipment 10 769,131 756,615
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEERE
assets 10 69,962 78,873
Amortisation of intangible B B
assets 10 17,442 14,276
Impairment loss recognised on  FL¥1% - BE K& B g
property, plant and REVREEE
equipment 7 162 -
Losses on disposal of property, HEWE - ME &R #E
plant and equipment 518 7 10,916 6,927
Gains on disposal of BEERBE T ZIRE
investments in associates U z= 7 - (91,606)
Net impairment losses on SRIEERBEEEFHE
financial assets 10 8,070 22,938
Reversal of write-down of 15 & s 2 2]
inventories 10 (11,910) (25,757)
Share of results of associates  JE{GEEE A R4 (5,252) -
Interest income A B M A 7 (35,071) (24,085)
Finance costs Bh & B AR 8 4,747 4,971
Amortisation of deferred income E2%& & A8 B8 2 BT 8 B
in connection with assets I TE N 5
related government grants (6,713) (6,965)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= A E
LrEaHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETF T
Operating cash flows before EEESBHANKE
movements in working ReRE
capital 2,687,888 2,580,177
Decrease in trade receivables  EUWE 5 FIE R 27,957 13,447
Decrease in inventories FEmL 305,159 191,885
Increase in prepayments, FENFRIE - ZehEM
deposits and other JE Uk SRIE I N
receivables (28,913) (75,389)
Decrease in amount due from  Fx &% A &) R K0
the ultimate holding company - 10
Decrease in amounts due from & —#2 & T~ A &R &
entities under common VR
control 29,028 551
Decrease in amounts due from  Ff B A &1 &9 FE42 B #E 25
non-controlling interests of R R A
subsidiaries 31,947 14,828
Decrease/(increase) in amounts B2 R R R FUR LD
due from associates (38 hn) 11,924 (94,479)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged THEIRRITIETOR LD,
bank deposits (#n) 7,142 (8,359)
Decrease/(increase) in financial & A FEAEME
assets at fair value through kw2 emEER
other comprehensive income A/ (#n) 1,733 (3,105)
Increase in amounts due to KA —+E 5~ A R FRIE
entities under common 30
control 3,049 48,334
Increase in amounts due to R B A BB FE 5 R 4
non-controlling interests of % FRIEIE N
subsidiaries 106,313 19,390
Decrease in amounts due to R R R IR D
associates - (284,711)
Increase in trade and bills BRNESERREEE
payables 30 29,893 13,999
Increase/(decrease) in other o th B {5 508 K FE AT
payables and accruals aEEm Ofd) 704,208 (132,778)
(Decrease)/increase in contract A4 & & Gl ), 10
liabilities (418,452) 297,400
(Decrease)/increase in deferred #EIEH A GRi ), /10
income (93,333) 186,667
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #x& % iE %
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 A31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

2024 2023
2024% 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 7 ARETx ARBT T
Cash generated from REXKMEBES
operations 3,405,543 2,767,867
Interest paid EH B (4,747) (4,971)
Income taxes paid BT TR TR (553,647) (333,209)
Net cash from operating RETBHEBHEESTE
activities 2,847,149 2,429,687
Investing activities REES
Net cash inflow on acquisition WEHEA A 2R &
of subsidiaries A HEE 33 = 51,064
Payments for property, plant TAME - BE KRG
and equipment B (712,424) (627,469)
Payments for right-of-use assets Xz H{# BEE &E (50,143) -
Payments for intangible assets XXM EREE (12,067) (20,240)
Proceeds from disposal HEME  BEMEE
of property, plant and Fr{S 3k 18
equipment 5,730 8,129
Deposits received from BT HREMGES
relocation of factory 110,000 -
Dividends received from B EEE QAR E
associates 18 63,000 -
Interest received 2 U F & 35,071 24,085
Net cash used in investing REZBFMARSTE
activities (560,833) (564,431)
Financing activities =)
Principal elements of lease HENFMEZIRE
payments 30(a) (60,737) (61,111)
Dividends paid EERE S (413,989) (337,361)
Dividends paid to non- BT B A B FEE AR
controlling shareholders of &% A 8
subsidiaries (90,201) (211,177)
Net cash used in financing METEBMARSFE
activities (564,927) (609,649)
Net increase in cash and cash BHE&RBEEEEHER
equivalents ¥ N &8 1,721,389 1,255,607
Cash and cash equivalents at RFEHPIZRE NS
the beginning of the year £EIEH 2,293,015 1,037,408
Cash and cash equivalents at RERZBEERESL
the end of the year Z£EHEE 24 4,014,404 2,293,015

B OB RE R ANAR B M SRR AU AR BB D ©

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B WRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 12 A 31 B IFFE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Foods Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office
of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company is a subsidiary of China Foods (Holdings)
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. In the opinion of the directors of the Company
(the “Directors”), the ultimate holding company is COFCO
Corporation, which is a state-owned enterprise registered
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were involved in
processing, bottling and distribution of sparkling beverage
products and still beverage products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the Company’s
functional currency.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

2.1 Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year
In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 and ~ Supplier Finance Arrangements

HKFRS 7

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAREFIR)

QXA EHR

PREAREMAERAR ([AAA] &
—XRBRESMKINERE
FRAEl - ARB 2EFMPEEMR
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda °

AABTEREEB RS MK
YR BERM (ER) ARAFN
MELR AAREE(EF])R
B REBEBRABTABRBPEARK
ME ([FE])EMBELEFTR
SEBRRIQA -

RAFEE » NAEREKEBQE (5
WIAEED2EMNT - £H %D H
FUKRBERARTERKBER °

HAMBRRAARE TARE])
SR AREMABARRMIEE

2.1 RAFERFERZER
BB EETER

RAEE RNEBCDHXER
ERGHMAE (BB SA
NE ) IR AL 20245
1A1BAKR 2z FEHME S £
MZATEBHERESTE
B ((BETA) » AR BUG A BT 7
HEK o

BEMBREED EXEHENEESR
F16% (BFIA) &

BEGER MBABIBARY
FIR(BETX)  RERDUARE
BRBENR (—
TRF)NE

e
BRI ER  MEZROERY

FUR(BETX)  8E
BAGTERSET HERRAZH

FREBHBER

EERETHR (&

A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAABR®5IR)

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

2.1 Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards

that are mandatorily effective for the current
year (continued)
The application of the amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards

that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification

and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture!

Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards —
Volume 113

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026.

= Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2027.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting

Standards in issue but not yet effective
(continued)
Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards mentioned below, the
Directors anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements” (“HKFRS 18”)

HKFRS 18 sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements and
will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements” (“HKAS 1”) and this new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward
many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit
or loss; provide disclosures on management-
defined performance measures in the notes to
the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed
in the financial statements. In addition, some
HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS
8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors” and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows”
and HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share” are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027, with early application permitted.
The application of the new standard is expected
to affect the presentation of the statement of profit
or loss and disclosures in the future financial
statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

H
£

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 5T 45 45 5] & % B
SEr Rl ()

2.2 SHEMEE RE R ZHET

REEIERUBEES
st R (&)

Bk T XX Pt #ra] RGIERT B
MBHRESFTEASIN  EFTE
HAME A P H A3 AT R IEET
AV B RE G EAR A A
ROBRIEEEREVHRE
EREATE -

BB EER E18SE [H
BHEEXNZEIRKE] ([EE
K& EREI8H )
RV BREEAE18HRE T
MBRRZEZINEBBRE -
I #KEAK & B & A ELR
(B HREN2I]([FEER
FRIFLIFR]) - LA E B
MRS ER G ER # AT
BTEERENFIENS
HERE - BEIATHHRE -
BEBEDERP2IEEER R
FRER NG EM B RERME
THREEEERAETNRAN
B ARKEM B RERAEE
BERWBF OB i &
BEFENFIRFORED
BERB G EAFESR G
BE S EFE2EREH]
K BB WmEERIETH -
FREEERIRERE
RIRBAGHEEIBR=
B & F | IrE B AERT o

8 B % e A B S 185 Ko B
BN ZEFTARR =T
F-A-BHZBRABZIFE
HRAER YA REEM - - &
MR EAGZERKY
BHRENERREIRKE -
AEERLFEETBYHERS
HHF1SR B AR B LR A T
WAMARTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if
such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period.

3.2 Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls

an investee if facts and circumstances indicate

that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

N
A
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ERETHERFE(

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein, which represent present ownership interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 i 2k Z< 1 it
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at
cost less impairment losses. Cost includes direct
attributable cost of investment. Impairment testing
of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared
or if the carrying amount of the investment in the
separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of
the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised.
A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards).
The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Business combination
A business is an integrated set of activities and
assets which includes an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The acquired processes
are considered substantive if they are critical to
the ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the
ability to continue producing outputs and are
considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced
without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability
to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and
a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) except for
transactions and events within the scope of HKAS
37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets” or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 “Levies”, in which
the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the
liabilities it has assumed in a business combination.
Contingent assets are not recognised.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3 HMENBHRREREER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EXRSHEHEER (&)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EASFHERELR (FA)
(continued)

Business combination (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

REEG(E)

RUEE BB - BT IRBE AT 3R B
ENAAEREREAFERE
@ HENSI B IBERSD

112

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets e EBEMBEEHER K

or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”
(“HKAS 12”) and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits”
respectively; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured
at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16 “Leases”
(“HKFRS 16")) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date except for
lease for which the lease term ends within 12
months of the acquisition date. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the
same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market
terms.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3 &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

4B
A
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ERETHERFE(

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Business combination (continued)
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after
re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value.

When a business combination is achieved in
stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the
acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS
9 would be accounted for on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had disposed directly
of the previously held equity interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Gooawill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting
policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units (or group of cash-generating units) that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit (or group of cash-generating units).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or
any of the cash-generating unit within the group
of cash-generating units, the attributable amount
of goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the cash-generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit)
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting.
The financial statements of associates used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Investments in associates (continued)
The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of interests in the associate that are not related to
the Group.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception of the contract. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components, including contract
for acquisition of ownership interests of a property
which includes both leasehold land and non-lease
building components, unless such allocation cannot
be made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from lease

component and are accounted for by applying other
applicable standards.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as expense on
a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3 HMENBHRREREER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EXRSHEHEER (&)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 EXBHEEFER (H)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

120

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

° a lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3 ,.f\é,ﬁz]'% ﬁfiﬁ ﬁz@%iit—&
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EXRSHEHEER (&)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EASFHERELR (FA)

(continued)

Leases (continued) HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (continued) KEFEZAFANA ()

Lease modifications HEBK

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a fis IR AT IE R+ RIS B &

separate lease if: HEEHRIEREBHEE AR

e the modification increases the scope of the o BHBBEIILT — @K
lease by adding the right to use one or more ZEEEEENFRE
underlying assets; and RIEAHESHE &

e  the consideration for the leases increases by e HEREHEmMMSER
an amount commensurate with the stand- & E KB HELERS
alone price for the increase in scope and T WHZB L ERE
any appropriate adjustments to that stand- HEE#HENREEE
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the ABRRIBMR °

particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for HRTMEAEBHEARNE
as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the B AEBREEREMR
lease liability, less any lease incentives receivable, EMHEE  REREMB DY
based on the lease term of the modified lease by LAS T AL IR R BL IR & RT M
discounting the revised lease payments using a ENR - EFGFEHEARE -
revised discount rate at the effective date of the I Rk 2 A ) FE AR A SR -
modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
goods or services.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount
of consideration is due) from the customer.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration,
such as volume related discount, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it
will be entitled using either (a) the expected value
method or (b) the most likely amount, depending
on which method better predicts the amount of
consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent
that it is highly probable that such an inclusion will
not result in a significant revenue reversal in the
future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate of
variable consideration is constrained) to represent
faithfully the circumstances present at the end of the
reporting period and the changes in circumstances
during the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Consideration payable to a customer
Consideration payable to a customer includes sales
rebate that the Group pays, or expects to pay, to
the customer which will be settled by transfers of
goods or services or cash payment to the customer.
Consideration payable to a customer also includes
credit or other items that can be applied against
amounts owed to the Group. The Group accounts for
consideration payable to a customer as a reduction
of the transaction price and, therefore, of revenue
as the consideration is not in exchange for distinct
goods or services that the customer transfers to
the Group. The Group recognises such reduction
of revenue when (or as) the later of either of the
following events occurs: (a) the Group recognises
revenue for the transfer of the related goods or
services to the customer; and (b) the Group pays or
promises to pay the consideration.

Interest income

Interest income is presented as other income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for
cash management purposes.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and
rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable.
Government grants relating to compensation of
expenses are deducted from the related expenses,
other government grants are presented under “other
income”.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3 HMENBHRREREER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EXRSHEHEER (&)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 ERBFHKRER (#)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

128

(continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operates in Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute 5% of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contribution are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present
value of the estimated future cash outflows expected
to be made by the Group in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Any
changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting
from service cost, interest and remeasurements are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
another HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in
the cost of an asset.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3 &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

A
A
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ERETHERFE(

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit
and at the time of the transaction does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 i 2k Z< 1 it
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets
or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Taxation (continued)
For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred
tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current
and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than assets under construction or installation
as described below). Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Assets under construction or installation for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable
to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use. Sale proceeds of items that
are produced while bringing an item of property,
plant and equipment to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management (such as
samples produced when testing whether the asset
is functioning properly), and the related costs of
producing those items are recognised in the profit
or loss. The cost of those items are measured in
accordance with the measurement requirements of
HKAS 2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)
When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration
is allocated between the leasehold land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative
fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as
“right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position. When the consideration cannot
be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets, other than assets under construction
or installation, less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 5 to 30 years
Plant, machinery and 5 to 15 years
equipment

The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method using the straight-line method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and
are initially recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3 HMENBHRRAGEREER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EXRSHEHEER (&)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 ERSHHERELR (&)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
gooawill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be
impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
gooawill (continued)
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of
the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

a. cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting the
definition of cash; and

b. cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments rather than for investment
or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents as defined above. Bank
balances for which use by the Group is subject
to third party contractual restrictions are included
as part of cash unless the restrictions result in a
bank balance no longer meeting the definition of
cash. Contractual restrictions affecting use of bank
balances are disclosed in note 24.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to
make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (when the effect of
the time value of money is material).
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3 &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

N
A
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ERETHERFE(

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS
15”). Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3 HMENBHRREREER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EXRSHEHEER (&)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling
the financial assets; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at fair value through profit or loss, except that at
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for debt instruments
measured subsequently at amortised cost
and at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated
by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset. For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)
(ii)  Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts
for debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI
as a result of interest income calculated using
the effective interest method are recognised
in profit or loss. All other changes in the
carrying amount of these debt instruments
are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated under the reserve.
Impairment allowances are recognised in
profit or loss with corresponding adjustment
to other comprehensive income without
reducing the carrying amounts of these debt
instruments. When these debt instruments are
derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial
assets (including trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, amounts due from related parties,
pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents,
financial assets at FVTOCI) which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3 &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

e B
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL BEASTHEEE(
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXASFHERER (F)
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

EHTH(E)
EHEE (&)
ARBEE LY WwEERE
HETHEFEZEREEN

BE (&)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued) () EERRBEZEMNE)

e  existing or forecast adverse changes o FHEEEEHEBHA
in business, financial or economic BEERE N KR
conditions that are expected to cause a ZEW - MBRK
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability BRI 23R B kTR

to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and (iii) adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for

that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

4 B
A Vil
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL BEAEHHEEE(

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group
uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables on a collective basis
taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward- looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)
Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables
are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward-
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes
into consideration the following characteristics
when formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3 &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

4 B
A Vil
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL BEAEHHEEE(

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)
Except for investments in debt instruments
that are measured at FVTOCI, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of
trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account. For investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI,
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
reserve without reducing the carrying amount
of these debt instruments. Such amount
represents the changes in the reserve in
relation to accumulated loss allowance.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined
in that foreign currency and translated at the spot
rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically
for financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss
in the ‘Other income, gains and losses’ line item
(note 7) as part of the foreign exchange differences,
net.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3 ,.v‘\%,JfLm ﬁflﬁ ﬂ%iﬁ—&
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EXRSHEHEER (&)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 ERBFHKRER (#)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

152

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt
instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and bills
payables, other payables, amounts due to related
parties and accruals and lease liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3 &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

N
A
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ERETFTBERFE(

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when,
the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts; and intends either
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures have been represented
to conform to the current year’s presentation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

104

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT 4 BARSEHHEMMET AR
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION TE 1 1Y BE 8 R

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Judgement in determining whether the intangible assets
are with finite or indefinite useful lives

The Group has franchise rights related to its bottling and
distribution rights in certain regions in Mainland China.
The Group has assigned indefinite useful lives to such
franchise rights after evaluating the terms and conditions
in the bottling agreements, history of renewals and the
strategic and mutual beneficial relationship between the
Group and the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Impairment assessment of gooadwill and indefinite-lived
franchise rights

Determining whether goodwill and indefinite-lived
franchise rights are impaired requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill and indefinite-lived franchise rights have been
allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or fair
value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating units and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value.

The carrying amount of goodwill and indefinite-
lived franchise rights at 31 December 2024 was
RMB3,506,274,000 (2023: RMB3,506,274,000). Further
details are set out in note 17.

4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 i 2k Z< 1 it
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

5 REVENUE 5 WA
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with BEFEHNBADE
customers
2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARBTT
Types of goods (G Sk
Sparkling drinks ya 7K 16,372,978 15,973,126
Juices ot 3,133,670 3,386,144
Water Kem$E 890,668 1,246,932
Others HA 1,094,495 840,234
Total Fe 21,491,811 21,446,436
Timing of revenue recognition TR UL A KY B S
A point in time 18 B i 2h 21,491,811 21,446,436

The Group sells sparkling and still beverage products to
its customers. Revenue is recognised when control of
the goods has been transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered to the customer’s specific location.
Following delivery, the customer has full discretion over
the manner of distribution and price to sell the goods and
has the primary responsibility for selling the goods and
bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to
the goods. Payment in advance or payment on delivery
is typically required from customers, except for certain
customers granted with credit.

All of the Group’s contracts for sale of goods are for
periods of one year or less, as permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

AEEREEPHEAUKRTEA
BB EmM - WARE mIZH#EER
RiER AmXNERPETH
HE - RRXMNE BEFPAZEBNS
REDHETAREmEE  WAE
BERm IBEERARBMER
BRzER BROEREEHNE
TEPI —RERKBNERLE
B -

FIBASBENEMmEERNEE—
FRERBREATK  BEWH R
SEAUBISHEAFRIRES LR
KR 5 ERTAEREE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s revenue and consolidated results are mainly
derived from processing, bottling and distribution of
sparkling and still beverages, which is regarded as a
single operating segment in a manner consistent with the
nature of the products and production process, the types
of customers for their products, the methods used to
distribute their products, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Accordingly, no segment information is
presented.

Geographical information

All revenue of the Group is derived from customers
operating in Mainland China and the Group’s non-current
assets, other than deferred tax assets, are primarily
situated in Mainland China, hence no geographical
information is presented in accordance with HKFRS 8
“Operating Segments”.

Information about major customers

During both years, there was no revenue derived from a
single customer which accounted for 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

7 &b 2 8],

AEBNRARGEERETIERE
NI~ BB HAKESERK
oD RRERE—RENE
ERSFABERMEEREMMT
REEREBINZTLRLY ARS
HERNTAREEREUEE B -
FHit - W25 FEE R

b 35 B

REEZ 2 U ATRR & B A 48
ENEF  UERAKBERELEREA
BEINIERBDEETZMRNTE
M MY ERIEEBEMEREE
A8 L2 DB 25 EEH -

EERFAN
EREEE  BHRKAR—BS 2
WA S R A B 10% S L -

TERBRERAT T 2024

107



153

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

7 OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES,
NET

An analysis of other income, gains and losses, net, is as

Hblg A - hEm R BB F

>~

H Al WA~ st b B 1R % BB 0 AT 40

follows: N
2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET T
Other income: Hapg A -
Government grants (note) RS R B (B &E) 90,640 175,737
Net income of sale of by- HEEIER&ERIER
products and scrap items NS 27,931 16,863
Interest income F B U A 35,071 24,085
Others Hh 31,565 47,673
185,207 264,358
Other gains and losses, net: Hih Wz REEFE
Losses on disposal of property, HEWE - BENREE
plant and equipment B (10,916) (6,927)
Gains on disposal of investments & B B2 A TR E 2 WzE
in associates (note 33) (F$5E33) = 91,606
Impairment loss recognised on B - B RE MR B ER
property, plant and equipment  JH{BEE & (162) -
Donations 18 5 (9,500) (6,000)
Foreign exchange differences, HNEE Z BB F RR
net (1,588) (7,639)
Others Hi (1,126) (6,984)
(23,292) 64,056
161,915 328,414

Note: Various government grants were granted for investments
in certain provinces in Mainland China in which the
Company’s subsidiaries operate. Government grants for
which related expenditure has not yet been undertaken
are included in deferred income (non-current portion)
and other payables and accruals (current portion) in the
consolidated statement of financial position, respectively.
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating
to grants recognised as income.

Mz ARBETEAME TEHKE
MIE QR EXZRBERER
BXAT#E B BT B AR A #O R &
WMXHE DR BIEELRAWBR
RERFHELERA GERB A2
R H AN RIB R ER A E OR
B D) A o I A R ER R
WARFEB A BN ARTE Z K
KB ER -

8 FINANCE COSTS 7l & A
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZFE 4,747 4,971

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

9 MEHXH

2024 2023

2024%F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR AREFT

Current income tax BIEAF 15 %% 653,216 377,206
Deferred tax (credit)/charge EERE (K R), S H (209,389) 81,222
Income tax expense T8 ®Hi sz & 443,827 458,428

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as
the Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from,
Hong Kong.

The provision for PRC current income tax is based on
a statutory income tax rate of 25% of the assessable
income of the Group as determined in accordance with
the relevant income tax rules and regulations of the PRC,
except that certain entities of the Group in the PRC are
taxed at preferential income tax rate of 9% and 15%.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before tax per consolidated statement of profit or loss as
follows:

HRAEBNWALEREBEL
KETF - MW BB BBV IR E &
o

RENHASEHREGEIREASE
RRPBEHBEAEHERRRIE
TE B & SR T B A TE P 15 TR B R 25%
AECEARENE THEEREZ
BEFTF B EI% R 15%H B

FARBEXHAEGEBRGEHRRT
BRI AT @ A S8 — B0 BT PR ¢

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T ARET T
Profit before tax R B B8R A 1,866,404 1,843,990
Tax at the statutory tax rates BEEMRTE 2 FHIE 466,601 460,998
Preferential tax rates on the AETHBAR G2 ER
profits of certain subsidiaries = (8,115) (11,935)
Tax effect of share of net profit — E{REEZ N 7% a Fl 2
of associates Bwe (1,313) -
Tax effect of utilisation of BRI ARERTRER
previously unrecognised IR
temporary differences (15,365) (1,424)
Tax effect of expenses not TAIHHMEBER M E
deductible for tax purpose 6,957 12,020
Utilisation of tax losses SRR ER Z T IE
previously not recognised B8 (5,054) (5,131)
Tax losses not recognised RERHIBEIE 116 3,900
Income tax expense for the year ZAREE TSN X H 443,827 458,428

TERBRERAT T 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7581 7588 Z< 12+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

10 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:

10 FRzH

F A& AT EIERIA T RIRIRES

2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Cost of inventories recognised as R A X K17 &K A
an expense (including reversal (B 1577 SR & @
of write-down of inventories 11,910,000 JT (2023
amounting to HK$11,910,000 F : AR¥25,757,000
(2023: RMB25,757,000) JT)) 13,370,967 13,902,630
Wages, salaries and bonuses T8 HaelEMNE 2,774,066 2,975,345
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1% - lE LRETE
and equipment (note 15) 769,131 756,615
Depreciation of right-of-use FTREEENE
assets (note 16) 69,962 78,873
Amortisation of intangible assets & JiZ & 7 #5 44
(note 17) 17,442 14,276
Auditors’ remuneration % S Bl 357 B 3,850 4,250
Net impairment losses on TREERBERETRE
financial assets 8,070 22,938

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

11 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remunerations for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules

11 EERERTHRAEMS

RIBER EWHRRAEEERAEM
BEZAFEEELRSRITHAE

and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows: BT
(a) Executive Directors (a) B1TESE
Mr. Qing Mr. Shen
Lijun? Xinwen Total
BYEL4E! RHXEE #et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE®TnT AR®BTRT AR®TR
2024 20244
Wages and salaries TERE® 200 600 800
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 1,633 1,256 2,889
Allowances and benefits in 28L& B ¥ Fl 25
kind - 38 38
Employer’s contribution 1B E st RIKB 5T S
to a retirement benefit 2 R
scheme 51 167 218
1,884 2,061 3,945
Mr. Qing Mr. Shen
Lijun? Xinwen Total
BYELEE KX EE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT
2023 2023%
Wages and salaries ITE&ERHS 800 600 1,400
Discretionary bonuses BB IE AL 2,200 1,650 3,850
Allowances and benefits in 3286 & B ¥ F %%
kind - 36 36
Employer’s contribution 1B = st RIKE 5T &
to a retirement benefit 2 R
scheme 270 224 494
3,270 2,510 5,780

The executive director’s emoluments shown above
were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

4 Mr. Qing Lijun resigned as the managing director of
the Company and re-designated from an executive
director to a non-executive director with effect from 6
January 2025. On the same date, Mr. Zhan Zaizhong
has been appointed as an executive director and
chief executive of the Company with effect from 6
January 2025.

tRHTEEHE AREEE
ARABRAREEBAE BN R
BN ZME -

z BEYERERHEIARAES
BEE ROCHRTEEH
ERIFERITESE - 520255F
IAGR AN -RA - RE
hEERZERRARRIT
EE - B20251H6H B 4E
R e

TERBRERAT T 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

11 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11 EERERTRAEMS
EMOLUMENTS (continued) (&)
(b) Non-Executive Directors (b) FHBITEE
Mr. Chen Mr. Cao Mr. Chen
Gang Gaofeng? Zhigang? Total
BREI 4 EEEEE? RER LS wEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT ARETT AR®TT ARETTT
2024 20244 = = = -
2023 20234 = = = =
2 Mr. Cao Gaofeng has been appointed as a non- 2 ERBELEREZERARAR
executive director of the Company with effect from FEHITE S - H20245F4A
26 April 2024. 268 #B AW -
3 Mr. Chen Zhigang resigned as a non-executive 3 PR 75 M 5 A4 B BHE AR R 3E
director of the Company with effect from 26 April WMITE S B2024F4826
2024. HARAERK -

(c)

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

LRFATEZTME AEEE
RARBEEREHRS M A
2B -

Independent Non-executive Directors (c) BuUFHITESE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors RERNEMNBILFRTEEZ
during the year were as follows: Wme W
Mr. Ms.
Li Hung Mr. Leung
Kwan, Mok Wai Ka Lai,
Alfred Bun, Ben Ada Total
THRPEE BEFEELE RREBRL wat
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBTRT ARBTT ARETET
2024 2024% 375 375 375 1,125
2023 20234 370 370 370 1,110

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the year. There was no
compensation for the loss of office as a director in
connection with the management of the affairs of
any member of the Group.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

11 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11 EERERITHRAEMS

EMOLUMENTS (continued) (%)
(c) Independent Non-executive Directors (c) BUKHTES (E)

(continued)

Certain executive directors of the Company are
entitled to bonus payments which are determined in
relation to revenue growth, profit, market share, and

ARARETHRITEEA BRI
TEAL - ZFICAL TR B A IS
£ &8 mshEkEER

quality measures. MBEETE °
12 FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 12 AR FMEE

FR - AEBLER=HFEERRE
—HEZE(2023F : — &) H#l2
B E M FELL - R A (2023
F OR)RSFMZFARAES
XEFRTEREZFEMNSHT

The five highest paid employees of the Group during
the year included one director (2023: one), details of
whose emoluments are set out in note 11. Details of the
emoluments for the year of the remaining four (2023:
four) highest paid employees who are neither a director

nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: (N

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T
Wages and salaries TEEH® 2,720 3,650
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 5,569 7,384
Allowances and benefits in kind 285 R B FE 152 139

Employer’s contribution to a BEREKREFFE 2
retirement benefit scheme R 726 1,072
9,167 12,245

BRTIEEFHEE GFEEZHEEHR
TE)ZMENFTHEE :

The emoluments of the remaining highest paid employees
who are not a director or chief executive fell within the
following bands:

Number of employees

EBEHE
2024 2023
2024% 20234
HKD1,000,001 to 1,000,001 T &
HKD2,500,000 2,500,000 7T 3 =
HKD2,500,001 to 2,500,001/8 &
HKD4,000,000 4,000,0007% 7T 1 3
HKD4,000,001 to 4,000,001/8 70 &
HKD5,500,000 5,500,000/% 7T =
4 4

TERBRERAT T 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

13 DIVIDENDS 13 RE
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBTT
Dividends for ordinary AEEERBDIKBAR
shareholders of the Company AEBRRR KRS
recognised as distribution
during the year:
2023 final — HK15.9 cents 2023F RHEl— R L BAX
(2023: final — HK13.3 cents in 715,91l (20234 :
respect of the year ended 31 ARBE E2022F12A31
December 2022) per ordinary B IEFERARKREBE
share 13.31il) 413,989 337,361

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024
of RMBO0.153 per ordinary share, has been proposed
by the Directors and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting. This
proposed dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable
in these consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

14 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to

RBEMRE EFERZHBRER
HE2024F 12318 1L FE 2 R
REEREBRARK0.153T A
FREERREBFAS LERERY
A o Bk E2024F12A31H [EFEH
RaBRRPABRIOREL T

RIR AR AE

14 SRER

ARBREBABRIEERERANZ

the owners of the Company is based on the following data: FTETIERAT 8 -
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Earnings ZF|
Profit for the year attributable to AR Q G #A AEERFEE
owners of the Company el 860,535 832,577
Number of shares :&vig - Q=]
Number of ordinary shares for M EGRELRRRN 2 X
the purpose of basic earnings BIREE

per share

2,797,223,396

2,797,223,396

Basic earnings per share BRERAF (AR S)

(RMB cents)

30.76

29.76

There is no dilutive instrument held or issued by the
Group, diluted earnings per share is therefore the same as
basic earnings per share for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 1%  BERRE

Assets
Plant, under
machinery construction
and or
Buildings  equipment installation Total
WE - e ERENEE
BF K% PH)EE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBETT ARETT AREBTET

Year ended 5 £20245128

31 December 2023 S1HLEE
Opening net book amount HA %] B )5 %8 1,867,538 3,337,538 29,957 5235033
Acquisition of subsidiaries Y&t B A 7

(note 33) (B$7%33) - 541,535 - 541,535
Additions NE 67,550 460,542 61,696 589,788
Disposals HE (1,034) (14,022) - (15,056)
Transfers (note) a3 (B aE) 5,377 54,255 (61,502) (1,870)
Depreciation charge ESH (124,040)  (632,575) - (756,615)
Closing net book amount B KBR M F 58 1,815,391 3,747,273 30,151 5,592,815
At 31 December 2023 7A2023%12A31H
Cost BN 2,687,749 6,434,448 30,151 9,152,348
Accumulated depreciation Z:tiTE (857,720) (2,659,974) - (3,517,694)
Accumulated impairment  Z:HiEE (14,638) (27,201) - (41,839)
Net book amount AR F R 1,815,391 3,747,273 30,151 5,592,815

PERBAERAT FIR 2024 W66



106

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 i 2k Z< 1 it
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

15 % - BEN&E (&)

Assets

Plant, under

machinery construction

and or
Buildings equipment installation Total

BE - #EE EEIDR#E
BF R&EE FREE BEr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®TR AR®TRT AR%®TrR

Year ended 31 December E Z£2024%F12H31
2024 AIEFE
Opening net book amount Ef ¥ BR M 558 1,815,391 3,747,273 30,151 5,592,815
Additions NE 15,288 527,870 107,163 650,321
Disposals & (2,040) (14,606) - (16,646)
Transfers (note) s (BIaE) - 38,657 (44,894) (6,237)
Depreciation charge WEZH (86,544) (682,587) - (769,131)
Impairment charge A H - (162) - (162)
Closing net book amount B R BR T F 58 1,742,095 3,616,445 92,420 5,450,960
At 31 December 2024 A2024%12H31H

Cost BN 2,700,997 6,986,369 92,420 9,779,786
Accumulated depreciation Z:t#E (944,264) (3,342,561) - (4,286,825)
Accumulated impairment  Z&HEE (14,638) (27,363) - (42,001)
Net book amount BRE F 58 1,742,095 3,616,445 92,420 5,450,960

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2024, assets under
construction of RMB6,237,000 (2023: RMB1,870,000)
have been transferred to intangible assets (note 17).

MisE : B E20245 128318 LEE - &
BEE ARM6,237,0007T (2023
F: AR®1,870,000) B EHE =

BVEE -

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=y

For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of

financial position:

16 EREEE

R BARRARANER SR

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Land use rights b fsE PR A 566,795 464,910
Leased property HEWZE 57,283 62,932
Leased machinery THEBS 28,966 40,739
653,044 568,581

The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows the

MEBRmmKRI TNEBERBENT

following amounts relating to leases: H& 58
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
Depreciation charge of right-of- fEREEEHRES L :
use assets:
Land use rights 4 Ho{F A 16,804 20,769
Leased property HEWZE 44,773 45,534
Leased machinery THE®ES 8,385 12,426
Leased office equipment HERLAER = 144
69,962 78,873
Expense relating to short-term EHEHHEENAX
leases 55,829 69,702
Interest expense on lease HEBBECFBEMX
liabilities 4,747 4971
2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
The additions to right-of-use FA - ABELRAEEER
assets and total cash outflow HER SR LB
for leases during the year are O
summarised as below:
Additions to right-of-use assets REFRELE 154,425 81,740
Acquisition of subsidiaries IR BE KT B 2 7] (M #E33)
(note 33) - 1,467
Total cash outflow for leases HERES AL 171,456 135,784

TERBRERAT T 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 i 2k Z< 1 it
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

For both years, the Group leases various warehouses and
equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 6 months to 10 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract
is enforceable.

The Group has obtained the certificates for all land use
rights with the term of 50 years.

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

l6 EREEE (&)

MEME AKEREEEHEES
EEeERZHE HEAHZEESF
HANEAZEtF HEGRKIR
BRI EEHER YBEEEZHTF
R R AR - REEMRE KT G
TR BEE RO RRE - NEEE
AEMMESE  UBES K8 5
HITHHIR -

AEEERBHELBEREN LT
Mo FRHERE - BHAS0EF -

17 BEREE

Franchise
Goodwill rights Others Total
me YR Hih et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFTTT ARETIT AREFTIT ARETIT
At 1 January 2023 R2023%1A1H
Cost (BN 1,846,799 1,659,475 40,671 3,546,945
Accumulated amortisation 25t 4 - = (15,040) (15,040)
Net book amount BRTH F 5B 1,846,799 1,659,475 25,631 3,531,905
Year ended 31 December #H Z2023%128
2023 31HLLEE
Opening net book amount Ef %) 85 &% 58 1,846,799 1,659,475 25,631 3,531,905
Acquisition of subsidiaries U B M B A Al
(note 33) (B5E33) = - 3,990 3,990
Additions NE - - 20,240 20,240
Transfers (note 15) EH (MsELs) - = 1,870 1,870
Amortisation charge S - - (14,276) (14,276)
Closing net book amount A -k B A B 48 1,846,799 1,659,475 37,455 3,543,729
At 31 December 2023 A2023%12A31H
and 1 January 2024 ’2024%1AH1H
Cost X < 1,846,799 1,659,475 66,772 3,573,046
Accumulated amortisation 25t - = (29,317) (29,317)
Net book amount BREFER 1,846,799 1,659,475 37,455 3,543,729
Year ended 31 December EH,Z2024% 128
2024 31BLLEFE
Opening net book amount HB#) B8R /¥ 58 1,846,799 1,659,475 37,455 3,543,729
Additions NE - - 12,067 12,067
Transfers (note 15) 2 (fI3E15) = = 6,237 6,237
Amortisation charge #IH ST - - (17,442) (17,442)
Closing net book amount B RBR M F 58 1,846,799 1,659,475 38,317 3,544,591
At 31 December 2024 M2024%12H31H
Cost X 7 1,846,799 1,659,475 77,106 3,583,380
Accumulated amortisation 2 &t # £ - - (38,789) (38,789)
Net book amount BREFER 1,846,799 1,659,475 38,317 3,544,591
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The franchise rights related to a number of bottling
agreements with The Coca-Cola Company (TCCC) which
provided the Group with the exclusive rights to prepare,
pack, distribute and sell TCCC branded products in 19
provincial-level administrative regions in which the Group
operates.

The agreements reflect the long and ongoing relationship
between the Group and TCCC.

Given the Group’s strategic relationship with TCCC and
consistent with past experience, no consideration is
payable upon renewal or extension of the agreements.

The amounts of franchise rights represented their fair
value at the respective acquisition dates, which had been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by an
independent qualified professional valuer.

The franchise rights have been assigned indefinite
useful lives as the Group believes those franchise rights
will continue to be renewed at each expiration date,
after evaluating the term and conditions in the bottling
agreements, history of renewals and the strategic and
mutual beneficial relationship between the Group and the
counterparty.

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

17 EREE (&)

FRTAS & R BT O /] 242 B)(TCCC)
MERRRHEAR SAKEIR
HRAKBERLLEMENIIEE &
TRERERG B 2HEEHEE
TCCCam MR E m A BRI ©

& R R AR EEBTCCCZ R H K
FERE-

ENAEEETCCCZ RSB R M Ba
BERLR B NiHEE AT
iR 8 78 SR R(E o

FAgEEneBRREESEAR
BEAMQAFE ZFERERIR
BRERBUEXEEMETHE
P e

AT H Ml e 2 R AR AT RE 8%
WA R A 55 B 813X 5 6 F 2 ) O BB g
EEMER BAKEROHEE
ERSmIEE  TARAKEN
EREFRERBEER S HA
B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 i 2k Z< 1 it
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(a) Impairment testing of goodwill and indefinite-
lived franchise rights
Goodwill and indefinite-lived franchise rights
acquired through business combinations are
allocated to the Beverage CGUs which are monitored
by management at the level of the single operating
segment identified in note 6 for impairment testing.

The following table sets out the key assumptions
as adopted by management in the value-in-use
calculation for determining the recoverable amount

P ﬂ:/ ﬁ F ( i} )

(a)

HERERASGIREZ
B ERRERNR
BREGEHFREZEERE
AEmTREZHIAREED
RESRHBEcELEMN  ZHA
SELEMAEEBRN 6
Pl 2 B — & n el 2 k%
EITRERHEE -

TR EEEREERSE
HEBEMRKRESERERAZE

of the Beverage CGUs: BEEAEEZZEERRK
2024 2023
2024% 20234

Sales revenue (annual growth
rate)

Budgeted gross margins TE ORI ) £ FI &

HERA (FiERX)

1.26%-1.85%
37.86%-38.18%

0.79% - 1.65%
35.41% — 35.47%

Long-term revenue growth rate KHIU A& & =& 0.00% 0.00%
Pre-tax discount rate AT IR & 14.33% 14.28%

The Group has determined the values assigned to
each of the above key assumptions as follows:

AREFET FH&ETBHR
ZEBEHRAT :

Assumption

Approach used to determining values

53

AREEEEZRE

Sales revenue

$HE WA

Budgeted gross margins

FEORI B9 E H =&

Long-term revenue
growth rate

RHKAERX

Pre-tax discount rate

B A 3T

Average annual growth rate over the five-year forecast period;
based on past performance and management’s expectations of
market development.

AFRAMENFOFERR RERBHMSERZAHRMERE -

Based on past performance and management’s expectations for
the future.

ERBERAREREBH AR ZEDS -

This is the weighted average growth rate used to extrapolate cash
flows beyond the budget period.

LTS R LA R E R AINR SR E 2 I F IR = o

Reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments and the
countries in which the Group operates.

RBRBBESBRAREREAERR 25 ERR

The Directors and management have considered and
assessed reasonably possible changes for other key
assumptions and have not identified any instances
that could cause the carrying amount of the
Beverage CGUs to exceed its recoverable amount.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR A A T

MNE R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

18

(b)

assumptions

Impact of possible changes in key

The recoverable amount is significantly above the
carrying amount of the Beverage CGUs. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any
of these assumptions would not result in impairment.

17

BREE (&)

(b) FEBRRNTREEBXE

ARE S EEDRRRER S
EAERMERE  TEER
B RSBROETLEAE
BB E T RS BORE -

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18 REtE AT ER
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETIT
Share of net assets IR FEE 194,623 252,371

The amounts due from associates included in current

assets of RMB125,172,000 (2023: RMB137,096,000),
are unsecured and interest-free. Details are set out in note
34(c).

Details of each of the Group’s associates at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

FEARE B E R

RANCIE /]

A R #125,172,0007T (20234 : A
[ #137,096,0007T ) 3 & 1K 3 & %
B o HBERMFE34C) -

P EVTV P
]ANWT

Country of Proportion of
incorporation/ ownership interest/voting Principal
Name of entity registration rights held by the Group activities
B,/ EEBAENHERE/
EREE HEME X REEZADH TEER
2024 2023
20245 2023F
Coca-Cola Bottlers Coca-Cola Bottlers Hong Kong 21.0% 21.0% Inactive
Manufacturing Holdings Manufacturing Holdings o NER
Limited (“CCBMH”) Limited ([ 7] A A £ 5
HEERR])
CBPC Limited CBPC Limited Hong Kong 33.3% 33.3% Price negotiation
service
G R B
AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7581 7588 Z< 12+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The Group is able to exercise significant influence over
the associates as the boards of these companies comprise
representatives of the Group, who participate in the
decision-making process. Accordingly, they are accounted
for as associates of the Group. All of the above associates
are indirectly held through a 65% owned subsidiary of the

18

REE AT ER ()
MRZERRAZERETAAEE

ZRERSERKS EBE
K ee s E B 2

ZNE S

GIEEDN-Z

At BWEREFEAEB 2B ERQ
CIRNE-EsSuR: 3 PNCIRo):RAN/NG|
FrAGSREH B AR FEERE -

Company.
Summarised financial information and reconciliation to AEBEZHE QAR ZHEERY
their carrying amounts in respect of the Group’s material EREREEHE -
associate:
CCBMH O ABTEEER
2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T ARET T
Current assets MEEE 1,574,668 1,860,437
Non-current assets ERBEE - =
Current liabilities MBAE (673,560) (684,338)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE - =
Net assets REE 901,108 1,176,099
Net assets attributable to owners AR al#EE AR FEE
of the company 901,108 1,176,099
The Group’s share of net assets ASEEfE(E R O ] 445
from CCBMH EEEERFEE 194,623 252,371
Carrying amount of Group’s AEBENRA O] LENE
interests in CCBMH EEERNER
AREE 194,623 252,371
Summarised statement of comprehensive income: EEEEHREBAOT
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
H%2024% B E2023F
12H31H 12A31H
IEEE IEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Revenue WA - 364,608
Profit for the year F Mg A 25,009 4591
Total comprehensive income 2H W =25 25,009 4,591
Dividends received from CCBMH ERE Ug A O a] L&
during the year A E AR AR B 63,000 =
Share of net profit of CCBMH FEMER DA R AEE
2 {5 R 5,252 =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

19 DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the
analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting
purposes:

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

19 IEERE

AREAMBRAREINME - &
TEEREEERABCDWENE -
AT BB 75 5 B 0 SR E IR
BRI DT

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR#T T ARET T

Deferred tax assets EERIBE E 458,192 277,940
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFRIBEE (97,937) (127,074)
360,255 150,866

Pursuant to the EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China or
offshore incorporated enterprises which are regarded as
Chinese Resident Enterprises (the “CREs”). Pursuant to
the approvals received by the Company from the State
Administration of Taxation of the PRC, the Company and
most of its offshore incorporated subsidiaries are regarded
as CREs and relevant enterprise income tax policies shall
be applicable to the Company and these subsidiaries
starting from 1 January 2013. As a result, the Company
and these subsidiaries are therefore no longer liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by their
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of retained earnings generated. No deferred tax has
been recognised for withholding taxes on the unremitted
earnings of the subsidiaries or associates established in
Mainland China at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

BEPRPEMSRE  EFBER
HRK S 2 INE 1 ZE S AE B AN 5 i AR
YHEERGE(RFEERD
¥DRNEHEEESTRRE - B
f& BZEBN10% . TEIFL o iR IE A
NEERBE BRI BRI
PiN/NEST D S BN R = i D VA =)
MBAREREATRHERDE -
K BE2013F1 AR EEA A%
8k Bt - NAQ R Kt FH
BAREEAELERFBE AL
2 [ BB A B E A R IR BB B A 5 K Y
i B 8 TR FL o 7R2024F 12 A31
B WARBANSE TS E A KL
2B AR E AR RENE
FI 78 0 5 7 3R E & 7 IE (20234 -
fm) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

19 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 19 EEBIE (&)
The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) TXHINEBREZELERBEE,
recognised and movements thereon: () RHEE
Net
Impairment impairment Fair value
of property, Provision for losses on Accelerated  adjustments
Unrealised ~ Deferred ~ plant and  impairment Lease financial tax of intangible  Right-of-
Accruals profits ~income equipment of inventories ~liabilities assets  Taxlosses depreciation  assets  use assets Others Total
W% BE AHAE SHEER nEHE EREEL

EifR ARREA EEMA REGEE < RF HRAE EERFE HEER  FE OVESE GRRRE At 4n
RWBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOD RMBOOO RMBOOO RWBOO0 RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMB0D0  RMBOOD  RMB'00
ARETL ARRTR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARRTR ARRTR ARETZ ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETL ARMTR

At 1 January 2023 20231518 421,960 25908 41428 16,09 11,709 12619 4,057 40800 (303724)  (32004)  (12,252) 5582 232,088
(Charged)credited to - 1M (11B)/3TA

profit and loss (56,562) 8,569 (619) = (6,439) 7,225 5200  (18987) (14185 1984 (739) (36)  (81222)
At 31 December 2023 R2023£128318 %

and 1 January 2024 2024%1R1R 365,398 34477 40809 16,095 5210 19,844 9277 21813 (317,909) (30,1100  (19,644) 5546 150,866
Credited/(charged) to - IBEH:HA/(HIB)

profit and loss 173618 38,767 (852)  (1,273)  (2,582) 881 (268)  (9,403) 9,582 847 (2,133) 2,205 209,389

At 31 December 2024 202412318 539016 73244 39957 14822 2,688 20725 9,009 12410 (308327) (29,263) (21,777) 7,751 360,255

20 INVENTORIES 20 78
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREF T
Raw materials FE R 357,793 413,384
Finished goods BURK A 1,085,687 1,323,345
1,443,480 1,736,729
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

21 TRADE RECEIVABLES

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

21 EWE ZXKE

2024 2023

2024%F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Trade receivables JEWE 5 1A 361,976 404,506
Allowance for credit loss = EEERE (22,566) (34,533)
339,410 369,973

The Group gives credit term to key customers, which
granted with credit term ranging from 7 to 90 days upon
delivery. While for other customers, payment in advance
or payment on delivery is normally required. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has credit control commissioners to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. In view of the fact that
the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable
balances.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables,
presented based on the date of the delivery of goods:

AEERTHREFPEEDR 8
HRRERH7TEIOK ° i H R HA
BEF HBTARWREBEINRE
H—ﬂﬁlm AEES Iﬁ’ﬁﬂﬂiﬂ i
HAREERUPRR K = &2
58 %“IHMETH[K?H:E—{E_E
BREEETHERANER -F
RAKESRRKETRETP ZEK
BB BEEARZETREE
WAERE - AEEILEGEERS
mlﬁ,ﬁéﬁ%%ﬁfﬂﬂfﬁﬁuuiﬁ{m
ERER

NTREZXEHBZ5EWE 5K
R RRER DT

2024 2023
2024%F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR% T ARET T

Within 6 months ~EAA 338,566 368,653
6 to 12 months ~E+=@A 844 1,320
339,410 369,973

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 37.

BRAREFEOFBHRHES7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAABR®5IR)

22 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22 A RE ZREeERHEME
RECEIVABLES @
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
Prepayment to suppliers TEAST L B P ZR B 649,446 611,279
VAT recoverable AT Y [B] 3 (E B 82,917 195,909
Prepaid marketing expenses TEfH & SH RS 28,062 18,934
Deposits and others e REAM 343,678 249,627
Allowance for credit loss EEBEBREG (7,479) (2,574)
1,096,624 1,073,175
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 37. BERBEN ENFBHNMEI7 -
23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23 AT EFAHMEZEK

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE BEMEE
INCOME
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Bills receivables FEURE & 6,581 8,314

Considering the bills receivables are held by the Group
for both collection of contractual cash flows and selling
of the related financial assets (via the endorsement of
bills receivables to suppliers as the Group’s settlement of
related payable balances), the Group has designated bills
receivables as financial assets at FVTOCI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

24 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH 24 BEHBITERRBAERR
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS +EEIEH
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREBTT
Cash and bank balances & RIRITAEER 3,224,404 1,503,015
Deposits in COFCO Finance RPREVBEREEAA
Corporation Limited (“COFCO ([FEF®E 2FER
Finance”) (note 34(c)) (Bt 5E34(c)) 790,000 790,000
Pledged bank deposits BIRRITIFR 4,133 11,275
4,018,537 2,304,290
Less: Pledged bank deposits for & : BhFE Z iR 7 4R
bills payable TER (4,133) (11,275)
Cash and cash equivalents Be kRS EEEE 4,014,404 2,293,015
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on BRI IES I RERETE
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged FF KRG 7T a MR A -
bank deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with BITEEB R MBTEREASE
no recent history of default. WiEE DT E BB T VT
All of the above deposits in COFCO Finance are held for U EFRERhBMENEZ AR
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitment and FREHIESAETIEA BBRERERE
have a short maturity of less than three months with a (TE=EAR)  YREARSAE
determinable return when acquired. In the opinion of the FHEOHR -BERA  ZEZNDE
Directors, these deposits in COFCO Finance are readily B FE M) TR S AT s S 6 I8 E A AN & A
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to MESAEEESHRERKRTA -

an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

25 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

25 ENEZRARER

2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Trade payables FERE SRR 802,896 751,893
Bills payable FERTZ & 1,351 22,461
804,247 774,354

The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills ENEBESERREBREZREBHZ

payables, presented based on the delivery date. PRI BRI DATLR R ©

2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBTT
Within 3 months =EAR 774,157 666,019
3 to 12 months —EAE+=MAR 27,096 107,891
Over 1 year BiE— 2,994 444
804,247 774,354

Certain of the Group’s bills payable are secured by
the pledge of the Group’s bank deposits amounting to
RMB4,133,000 (2023: RMB11,275,000).

TEEETENEENESEAAR
#4,133,000,7C (20234 : AR
11,275,0007T) 2 A& BR1TEK T
AR ©

26 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26 HitE A RERETAE
2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Accrued marketing and JERT &S MR A
promotion expenses 1,519,188 1,015,034
Sales rebate SHEHTH 267,311 166,516
Accrued expenses et XX 515,188 360,593
Deposit for fridges K& 588,227 615,524
Accrued payroll st TE 660,595 685,377
Tax element of contract liabilities & #) & &Fi18 112,601 162,144
Payables for purchases of BEWMHE  WERZHENA
property, plant and equipment & E K8 E ZE B
and other long-term assets 18 85,335 50,033
Deposits received for relocation 2 W ILMKBZS
of a factory 110,000 -
Dividends payable to non- FERTFEIE IR IR B
controlling interests 511,980 104,853
Other taxes payable H {th FE B B R 127,812 134,152
Accrued logistics expenses FEEt YRR 65,520 68,960
Others H A 263,764 165,693
4,827,521 3,528,879
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

27 LEASE LIABILITIES 27 HEESE
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET AREBTT
Within one year —F R 39,339 39,768
Within a period of more than one #BiE—FETZHRMWER
year but not more than two B HA [
years 12,744 18,251
Within a period of more than two BEMFETZRAFNA
years but not more than five #Y HA
years 33,502 21,353
Within a period of more than five FF N -
years - 5
85,585 79,377

Less: Amount due for settlement & : BB EE FERH
with 12 months shown under 1218 A E| B8 &9 e 15 3008
current liabilities (39,339) (39,768)

Amount due for settlement after JERBABEIE FNERA12
12 months shown under non- & A 1% FE 5 508

current liabilities 46,246 39,609
28 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 28 EHAE
2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT AR¥BFIT

Sales of beverages 5 & Rt 865,961 1,284,413
As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to M2023F1A1B - 6HEBEBEAAR
RMB987,013,000. #987,013,0007T ©

The followings table shows amount of the revenue TREIEAFEREHEHNBER
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward RZWALEE

contract liabilities:

2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Revenue recognised that was REVFTAEHNEELER
included in the contract < BRERKA
liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year 1,284,413 987,013
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

29 SHARE CAPITAL 29 R
Number of shares Amount
BHEE T 5
HKD’000
FATT
Ordinary shares of FRMAE.10 T2
HKD 0.10 each Tim AR
Authorised EE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 7R2023%F1A1H - 20234
2023, 1 January 2024 and 31 12H31H 2024171
December 2024 H K&2024%12H31H 4,000,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid ERTREHBE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 72023%F1A1H - 20234
2023, 1 January 2024 and 31 12A318 + 2024F1A1
December 2024 H &2024F12H31H 2,797,223,396 279,722
Equivalent to RMB’000 ENARETIT 293,201
30 CASH FLOW INFORMATION 30 ReERrER
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (a) METHELEBEZHER
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TRFINAEEREETBEE
liabilities arising from financing activities, including WEEEY PREESKIER
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising cEY - BEFDEENERE
from financing activities are those for which cash ERSRECHKRKIB LR
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in EFRAEBEZREBESRER
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as FHOEAREETHREREN
cash flows from financing activities. BE -
Lease liabilities
HEBE
RMB’000
ARET T
At 1 January 2023 M2023%F1A1AR 57,709
Interest expense B H 4971
Financing cash flows MERERE (61,111)
Interest payments (presented as FMERNR(ZINAREERETRE)
operating cash flows) (4,971)
New leases entered el HE 81,740
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 33)  Us A& Bt &8 & 7] (Fff 5£33) 1,039
At 31 December 2023 and A2023F12HA31H K
1 January 2024 2024%1A1H 79,377
Interest expense FIE X H 4,747
Financing cash flows MERESRE (60,737)
Interest payments (presented as FENK(ZINALERESRE)
operating cash flows) (4,747)
New leases entered FEIEE 66,945
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12A31H 85,585
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

30 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(b) Non-cash investing activities

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

30 REREH

(b) FREREFTH

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Acquisition of the Five Lz s 45 LA s ) T 3R B
Acquired Subsidiaries AR (EENHFE33)
(as defined in note 33) - 554,179
31 RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 31 ERERE

The Group’s employees in Hong Kong participates in
both a defined contribution scheme which is registered
under the Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance
(the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong
Kong. The assets of the schemes were held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of trustees. Contributions to the MPF Scheme were
in accordance with the statutory limits prescribed by
the MPF Ordinance. Where there were employees who
leave the ORSO Scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions, the contributions payable by the Group
were reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No
forfeited contribution was utilised in this manner during
the years presented. At the end of the reporting periods,
no forfeited contribution, which arose upon employees
leaving the ORSO Scheme were available to reduce the
contributions payable in future years.

The employees of the Group in Mainland China are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of Mainland China. The
Group is required to contribute a specific percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

AEERNEENEEZ2ERERE
EARET B R G 31 M 2 B4 RGE 8
(M8 R AET ERPIET 81 )) RARIR
BB R RTE S FT EROIK LAY
BHMEAESFE ([RHERES
El)  REHEZEENAXR
ABFIZESRHE BAKEZE
ENFEE - BEEABESEIH
IR 58 6 M DT 2 KO RE B
AERBHEL -HEERNEBSE2H
PR AR B SRR R SR BIRT &)
AR E RN EREORRHR s E
BB -MNERFERN LEIAZ
T ABARRUAHER - RIBEHK
I 8 A & B R B3R ARG 81 R )
a8 A& A #0R WA R R HURR
REEH AR

AEERTEABNEE STER
i B 22 1F ) B 5K B B AR AR AR A AT
BB - AEBBERFIHK AL
B TE B 0 L A % R K AR N A 81
WRIA B - A& H HZRIK
BAGE M -BEERELRED

K o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7581 7588 Z< 12+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

32 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

32 EXRAIRE

2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT
Capital expenditure in respect BEFABEYE BEK
of purchase of property, plant HEMEMRHAEER
and equipment and other WARIEAR & B ek -
long-term assets contracted PIRE)E AN
for but not provided in
the consolidated financial
statements 64,735 77,330

33 BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 1 January 2023, the Group completed a restructuring
with CCBMH, an associate, and other shareholders of
CCBMH, in which equity interests in eleven beverage
production and oriental-equipment-manufacture
subsidiaries held by CCBMH were disposed of and
the Group acquired equity interests in five of these
subsidiaries, namely Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing
(Chengdu) Company Limited, Coca-Cola Bottlers
Manufacturing (Changsha) Company Limited, Coca-
Cola Bottlers Manufacturing (Jinan) Company Limited,
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing (Shijiazhuang)
Company Limited and Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing
(Yingkou) Company Limited (collectively named as
the “Five Acquired Subsidiaries”) at a fair value of
RMB554,179,000. The Group was entitled to a cash
payment of RMB124,843,000 from such restructuring,
which was included in amounts due from related parties
as at 31 December 2023 and 2024.

As a result of this restructuring, certain of the
Group’s investments in associates with a fair value of
RMB587,416,000 were derecognised on 1 January 2023
and gains on disposal of investments in associates of
RMB91,606,000 was recorded in profit or loss during the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

33 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Details of the purchase consideration and the net

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

33 ¥XKE806t(E)
WEABRIREN A RRFEE

identifiable assets acquired were as follows: B
As at
1 January 2023
R2023F1A1H
RMB’000
ARETF T
Purchase consideration WEER(E 554,179
Cash and cash equivalents Be kB SEER 51,064
Trade receivables EWE 518 44,883
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIA -~ 12e R HE M EWFRIE
receivables 18,498
Inventories 58 15,155
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) #1% - B & &% & (B 7£15) 541,535
Right-of-use assets (note 16) EAREEE (FIFE16) 1,467
Intangible assets (note 17) EmRAEE (M5E17) 3,990
Deferred tax assets RETRIEE = 2,432
Prepayments and other assets TERFRIB R EME E 67
Trade and bills payables ENE SEFREE (70,375)
Other payables and accruals HEtENZKEBERETAE (46,606)
Current income tax liabilities BNEATIE B (& (1,137)
Lease liabilities HEAE (1,039)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBAG (5,755)
Net identifiable assets acquired BB # R E EFE 554,179
Cash inflow in the acquisition was as follows: WEEZRERASINAT
RMB’000
ARET T
Cash paid in the acquisition WES N RS =
Cash and cash equivalents in the Five ARBEREHRBARIZ2RERREEE
Acquired Subsidiaries T8 B 51,064
Net cash inflow during the year HE2023% 128318 1k
ended 31 December 2023 FERERAFHE 51,064

The fair value of trade receivables was RMB44,883,000.
The gross contractual amount for trade receivables due
was RMB44,883,000, none of which was expected to be
uncollectible.

The revenue and net profit included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss contributed by the Five Acquired
Subsidiaries from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2023 amounted to RMB32,000 and RMB15,290,000,
respectively.

EWESZREBEBZAFEAEARE
44,883,0007T ° Bl B & W B 5 5K 1B
MRE NS5 A ARKAL4883,000
o BTEHABEEAA AUk E o

BRI BN B A R H2023F1 A1
HZE2023512A318 i@zt AR &
BRROKARFEND B SARE
32,0007T & A K #15,290,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Apart from the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had the following material transactions with related
parties during the year:

34 BBARS

BARe M mR A AREZ

R 5 REEHIN

AEBRAEER

HRM T ETZEAR ST

2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Transactions with entities under EER—#ZEH T AR ZX 5 :
common control:
Sales of goods HE R m 1,374 1,194
Purchases of goods BEEM 1,757,820 1,880,691
Rental expenses HeEH 14,274 15,916
Service fee expenses REES 14,635 18,324
Interest income FEWA 11,111 12,466
Transactions with the ultimate B RIERARIZR S ¢
holding company:
Sales of goods SHE o - 28
Transactions with associates: HEENRZR 5
Purchases of goods EEE R - 193,147
Transactions with non-controlling E2Bf B A 7] & E 1t B B
interests in subsidiaries and ZIHERER IR
other related parties:
Purchases of goods BEEM 4,721,983 4,620,119
Service fee expenses RSB 39,223 30,301
These transactions were carried out in accordance with ZERSGDHIRBESL2EFTEHEET

the terms and conditions mutually agreed by the parties
involved.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 BBEA RS (1E)
(continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel (b) XREMFTEEBAEZR
of the Group [y
The remuneration of directors and other members of RAFEE ESERHMETEE
key management during the year was as follows: BABZEHMEINAT
2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET R AREEF T
Short term employee benefits %5 B {E & 18 7 18,257 13,151
Pension scheme contributions iR K&t 2] L7 1,495 1,191
Total compensation paid to key ¥ X ZEIE A 8 2 R
management personnel B 48 58 19,752 14,342
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s EERERTBRAEBMERE
emoluments are included in note 11. — B EEIEE M FELL
(c) Balances with related parties (c) EHBAEE A MYAER
Balances with the associates, entities under common BN E B —1EH AR
control and non-controlling interests in subsidiaries FRWB AR 2 EERER 2
are unsecured, interest-free. EHAEERBLREE -
Details of impairment assessment of amounts due BN B RSO E N E S
from related parties are set out in note 37. B BT FEI7 ©
The balances with related parties was as follows: BREER T MR ¢
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETTT
Cash and cash equivalents FHABEE TR e RE
deposited in related parties: SEMEERE -
Entities under common control Bl — % T A A 790,000 790,000
Amounts due from related parties: Ba5: A 7R3
Associates RN 125,172 137,096
Entities under common control B — % T A7 48,355 77,383
Non-controlling interests in KB AR 2 IR s
subsidiaries 180,639 212,586
354,166 427,065
Amounts due to related parties: /R EgHE N B FUE ¢
Entities under common control Bl — % T A A 204,188 201,139
Non-controlling interests in KB AR 2 IR s
subsidiaries 127,426 21,113
331,614 222,252
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7581 7588 Z< 12+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(d) Transactions and balances with other State-

owned Enterprises

The Group operates in an economic environment
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly
owned or controlled by the PRC government
through its numerous authorities, affiliates or
other organisations (collectively “State-owned
Enterprises”). During the year, the Group entered
into extensive transactions covering, but not limited
to, sales of goods, purchases of raw materials,
property, plant and equipment and other assets,
and receiving of services with certain State-owned
Enterprises, other than COFCO Corporation and its
affiliates, on terms comparable to those with non-
State-owned Enterprises. The Directors consider
that transactions with those State-owned Enterprises
were entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group, and that dealings of the
Group have not been significantly or unduly affected
by the fact that the Group and those State-owned
Enterprises are ultimately controlled or owned by the
PRC government. The Group has also established
pricing policies for products and services, and
such policies do not depend on whether or not the
customers are State-owned Enterprises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #= & 81758 74 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

35 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY

(a)

General information of subsidiaries
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held
by the Company at the end of the reporting period

are set out below:

35 TEEQZIK’AEW%’D\EZ%
B

(@) FHEAR—KREHR

RMERREARAEE REE
FRAEZHMEBRARNFREHI L

S €

Place of Proportion ownership
registration Paid up issued/ interest held by the
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital Company Principal activities
BRfT#E/
WEARER ARREELS A AAAfRRERASL  FEER
2024 2023
2024% 003%
% %
Directly held:
BEHE
COFCO Beverages Limited Samoa usD1 100 100 Investment holding
HERHERAA BED b RERR
China Foods (Investment) Limited Hong Kong HKD1 100 100 Investment holding
HERE (RE)ARAT B 13T REZR
Indirectly held:
BEEE -
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited Hong Kong HKD?2,524,855,402 65 65 Investment holding
hETNAERHARAT £ 2,504,855 402 7T RERR
COFCO Beverages (Hunan) Limited Samoa uso1 65 65 Investment holding
hRRH (i) BRAT BED I RERR
COFCO Beverages (Beijing) Limited Samoa USD6,325,001 65 65 Investment holding
HESH (LR ARAT EED 6,825,001%7 RERR
COFCO Beverages (CCBMH) Limited Samoa uso1 65 65 Investment holding
EET B3 RERR
COFCO Beverages Hunan (HK) Limited Hong Kong HKD62,400,001 65 65 Investment holding
hERHNE (BB BRAT Ei 62,400,001 %7 RERR
COFCO Beverages Beijing (HK) Limited Hong Kong HKD53,235,001 65 65 Investment holding
hRARLR (BB BRAA Ei 53,235,001 %7 RERR
COFCO Beverages Tianjin (Samoa) Limited ~ Samoa HKD13,623,897 65 65 Investment holding
HERHRE(EED)BRAA EED 13623897 RERR
COFCO Beverages Qingdao (HK) Limited Hong Kong HKD82,454,768.01 65 65 Investment holding
hRAHES (FE)ARAT B 82,454,768.01 %7 RARRK
COFCO Beverages (Xinﬂang) Limited Samoa uso1 65 65 Investment holding
hERH (iE) ARAT BED B RAERK
COFCO Beverages (lemng) Limited Hong Kong HKD1 65 65 Investment holding
hERH (iTE) BRAT Bk AT RALRK
COFCO Beverages Tianjin (HK) Limited Hong Kong HKD60,450,001 65 65 Investment holding
hERHAR (BB ARAT &h 60,450,001 %7 RAERK
COFCO Beverages Qingdao (Samoa) Limited ~ Samoa HKD12,000,000 65 65 Investment holding
EED 12,000,000 REZR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

35 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 35 BEEAREIMBATZH
THE COMPANY (continued) 15 ()
(a) General information of subsidiaries (a) MEBAR—RER (&)
(continued)
Place of Proportion ownership
registration Paid up issued/ interest held by the
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital Company Principal activities
B4R/
HEARER AR ALY g AARMEHREEAAL  TEER
2024 2023
2024% 2023%
% %
Indirectly held: (Continued)
BERE : (8)
COFCO Beverages Beijing (Samoa) Limited ~ Samoa HKD100,000 65 65 Investment holding
EED 100,000% 70 REER
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (China) The PRC USD110,000,000 65 65 Investment holding
Investment Ltd*
RETNALRH (FE) REARART  HE 110,000,000% 7T REBK
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Shanxi) The PRC USD10,000,000 48.75* 48.75" Beverage bottling production,
Limited** sale and distribution
mENOALRH (LE) BRAT HE 10,000,000% ¢ FHEMEE HERAH
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Shaanxi) The PRC 1SD20,000,000 65 65 Beverage bottling production,
Limited* sale and distribution
mign DAL (RE) BR AR HE 20,000,000%7 FHENEE HERAH
COFCO Coca-Cola Liaoning (South) Beverages  The PRC RMB72,000,000 39¢ 39* Beverage hottling production,
Limited** sale and distribution
RRAOTERE (M) REERAR" HE AR72,000,0007 FHENEE HERAH
COFCO Coca-Cola Liaoning (North) Beverages  The PRC USD23,500,000 60.94 60.94  Beverage bottling production,
Limited** sale and distribution
REAOTERE (L) REERAR" HE 23,500,000%7 FHENEE HERSH
COFCO Coca-Cola Liaoning (Central) The PRC USD13,000,000 65 65 Beverage bottling production
Beverages Limited*
RENNILEE () RRERAR HE 13,000,000% ¢ RHENEE
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Heilongjiang) ~ The PRC USD44,000,000 65 65 Beverage hottling production,
Limited* sale and distribution
R OTEHH (ZET)ERAT Gl 44,000,000%7 FHENEE HERSH
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Jilin) Limited*  The PRC USD18,000,000 65 65 Beverage bottling production,
sale and distribution
PRI OTLHH (E) ARAT" ol 18,000,000 ¢ RHERAE  HERDH
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Sichuan) The PRC USD17,000,000 58.04 58.04  Beverage bottling production,
Limited** sale and distribution
RETOTLHE (D)) ERAT ol 17,000,000 72 RHENAE  HERDH
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Chongging) The PRC USD72,000,000 65 65 Beverage bottling production,
Limited* sale and distribution
HRIOTLHH (ER)ARAT" Gl 72,000,000% 7T FHENEE HERSH
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

35 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 35 ERAAXLQTMNME AT 2

THE COMPANY (continued) 15 (48)
(a) General information of subsidiaries (a) MBAR—KRER (&)

(continued)

Place of Proportion ownership
registration Paid up issued/ interest held by the
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital Company Principal activities
BRfTAR/
WEARER ARREE Y g ARARMEREEAAL  TEER
2024 2023
2024% 20235
% %
Indirectly held: (Continued)
BEEE  (8)
COFCO Coca-Cola Supply Chain (Tianjin) The PRC RMB10,000,000 63.8 63.8 Wholesale and retail of pre-
Limited** packaged foods, raw
and auxiliary materials,
supply chain information
consultation, management
services and others
EAOTLHEE(KE)BRAR" ol AR10,000,0007 HERZEREERT RH
B REECSHN BB
RERER
Zhongke Enterprise Management (Tianjin) The PRC RMB3,000,000 65 65 Enterprise management service
Limited* and consulting, business
information consulting,
marketing planning, and
computer
RAREER(XE)BRARN Gl AR3,000,0007 CEEERBE AN £BE
Sl EHRE R ER
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Tianjin) The PRC USD15,500,000 42.25! 42.25" Beverage bottling production,
Limited** sale and distribution
REAOTEHR (RE)ARAT Gl 15,500,000% ¢ RHZRAEE HERDH
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Hebei) The PRC RMBA83,000,00 42.25¢ 42.25" Beverage bottling production,
Limited** sale and distribution
BRI OTELE (T3 ARAT Gl AR83,000,007 RHERAEE HERDH
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Inner Mongolia)  The PRC RMB48,000,000 52 52 Beverage bottling production,
Limited** sale and distribution
RRANALHRH (RFE) BRAF ol AR 48,000,000 RHZREE  HERDH
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Shandong) The PRC USD12,500,000 48.75¢ 48.75" Beverage bottling production,
Limited** sale and distribution
REA NALHK (LR) ERAA Gl 12,500,000% ¢ REZHEE  HERD
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Jinan) The PRC USD5,000,000 48.75¢ 48.75" Beverage bottling production,
Limited** sale and distribution
mEAOTEHE (Bm) ARAF Gl 5,000,000% T REZHEE  HERDH
COFCO Coca-Cola Huazhong Beverages The PRC RMB144,400,000 65 65 Beverage bottling production,
Limited* sale and distribution
R OTEERHAERAA! ol ARB144,400,0007 RHZRAEE HERDH
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

35 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 35 B A AT
THE COMPANY (continued) 15 (48)
(@) General information of subsidiaries (a) MIEBAT

(continued)

2

=
s
Bl
_:I#E

n

—REHR (&)

Place of Proportion ownership
registration Paid up issued/ interest held by the
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital Company Principal activities
B4R/
HEARER AR ALY g AARMEHREEAAL  TEER
2024 2023
2024% 2023%
% %
Indirectly held: (Continued)
BERE : (8)
Gansu COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited*  The PRC USD5,000,000 65 65 Beverage hottling production,
sale and distribution
BRI TERNARAT i 5000 000£7% RHEHLE BERAH
Tibet COFCO Coca-Cola Commerce & Trade  The PRC RMB2,000,000 65 65 Beverage sale and distribution
Limited*
AR RN EEERRAT H AR%2,000,0007 RHEERR
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Xinjiang) The PRC RMB60,000,000 52 52 Beverage bottling production,
Limited** sale and distribution
R OTLLH (B BRAR # AR60,000,0007 RHEREE HERDH
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Beijing) The PRC USD19,500,000 48.75* 48.75" Beverage bottling production,
Limited** sale and distribution
R OTELH (R BRAR # 19,500,000% ¢ RUEREE HERDH
COFCO Coca-Cola Huabei Beverages The PRC RMB78,000,000 58.5 58.5  Beverage bottling production
Limited**
mEN OALELHHERAR # AR 78,000,000 RRENLE
Beijing Sheng Xiang Foods Limited** The PRC RMB58,211,932 48.75¢ 48.75 Wholesale of packaged foods
IREARDARAA HE AR 582119327 ERBERR
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Guizhou) The PRC RMB81,120,000 65 65 Beverage hottling production,
Limited* sale and distribution
R NALHRH (BN ERA Gl AR%81,120,0007 FHEMEE HERSH
COFCO Yuehuo (Tianjin) Food Company Ltd.* The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100 Food business, food business
(pre-packaged food sale) and
food internet sales
REHE (RE) RmER AR ol AR10,000,0007 100 100 RAEE ﬁﬁu%“(iﬁ’éfﬁﬁ
£ERR)RERE SRHE
COFCO Zhishang Technology Ltd.* The PRC RMB130,000,000 100 100 Vending machine busmess, food
(2023: RMB50,000,000) business (pre-packaged food)
mEERBRERAR HE AR130,000,0007 BHEEHEE RnlE (H
(2023 : AR™50,000,0007T) EBRLRM)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

General information of subsidiaries

(continued)

35 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

35 B TKEARZH
15 (&)
(a) MEBAR—RESN (&)

Place of Proportion ownership
registration Paid up issued/ interest held by the
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital Company Principal activities
BRfTAR/
WEARER ARREE Y g ARARMEREEAAL  TEER
2024 2023
2024% 20235
% %
Indirectly held: (Continued)
BERE : (8)
COFCO Yuexiang Club (Hainan) Digital The PRC RMB30,000,000 100 100 Food business (bulk food sale),
Technology Ltd.* health food (pre-packaged
food) sale and food internet
sales
el (8m) BPRRERA T HE AR30,000,0007 RREE(HERMEE) &
RROHE(BIRRDR
RO GHAHE
COFCO Zhixiang Enterprise Management The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100 Enterprise management service
Services (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.* and consulting, business
information consulting,
marketing planning, and
computer information system
development, consulting,
promotion and service
HREZAXEERE (K2 ERAT  HH AR10,000,0007 CEREERB AN £BE
SR EBRE HER
ERZRRE &0 AR
RE%
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing (Chengdu) ~ The PRC RMB67,800,000 65 65 Beverage production and
Company Limited* oriental-equipment-
manufacture
ARTEENALE (B ERA HE AR867,800,0007 RHEERRT
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufa unng(Changsha) The PRC RMB66,345,000 65 65 Beverage production and
Company Limited* oriental-equipment-
manufacture
OTEERAEE (RY)BRAR mE AR 66,345,000 RHEERRT
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing (Jinan) The PRC RMB69,976,992 65 65 Beverage production and
Company Limited* oriental-equipment-
manufacture
AR ERRALE () ARAF" ol AR 69,976,992 HREERRT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

35 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 35 BEEAREIMBATZH
THE COMPANY (continued) 15 ()
(a) General information of subsidiaries (a) WBARI—RER (&)
(continued)
Place of Proportion ownership
registration Paid up issued/ interest held by the
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital Company Principal activities
B4R/
HEARER AR ALY g AARMEHREEAAL  TEER
2024 2023
2024% 2023%
% %
Indirectly held: (Continued)
BERE : (8)
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing The PRC RMB183,700,1% 65 65 Beverage production and
(Shijiazhuang) Company Limited* oriental-equipment-
manufacture
ARmgEnELE (RFR) ARAA HE AR183,700,1967 AHAERRT
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing (Yingkou) ~ The PRC RMB150,682,893 65 65 Beverage production and
Company Limited* oriental-equipment-
manufacture
AANERAALE (B0)ARAF mE ARHB150,682,8937 RHEERRT
# These subsidiaries are accounted for as subsidiaries B ZEMB AR ZIERARA
by virtue of the Company’s indirect control over them FrRR65% 2 M B~ Al - B %
through a 65% owned subsidiary, which controls EHBEEEWREAERRARZ
these subsidiaries. WEBAR -
2 Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise * INEBE D
**  Sjno-foreign equity joint ventures o NG EBEREDE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%

For the year ended 3

35 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests
The table below shows details of the non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group that have material

1 December 2024 #Z= 2024 12 A31 HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

BERALEINERRZF
%5 (&)

(b) ERAERFERFERES
ZHREZEMBLR 2FFE
TR AKERBEREK
Bz IR AMB R RS

35

it

il

non-controlling interests:

Place of incorporation
and principal place

Proportion of ownership
interests and voting rights held

Profit allocated to non-

Accumulated non-controlling

Name of subsidiary of business by non-controlling interests controlling interests interests
ARRIREE FERERRENAERERR
WEATAR $huy SEZAAL ARTHEEREE ZEA RitkBRER
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
2024F AR 2024% 023% 2024% 023%
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETT ARETR ARETR
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Hong Kong
Limited (“COFCO Coca-Cola”) 35% 35% 407,464 431209 2,937,435 2,961,180

TEANTLRHARAF BR
(ThETAT%])

Summarised financial information in respect of

ARTIEA QA B AR

COFCO Coca-Cola is set out below: MEHIIAT
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
COFCO Coca-Cola and FRiE A O A £ K B e
subsidiaries AT
Non-current assets EMEEE 9,993,966 10,029,838
Current assets mENEE 7,594,438 6,096,572
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 357,655 575,331
Current liabilities mEAE 7,749,186 6,094,585
Equity attributable to owners of  ZAN‘A R %A A fE(G
the company FE 8,400,556 8,460,515
Non-controlling interests FEVE R = 1,081,007 995,979
Revenue WA 20,678,138 20,785,500
Cost and expenses AR K R (19,354,923) (19,431,698)
Profit and other comprehensive 2N ‘2 &) J& {f & A4
income for the year REMEE K
attributable to the company 1,172,067 1,232,025
Profit and other comprehensive  3F 2 i% 42 25 FE {5 F X
income for the year e M) N2 H b 2 E U
attributable to the non- =
controlling interests 151,148 121,777
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

35 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 35 EEARAHEB AR ZH

THE COMPANY (continued) 15 ()

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries (b) ERAEBERKERESR
that have material non-controlling interests ZHEZTEMBARZHFE
(continued) (&)

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
B ZE2024F H £2023%F
12A31BLLEE 12A31B It E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARET T
Net cash inflow from operating &&EEBELE RS
activities mAHRE 2,762,525 2,066,439
Net cash outflow from investing REEBEL RS
activities 7 O EE (513,449) (500,316)
Net cash outflow from financing REEREE4EZH S
activities i FRE (610,685) (255,403)
Net cash inflow HemAFE 1,638,391 1,310,720

36 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, provide returns for shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets.

The Directors review the capital structure on regular
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the Directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

37 €I A

Categories of financial instruments SRMITAER
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#T T ARET T
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFESFAEMEZEK
mLEREE 6,581 8,314
At amortised costs g 1IN 5,048,312 3,422,595
5,054,893 3,430,909
Financial liabilities EWmasE
At amortised costs 74§85 K A 5,147,959 3,623,189
Financial risk management SEERER

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments including trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, amounts
due from/to related parties, pledged bank deposits, cash
and cash equivalents, financial assets at FVTOCI, trade
and bills payables, other payables and accruals and
lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management of the
Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

A E S B B IR R IR
AEENTZSRITEARRERKE
SHIE e hEMmEWRFKIE  F
BARIRI R ARIHIE K
HIRITFEH  BekRESEEAE -
BEAVFEFAHMEZERZ 22/
BE EBNEFRRENEE  Hith
ENZFEREFEERHEEEE -
FHZEcR LA HFBER SN
R -HZEEMITEEHAZER
BEMS R (B1E T %=k & =
Bk FERBREREBESRAR -
B A a0 fr] R 8E 5% 5 L B 2 BUSR EA)
MT°$EIﬁ@F B REEZ
AR R R B R AT

ﬁ“‘%amo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & 8175 iz i1 i

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)
Market risk

(a)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China
with most of its monetary assets, liabilities
and transactions denominated in RMB. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets (mainly
bank deposits) at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

37 @M I A ()

cREARERE (&)
(a) WEERE

(i)

S EE JE R
AEBTITERNPEAM
e HBABOERE
E RERXZATEN
ARBFE - RBEH
K AEBEUIINEHESR
KEEZREEBE(ZER
RITFER)HIWT :

20245
RMB’000
AR®T R

2024 2023
20234
RMB’000

ARETT

Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”)
United States Dollars (“USD”)

B (ET])

= e,

13,274

8,404 30,506

12,810

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk
by performing regular reviews of the Group’s
net foreign exchange exposures and may
enter into currency forward contracts, when
necessary, to manage its foreign exchange
exposure.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% (2023: 5%) increase and
decrease in RMB against the relevant foreign
currencies. 5% (2023: 5%) is the sensitivity
rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% (2023: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates. A negative number below
indicates a decrease in post-tax profit and
other equity where RMB strengthen 5% (2023:
5%) against the relevant currency. For a 5%
(2023: 5%) weakening of RMB against the
relevant currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the profit and other
comprehensive income and the amounts below
would be positive.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(a)

(1)

(ir)

37 @M I A ()

TREARERE (&)
(a) WHEE (&)

Foreign exchange risk (continued) (i)  SERKR (E)
2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
RMB (as functional currency of AR (EAZBEEE
the respective group entities)  EEIHEEEH) KB T
against HKD (315) (1,144)
RMB (as functional currency of AR ((FASB£EE
the respective group entities)  BEIHREEHE) K =TT
against USD (498) (480)
In management’s opinion, the sensitivity FEERE BARERHN
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent R b R R EFE
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure R - BUXE DT
does not reflect the exposure during the R & E B HYINE [ R o
relevant years.
Interest rate risk (i) FI =&
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate & E | Fg R E TR =X
risk in relation to fixed-rate lease liabilities. The HERBBHBEZATE
Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate A = @ e o N E IR E ER
risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances. HA A] B FI K R 1T 4 #2 4R
The Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly FzBEEeREFERAR
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest AEEBERSREFER
rates on bank balances. The Group manages BEZEHPRIRITE S
its interest rate exposures by assessing the FI L B o A& B E R F
potential impact arising from any interest rate =K 4 % B = 8B RT
movements based on interest rate level and FIEEBEENE
outlook. FETHEHMNERR -
Total interest income from financial assets that REEKATEZESR
are measured at amortised cost is as follows: EEMBE WA B
LU
2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREETF T
Financial assets at amortised 3% #55k A 51| BR 89 & 7t
cost BE 35,071 24,085

No sensitivity analysis is presented as the
management considers that the exposure
of cash flow interest rate risk arising from
variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

HREEERSELR
A& KR IT AR IR
TRMENXE R NE
K- Bk I & 2 51 Uk
DT o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group.
The Group’s credit risk exposures are attributable
to trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amounts due from related parties, financial assets at
FVTOCI, pledged bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalents. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets under ECL model. Information about
the Group’s credit risk management, maximum
credit risk exposures and the related impairment
assessment, if applicable, are summarised as below:

Trade receivables

Before accepting any new customer, the Group
uses an internal credit scoring system to assess the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to
customers are reviewed regularly. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this
regard, the management considers that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits and credit approvals.

In addition, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance
at lifetime ECL. Trade receivables are grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics by reference
to the repayment histories for recurring customers
and aging for the new customers. Impairment of
RMB2,606,000 (2023: RMB21,498,000) has been
recognised for the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Pledged bank deposits/cash and cash equivalents

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits/cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties
are reputable banks or financial institutions, the
management does not expect any losses from
underperforming by these counterparties. Based on
that, the management assesses the 12m ECL for
pledged bank deposits/cash and cash equivalents to
be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance is
recognised.

Amounts due from related parties

For amounts due from related parties, the
management makes periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability based on historical settlement
records, past experience as well as quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information. The
management believes that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL. For the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, the Group assessed
the ECL for amounts due from related parties are
insignificant and therefore no loss allowance is
recognised.

Financial assets at FVTOC/

Credit risk on financial assets at FVTOCI is limited
because the acceptance banks are reputable banks,
the management does not expect any losses from
underperforming by these banks. Based on that, the
management assesses the 12m ECL for financial
assets at FVTOCI to be insignificant and therefore no
loss allowance is recognised.

37 £®IA (&)
SRAREE (M)

(b)

1= B /m R R E R G ()
EBFRITEX R RED
FERH
EERRTER ReELBEL
FERBZEERRAER R
AAHF I REEREFZRT
HEREE EEEY TEY
SELEHF T RAEREME
EEMEE- B BEEF
135%%%“ FR/BE MR
ZEERZI2EAAEHREE
%EITEX B itk 37 oK #E 2R
EIRREE -

B B] R 3
PEWER T RIAMS - B2
Eﬁ%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁﬁ BAEK
B UAREEARZFHERR
EMFTE Rk EMEER  THY
ﬂ%@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁo%ﬁ
BRAE  BYIRERNAK:
”%%MEﬁﬂﬁlﬂﬁﬁﬁ
e mASEREI2EA 785
FEEBEEFREAERE &=
20244 K&2023%12A31H 1t
if 7 5 B 5T (e U R B 5
RIEMNEREEBEELTE
K H b R R E IR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & 8175 iz i1 i

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, the management
makes periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability based on historical settlement
records, past experience as well as quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information. The
management believes that there is no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12 months ECL. For the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, the Group assessed
the ECL for other receivables and an impairment of
RMB5,464,000 (2023: RMB1,440,000) has been
recognised for the year.

The Group’s credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

37 @M I A ()

cHERER ()

(b) (5B /A/EWE
7 RE M IEYW T
?ﬁ?ﬁ@&ﬁtfm&u&* HmE -
EHERBBAILEERE B
% URAEEAEMIEF
MHAIEtEEREEER
TE 2R A] Uk [B) 1 i 17 @ Bl ET
1E°E£¥rgumﬁj g%)];#\ﬁ@
R ZE2BENEER
mEEE ﬁﬁ$%@$ﬁ})€12
8 A e A= BB ET R E &
5 o B 22024%F N2023%F12
A3IBLEEE "EBE R EAM
FEWN BT EEHEEEE -
WERFRNERREARE
5,464,0007C (20234 : AR
1,440,0007T) °

AEBEER
&R

REFRBIERIAT

Category The Group definition of category Basis for recognition of expected
credit loss provision
5l AEBERWESR FHEEEERERIEE
Performing Receivables whose credit risk is in line  12m ECL. Where the expected lifetime
with original expectations. of an asset is less than 12 months,
expected losses are measured at its
expected lifetime (Stage 1)
=R 4F = 5 5B B R 5 T B — B2 FE K 121lﬂ%§ﬁsﬁ1§i‘fﬁ§ﬂ§ o W & B 2 TEHA

Underperforming

when compared to original

expectations; a significant increase

in credit risk is presumed if

repayments are 30 days past due.

Eﬁiﬁf“zi‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁtt E HIREER
bl | ol X
AR foﬂ[ﬁAEE%i*)JD

e NS

Non-performing
(credit-impaired)
enter bankruptcy.
AR(EERE) EFBHORKEF A EHE
Write-off
recovery.

58 EHEEKE
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Receivables for which a significant
increase in credit risk has occurred

;w38 HA30 EI B

Repayments are 90 days past due or
it becomes probable a customer will

There is no reasonable expectation of

HAORI2E A - RIFEEEEERAE
?E/Hﬁi,ﬁfﬁd‘i(%lﬁ%"ﬁﬁ)
Lifetime ECL (Stage 2)

EHEHEEEE (F2ER)

Lifetime ECL (Stage 3)

2HEHEEEE (F3ER)

Asset is written off.



37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE

Financial risk management (continued)

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) (b)

Other receivables (continued)

The table below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets which are subject to

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

37 @M I A ()

TREARERE (&)

EEER R A ETEG (E)

H b W R (&)
TRFLAREEETRYE
EEBEFRZeREEZRE

ECL assessment: e
12m or
Notes lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
REARZH
Ma FEHAGEER BEREE
2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥BTRT AR®TR
Financial assets at RBHERATENE
amortised cost MEE
Trade receivables BB 538 Lifetime ECL (not
21 credit-impaired) 361,976 404,506
2HEHEERBR
(BEERE)
Deposits and other Re REMEYGIE
receivables 22 12m ECL 343,678 249,627
PEAEHREEER
Amounts due from L NSIDE Lifetime ECL (not
related parties 34(c) credit-impaired) 354,166 427,065
2HEHEERR
(BEERE)
Pledged bank deposits/ ~ BHERFTER /HE
cash and cash kHeEEER
equivalents 24 12m ECL 4,018,537 2,304,290
PEAEREEEAE
Financial assets at BRAVEGAHMES
FVTOCI AlEzeREE
Financial assets at BAFEFAEMZ
FVTOCI ARz eREE 23 12m ECL 6,581 8,314

12EABBEEER

TERBRERAT T 2024

207



202

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 i 2k Z< 1 it
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Other receivables (continued)

The loss allowances for trade receivables and other
receivables as at 31 December reconcile to the
opening loss allowances as follows:

37 @®MI A (#)
TR E R EE (R)

(b)

15 B2 B2 ]2 6 (B 7T 1 (48 )

H ot fEY 3 (4E)

FEUR B 5 3} I8 K H A FE W SRR
R12A318 2 BEEHEET Y]
EEEE 2 HWERIT

Trade receivables

Other receivables

Wk E S RE H W IE
2024 2023 2024 2023
20244 20234 20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETT AR®TR ARETR
Opening loss allowance R1IBIAZEAEE
at 1 January B 34,533 14,047 2,574 1,323
Increase in loss allowance ~ FRRBEPERZ
recognised in profit or B8 R 3L N
loss during the year 2,606 21,498 5,464 1,440
Receivables written off FRZEH AR E
during the year as Z W ERIA
uncollectible (14,573) (1,012) (559) (189)
Closing loss allowance R12A31AMERXR
at 31 December EBiEERE 22,566 34,533 7,479 2574
Liquidity risk (c) HEBELEME

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (continued)

37 @M I A ()

TREARERE (&)
(c) wBEzEE (&)

Weighted Total Carrying
average  Less than lto Over undiscounted  amount at
interest rate 1 year 5 years 5years  cash flows 31 December
AEBE  W12R31A
NEYHAE  -FHR -FERER BBREE ¢REHE  2KEM
%  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARETn AR%Tn ARETR
At 31 December 2024 #2024%12A31H

Trade and bills payables EEEFYES - 804,247 - - 804,247 804,247

Financial liabilties included in other & AZ- A A58 R gt
payables and accruals BEZERAR - 3926513 = - 3926513 3,926,513
Amounts due to related parties VN LG4 - 331614 = - 331614 331614
Lease liabilities HERE 4.30 40,013 50,293 - 90,306 85,585
5,102,387 50,293 - 5,152,680 5,147,959
Weighted Total Carrying
average Less than lto Over undiscounted ~ amount at
interest rate 1 year 5 years byears  cashflows 31 December
AERR  R12A31AR
METSNE  —ENR -EERER BBRE  enE8E (BEM
% RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR

At 31 December 2023 #2023%12A31H

Trade and bills payables ENESEIRERE - 774,354 = = 774,354 774,354

Financial liabilities included in other & AZ B A ZUR R B3
payables and accruals gz eRAR - 2,547,206 - - 2547206 2547206
Amounts dug to related parties RBBRLAFE - MR - N v A VYWY,
Lease liabilities HERE 430 41,478 45,123 7 86,608 79,317
3,585,290 45,123 73630420 3623189
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37 2@ T A (&)
Fair value estimation AFEMAE
Financial assets and liabilities THEEREE
(i) Fair value hierarchy (i) RFEER
This section explains the judgements and estimates AEBERETHRAMBERE
made in determining the fair values of the financial FRATEERRTEZSR
instruments that are recognised and measured at TAZRAFERATEDLRNHE
fair value in the consolidated financial statements. Ritst- BRIRMHBEBEEA T
To provide an indication about the reliability of the BFFR@AER 2R S 298
inputs used in determining fair value, the Group ZEAEEEHESRIESD
has classified its financial instruments into the three HASHEANMAEZ=ERE
levels prescribed under the accounting standards. B TRRBEEHR ZFHA -
An explanation of each level follows underneath the
table.
Recurring fair value measurements KEMERAFEFE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
14 2 30 it
At 31 December 2024 R2024512A31R Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

[iE:: AR®TR  AR®TR  AR®TR  ARETR

Financial assets at FVTOC| BATEMAZp2ERR L

SREE 23 - 6,581 - 6,581

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

218 2 34 it

At 31 December 2023 #2023%12A31H Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

it ARETT  ARMTR  ARETn  ARETR

Financial assets at FVTOC| BRATEAZ2EKE

SREE 23 - 8314 - 8314
There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and B £2024F &2023F12A31
3 during the years ended 31 December 2024 and HIEFE $1- 2K3%k2ME
2023. The Group has no financial instruments in WHEEE NEBEWEFIR
level 1 and level 3. MEIMR BT A -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The Group categorised its financial instruments
measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
period by the level in the fair value hierarchy as

(i)

below:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

The fair value of financial instruments
traded in active markets (such as publicly
traded derivatives, and equity securities)
is based on quoted market prices at the
end of the reporting period. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held
by the Group is the current bid price. The
quoted market price already incorporates
the market’s assumptions with respect
to changes in economic climate such
as rising interest rates and inflation, as
well as changes due to ESG risk. These
instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques
which maximise the use of observable
market data and rely as little as possible on
entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included
in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3. This is
the case for unlisted equity securities and
for instruments where ESG risk gives rise
to a significant unobservable adjustment.

37 @M I A ()

DFEMGE (F)
CHEEREE(E)

) RFEERGE)
AEERBERRBZRIFEE
RBEZAFEFENERT

(i)

N FUNNE
FIR: NEBRTHEEZ®

F24%

FE3 -

BTA(WMAWES
ZHTHE T ARBEAE
%) 2 R TFETIRE
WEHRZTIBRE
AE-AEEMAEE
MEEMAZTSR
BRERBEAEB M
WHIGEBREEED
1545 B 4T IR 45

0 ) 0 R
BEEZBE URE
B AL EREAR
THFAZRIR -

WIERRTISEER
Z& @I A (flwms
SMTETR) ZRF
BTy E R ER I E
EARENBAE
EMBEERREED
KB E B E AT -
et E T AR FEM
FLBEERBAR
HARABRER
Al TAFTAE2M -

il —HXZIAE K&
AE R FEAR IR AT B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B iz i+
For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= 20244 12 31 HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

37 @M I A ()

D FEMGE (F)

THEEREE (&)

AL BETE A FAEZ 1GERM
FReMTAZ A FEGNE
REBE) T BB IR A KBS
BUSRMTAAFZRITMS
MEFBRKENRSREM
et - AKREREBEEF2E R
FEIBRTFER Y EKEE
AfEETX

38 A4 A MR R &R

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)
Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(i) Valuation techniques used to determine fair values (i)
The fair value of financial instruments in level 2
(net of provision for impairment) was estimated by
discounting the future contractual cash flows at
the current market interest rate that was available
to the Group for similar financial instruments. The
Group did not change any valuation technigues in
determining the level 2 and level 3 fair values.

38 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETTT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE R 9 1
Right-of-use assets FREEE 919 65
Investments in subsidiaries RINBREI 21K E 1,769,560 1,769,560
1,770,488 1,769,626
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other BAMIE e REM
receivables JIE Uy 3B 17,493 30,670
Amounts due from subsidiaries L EPNGIEA 1,447,061 1,346,612
Cash and cash equivalents BekRE&EEER 10,210 31,900
1,474,764 1,409,182
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals HipfeNE R BT AE 1,444 1,638
Amounts due to subsidiaries (Note) R Bt /B A &l 2 I& (Ft ) 143,089 137,610
Income tax payable FER P38 4,913 13,739
Lease liabilities HEARE 976 =
150,422 152,987
Net current assets REBEETE 1,324,342 1,256,195
Total assets less current liabilities #BEERAEBEE 3,094,830 3,025,821
Non-current liability *RBEE
Lease liabilities HEGRE 65 65
Net assets EEFHE 3,094,765 3,025,756
Capital and reserves BAR #E
Share capital [N 293,201 293,201
Share premium and reserves B0 i (B & 2,801,564 2,732,555
Total equity R 3,094,765 3,025,756
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7481 76887 /1 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 = 2024 12 31 BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

38 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Movement in the Company’s share premium and reserves:

38 AQFMBMRF (F)

ARABRDERREEREHMT -

Share  Contributed Retained
premium surplus profits Total
% 17 3% {8 R BAEH R &R F #at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR AR¥Tn AR%®Tx
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1A1R 30,820 2,294,331 426,089 2,751,240
Profit for the year F W% Fl - - 318,676 318,676
2022 final dividend declared E & k20224 &
[ ¥s) = (337,361) (337,361)
At 31 December 2023 #®2023%12831H
and 1 January 2024 %2024%1A1H 30,820 2,294,331 407,404 2,732,555
Profit for the year F N F) - = 482,998 482,998
2023 final dividend B EIR2023F K £
declared iz 8 - - (413,989) (413,989)
At 31 December 2024 M2024%12A31H 30,820 2,294,331 476,413 2,801,564
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFFEHBEHME

AEEBEREAVRFELRENEE
BEEERESMEDHEEE T #
CRECEAMBHRE  UREIEE
EFNOE ARAATENTX:

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-—
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial
statements and restated and reclassified as appropriate, is set

208

out below:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12R310LLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 2023 20226 20215 20205
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETr ARETRT ARETR ARETRT ARET:
Revenue KA 21,491,811 21,446,436 20,967,837 19,784,422 17,249,138
PROFIT FROM OPERATING BERR
ACTIVITIES 1,865,899 1,848,961 1,588,062 1,397,896 1,242,675
Finance costs BEMK (4,747) (4,971) (3,508) (4,488) (25,059)
Share of results of associates FREREAR EL
AN 5,252 - 29,894 29,447 35,602
Profit before tax R AER 1,866,404 1,843,990 1,614,448 1,422,855 1,253,218
Income tax expense FEHY (443,827) (458,428) (404,022) (348,172) (299,955)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR EREF 1,422,577 1,385,562 1,210,426 1,074,683 953,263
Attributable to R
Owners of the Company KAREAA 860,535 832,577 659,836 572,415 498,734
Non-controlling interests FERER 562,042 552,985 550,590 502,268 454 529
1,422,577 1,385,562 1,210,426 1,074,683 953,263
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON- 2Z - 8ERFERER
CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 17,598,367 16,225,607 15,062,955 15,168,064 15,110,192
TOTAL LIABILITIES Bef (7,400,151) (6,538,651) (6,200,743) (6,778,769) (7,030,972)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS kiR (3,736,238) (3,671,524) (3,341,996) (3,231,864) (3,125,299)
6,461,978 6,015,432 5,520,216 5,157,431 4,953,921
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DIRECTORS

Chairman and Non-Executive Director
Mr. Qing Lijun

Executive Director and Managing Director
Mr. Zhan Zaizhong

Executive Director
Mr. Shen Xinwen

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Cao Gaofeng
Mr. Chen Gang

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred

Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben

Ms. Leung Ka Lai, Ada, sBS

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben
Ms. Leung Ka Lai, Ada, SBS

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred
Ms. Leung Ka Lai, Ada, SBS
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 23 7] & #}

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. Shen Xinwen (Committee Chairman)

Mr. Cao Gaofeng
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhan Zaizhong (Committee Chairman)

Mr. Shen Xinwen

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Law Wing Hee
SOLICITORS

Conyers, Dill & Pearman
AUDITOR

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited
China Construction Bank Corporation
China Merchants Bank Co. Ltd.

CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda
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PRINCIPAL OFFICE IN HONG KONG

33/F., COFCO Tower
262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

TRICOR INVESTOR SERVICES LIMITED
17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.chinafoodsltd.com
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR
% B

ANNOUNCEMENT OF ANNUAL RESULTS
Tuesday, 25 March 2025

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote

at the Annual General Meeting: Thursday, 5 June 2025 to
Wednesday, 11 June 2025 (both days inclusive)

For determining the shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed
final dividend: Thursday, 19 June 2025 to Friday, 20 June 2025
(both days inclusive)

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Wednesday, 11 June 2025
DIVIDENDS

Interim dividend: NIL

Proposed final dividend: RMBO0.153 per share (Payable on or
around Wednesday, 9 July 2025)

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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COFCO

BRZIR BRI
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\v

33rd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

B RS S 7826255 R i@ K E 331

Tel E3F (852) 2833 0388
Fax E (852) 2833 0380

www.chinafoodsitd.com
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